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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ERE®E

Dear Shareholders

| have been serving as the chairman of Frontier Services Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for one
year since December 2018. Given the strategic adjustments and
deployment made by the Group in the past few years, together with
the appropriate guidance from the board of directors (the “Board”)
of the Company during the year, | am pleased to have witnessed
that the team’s effort has achieved positive effects; meanwhile,
more and more projects in the areas along the path of Belt and
Road, especially in areas with relatively higher risks, have some
achievements. | would like to present the Group’s operation in 2019
to the shareholders as below.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Security Segment — In addition to strive to push forward the
establishment of the security services in more countries and regions
in 2019, the Group has also stepped up its business expansion
in the countries where it started to provide services and launched
diversified services with a view to enhance the service quality and
standard continuously. Its efforts have built up both well-established
reputation and brand for the Group, received positive feedbacks
from international investors including Chinese enterprises, and
obtained a number of contracts for security services with different
scales.

In terms of building capacity, the Group has placed great emphasis
on the establishment of security training base and recruitment
channel of international talents, laying a foundation to further
reinforce the Group’s security capacity. Meanwhile, it has continued
the research and development work on the global positioning and
monitoring security system, so as to promote the comprehensive
enhancement on security and defense capabilities, resource
allocation capabilities, as well as emergency command capabilities
through technology, thus ensuring a solid foundation in the area of
security services.

Logistics Segment — After restructuring the logistics business for
approximately half a year, the Group has been actively promoting
the establishment of the five major logistics channels since the
last quarter, which concentrated on the development of logistics
channels from the Democratic Republic of Congo (the “DRC”) (as
the starting point) to the westbound, southbound and eastbound
passages, China-Kazakhstan Energy Channel, China-Pakistan
Economic Corridor, China-Laos-Thailand Infrastructure Corridor and
China-Myanmar Economic Corridor, further enhancing the customer
service quality and becoming the first-choice partner of various key
logistics service customers in major countries.
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Insurance Segment — Based on the strategic needs of the
development, after evaluating the growth potential of several
markets in which the Group’s major business regions are
located, we have selected the DRC as a pilot and applied for the
establishment of a joint venture insurance company with local
partners. In this regard, we have successfully obtained relevant
licenses at the beginning of March 2020. The plan focuses on the
Group’s strategic vision of integrating risk management service
solutions and complements the security services and other business
lines to create integrated service solutions for risk identification,
assessment, prevention, protection, emergency management,
insurance and rescue.

Infrastructure Segment — Leveraging on its localization
advantages in major operating countries, the Group has strived to
obtain large-scale infrastructure and resource projects, promoted
the construction of logistics channels and achieved significant
progress in various projects.

Frontier Strategic Resources Fund — At the end of 2019, the
Group has jointly set up the Frontier Strategic Resources Fund with
CITIC Capital Group for the objectives of investing in the energy
and resources sectors, leveraging the shareholders’ resources of
the Group, overseas network channels and high-end cooperation
resources, conducting risk exploration at early stage and obtaining
resource projects with good potential at low cost. The establishment
of this fund can further diversify the Group’s investment portfolio
and facilitate the development of all business segments.

OPERATION AND MANAGEMENT

During 2019, the Group strengthened its management over the
four major areas, especially that of the principal subsidiaries.
Besides, the Group optimised the management and system in
terms of staff, finance, compliance and technology, further realised
the team’s professionalism, internationalisation, and localisation
and provided full support to the comprehensive implementation of
overseas projects. Based on the strategic needs of restructuring,
the Group specifically conducted impairment tests against certain
non-performing aircrafts and equipment, and set aside provisions
of approximately HK$64,509,000 in total accordingly. Meanwhile,
the bad and doubtful debt provisions against receivables amounted
to approximately HK$14,286,000, which in turn increased the
Group’s total loss for the year. Notwithstanding, as the Group has
further tackled those historical issues and continued to enhance its
strategic deployment and operational management over the past
two years, it is expected to lay down the burden of past in order to
move ahead and strengthen the revenue base by launching relevant
projects in respect to the five major logistics channels in 2020.
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OUTLOOK

Looking forward to 2020, the Group has entered an overall upward
trajectory. With the view to giving full play to its “four-in-one”
advantages, the Group will consolidate its resources in all aspects
and focus its resources and efforts on expanding the development
of five major logistics channels and significant projects, so as to
vigorously promote the Group’s business through professionalism,
internationalisation, and localisation.

A FINAL NOTE:

Over the past year, the Group has achieved remarkable
development and received great recognition from the government,
enterprises and industry in terms of security capabilities. On that
basis, we have also devoted our efforts to develop the insurance,
logistics and infrastructure business, which has demonstrated good
progress. The Group’s unique business model has been giving full
play to its advantages and generating expected returns, which will
definitely maximise shareholders’ values in the future.

Thank you everyone for your unfailing attention, confidence and
support that you have been giving to the Group.

Chang Zhenming

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYS!S
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REVIEW OF RESULTS E 3 q{e1)
Overall Performance BRERR
2019 2018
—E-hF —N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers REREAHZWA 725,920 866,748
Cost of direct materials and job expenses BEEMABRRIEREZ (200,120) (283,938)
Cost of aircraft management services TR 18 AR A K AR (97,689) (128,814)
Data costs HURA A (5,999) (7,028)
Employee benefit expenses EEBAMXZ (240,896) (211,722)
Sub-contracting charges AEEH (268,622) (288,488)
Rental expenses HeBA (17,606) (33,438)
Repair and maintenance costs HIERIREER (17,759) (33,580)
Depreciation and amortisation e R#EH (56,460) (37,310)
Other income and other gains HAapg A R HAb Uz 6,947 8,871
Other operating expenses Hih & EER (118,323) (95,412)
Provision for impairment of other intangibles  H AR EE 2 B EE - (4,087)
Provision for impairment of property, plant WE - WIS REREA R
and equipment and assets held-for-sale BIELEEEZ RERH (64,509) (8,318)
Impairment losses on financial assets BRVEE 2 RERIE (14,286) (2,732)
Operating loss HEEE (369,402) (259,248)
Interest income B ug A 12,045 12,426
Finance costs A A AR (10,360) (13,928)
Share of losses of associates JEIEE & A RIE1E (3,760) (1,517)
Loss before income tax KR PTIS T A ES 18 (371,477) (262,267)
Income tax credit s i e 14,730 5,644
Loss for the year FEEIE (356,747) (256,623)

Frontier Services Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) reported a consolidated
revenue of HK$725,920,000 (2018: HK$866,748,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2019. The Group’s revenue decreased
because of the reduction in revenue from aviation and logistics
businesses. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
reported a loss of HK$356,747,000 (2018: HK$256,623,000). Such
an increase was mainly due to the fact that the Group spent much
more resources and effort in developing its businesses along the
Belt and Road regions including countries like Myanmar, Cambodia,
Laos, Mozambique and the Democratic Republic of Congo (the
“DRC”), which resulted in more employee benefit expenses, rental
expenses and amortisation of right-of-use assets being incurred.
Other than this, the Group set aside impairment provisions against
the Group’s property, plant and equipment of HK$64,509,000
(2018: HK$8,318,000) and some of the Group’s financial assets of
HK$14,286,000 (2018: HK$2,732,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Financial Key Performance Indicators

MBERERIER

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-HLFE

2018
—N\F

Basic loss per share FREREIE (15.13) cents Ll (13.61) centsfll
As at 31 December
R+=-—A=+—H
2019 2018
—E-hE - N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Total assets BEHLE 1,223,423 1,505,983
Shareholders’ funds BREES 718,738 1,064,608
Net asset value per share BREEFE
(excluding non-controlling interests) (TRIEEERER) 31 cents{l 45 cents Al
Cash and bank balances e RIRITHERT 465,529 838,509
Current ratio VLSS 2.84 5.39
Total liabilities-to-total assets ratio REEEELX 0.31 0.21
Price to book ratio mERE 2.28 2.76
The reduction in total assets and cash and bank balances BEEBENERESERBIOTETS AR D

by HK$282,560,000 and HK$372,980,000 was mainly due to 282,560,000?135TI:&372,980,OOO/§75£;<EEE/\\
the net cash used in operating activities of HK$276,731,000 CEEBFTA 2R F58 276,731,000 8 L R B
and the repayment of principal elements of lease liabilities of EHEAGBALEH37,157,0008 7L c £ EF
HK$37,157,000. Additional cash was used in investing activities PRAFEDEREIINES  BEEEME - #
during the year, which included purchases of property, plant and 22 MR 120,329,000 8 T RN A AN B 21 E
equipment of HK$20,329,000 and investments in associates of 46,487,000/ 7T °

HK$46,487,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYS!S
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Revenue from contracts with customers REEBEFESHZWA
2019 2018
=t WY —E-N\E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Aviation and logistics business Mz R W 5% 682,497 843,135
Security, insurance and infrastructure ZIR - R Rk
business BERER 27,463 6,141
Financial market information business ERTISEMES 15,960 17,472
725,920 866,748
The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019 AEEBBEE-Z—NWF+A=1+—HLFE

reduced by 16% because the Group’s revenue from aviation and
logistics business reduced by HK$160,638,000, which mainly due
to the reduction in revenue contributed by (i) Phoenix Aviation
Limited (“PAL”) from HK$77,339,000 in 2018 to HK$37,766,000
in 2019, (ii) Maleth Aero Limited (“Maleth”) from HK$151,834,000
in 2018 to HK$115,375,000 in 2019; and (iii) Frontier Logistics
(Shanghai) Company Limited and Frontier Project Logistics
Limited (“SH Logistics Business”) from HK$189,545,000 in 2018
to HK$124,069,000 in 2019. Keen price competition and our
repositioning in aviation and logistics market as well as internal
restructuring plans carried out in certain of these companies
resulted in the reduction of revenue for 2019.

Revenue from security, insurance and infrastructure business for the
year ended 31 December 2019 reported a marked improvement. It
mainly represented those revenue generated from the provision of
security, insurance and infrastructure related services. During the
year, the Group undertook many more security projects in countries
such as Myanmar, Cambodia and the DRC to multinational and
Chinese entities. At the same time, a small scale infrastructure
project was undertaken by the Group in the DRC.

Transit Freight Forwarding (Pty) Ltd (“TFF”), a South African based
warehouse and logistic company, remained the major contributor of
the Group’s revenue. Its revenue for the year ended 31 December
2019 was HK$353,895,000 (2018: HK$373,745,000), representing a
slight decline of 5% and it still contributed approximately 49% (2018:
43%) of the Group’s revenue. For the year ended 31 December
2019, TFF managed to operate at a breakeven while it was loss-
making in 2018.

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 AR5 &= E AR A 7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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SH Logistics Business recorded a decline in revenue of 35%. During
the year, SH Logistics Business managed to improve its gross
profit margin by focusing on those projects which were in alliance
with the Group’s strategy. Those projects with thin margins were
no longer its targeted customers. Owing to such strategic change
during 2019, its overall revenue decreased. In view of the logistics
businesses between PRC and Africa are becoming more mature,
the revenue of SH Logistics Business is expected to be improved in
the coming year.

Maleth, a Malta based aircraft management services company,
reported a decline in revenue by 24% mainly due to the fact that
the number of aircraft available for Maleth’s management reduced
as a result of the relevant aircraft owned by aircraft owner has to
undergo engine overhaul during 2019 or the aircraft owners’ change
of intention from continuous ownership to sale, which resulted in the
decrease in management fee income and charter income earned by
Maleth during 2019.

PAL, a Kenyan aviation company based in Nairobi, reported a 51%
decline in revenue. During the year ended 31 December 2019, PAL
successfully renewed its air service license for another three years.
Owing to the downward price pressure of the chartered service and
air ambulance service as well as keen competition within the region,
PAL’s overall revenue was affected. In order to cope with the
change in the market condition of the aviation industry in the region,
PAL underwent a restructuring not only in terms of its business
but also in terms of its cost structure and market positioning.
Its business was gradually improved in the last quarter of 2019.
Management of PAL will use their best endeavour to improve the
operating performance of PAL in 2020.

With continuous effort and resources put on developing other
businesses along the Belt and Road regions, the performance of
the Group’s security, insurance and infrastructure business segment
will gradually pick up in 2020, in particular, the security business
segment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYS!S
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Provision for Impairment Loss of Property, Plant and Equipment
and Assets Held-for-Sale

Owing to the non-performance of aviation business segment during
2019, including PAL and Maleth, the Group carried out an annual
impairment test assessment over certain of its non-performing
aircraft. As a result, the Group set aside provision for impairment
loss against a non-performing 737 aircraft of HK$20,094,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2019 because of its continuous
technological issues, which significantly affected its available
flying hours. Such aircraft had undergone a number of repairs
and maintenance in previous years but those issues still occurred.
Therefore, the Group again carried out an annual impairment
test against this aircraft by comparing its carrying value with its
recoverable amount as at 31 December 2019. The recoverable
amount was determined by reference to the best available estimated
selling price of the dismantled part of this aircraft in the market by
taking into account the recent condition of the sellable dismantled
parts.

As of 31 December 2019, the Group has been actively locating
buyers for the helicopters held by the Group. Subsequent to the
date of statement of financial position, the Group entered into a
disposal agreement with an independent third party to dispose of
three helicopters at a net consideration of US$797,000 (equivalent
to HK$6,209,000) (the “Disposal”’). Provision for impairment loss
of HK$38,926,000 was set aside in this respect to write down their
carrying values to their recoverable amount as at 31 December
2019. The recoverable amount of these three helicopters of
HK$6,209,000 was reclassified from non-current assets to assets
held-for-sale as at 31 December 2019. The Disposal was completed
in February 2020.

During the year, the Group carried out another impairment
test against other property, plant and equipment. Provision for
impairment loss of HK$5,489,000 was set aside which related to
those assets held by a non-performing cash-generating unit in
Mozambique.

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 AR5 &= E AR A 7

M¥ BERREUARSELHEEEZRERE

MR ZEEB D B (REREMZE K Maleth) R
ZE-NERBARAMEBRE  AEEHEETT

RR#eE T F R E RS - Bt - REBER
HEZ_ZE—NF+-A=+—HBLEFER 2
SR 737 TR 1 R (B 185 18 5 20,094,000 7
T RARRRESELREMAE  REXE
TEAIRATRR - BRARKNBTZFE LN
THERRS  EZSHBMALE - Bt - &
EEEBLRZRE T FEERAEN T —hF
TZA=FT—BZAKE+5E  BERLETE
ERERE o ATIKEI S 58 TS 2 EZ R 2 I E
BHRTISZ AR A S RESEYE B HER
EE 2 R BEETE o

“E-NAETA=+—RB AEE-HER
E$EI%HEH%%@ IR > R BRI E R
Hig - AEERBIE=FIZHERE 0 A

EZREAE - FREAE797,000ETTHEER
6,209,0008 T)([HEEE ) - WE R IIER

Bl B JE5 18 185 % 38,926,000 8 7T AU EBR M|
BEEEA-Z-AE+-_A=t—HZzaKkE4$
B o % E - LB AIRE S 56,209,000 75
THZE-NWF+ZA=1+—AZ#kERBHEESE
VD HEEREHEEE - HEFHER_TZF
Z AT -

RAFE  REBHHEMPYE - KRR EE
TH—ERERAS  WE LR E SRS
5,489,000 7T - EERBHEHREZL R 2 TR
REeEEBNMBECZSEERR -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR TN

PROSPECTS

In 2020, the Group has entered into another milestone. With the
view to giving full play of its “four-in-one” advantages, the Group will
consolidate its resources in all aspects and focus its resources and
efforts in expanding the development of five major logistics channels
and significant projects, so as to vigorously promote our business
through professionalism, internationalisation and localisation.

Among these key markets of the Group, its businesses in the
DRC, Cambodia, Laos and Myanmar have been fully developed.
In the ensuing year, a number of significant projects are
expected to achieve fruitful results for our principal businesses,
including security, insurance, logistics and infrastructure
segments. In addition, our team has taken advantage of the
compelling opportunities to cultivate its newly-explored markets,
like Bangladesh, and to move forward with their development.
Meanwhile, on the foundation of the principal businesses, various
comprehensive projects in relation to energy, mining and airport
management have been explored, fully reflecting the Group’s
advantages and capabilities in developing overseas business and
integrating resources, thereby laying a solid foundation for the
growth in the Group’s overall revenue.

Upon the rationalisation of principal subsidiaries and associates
of the Group in 2019, we will further integrate and synergise the
business development of different regions/countries in 2020 to
better align the development strategies of the Group, capitalise
the respective competitive strengths, provide superior services
for customers, and ultimately deliver greater returns to the
shareholders.

Besides, the establishment of the Fund (as defined under the
heading “Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets
and Capital Expenditure Commitments”) represents an excellent
opportunity for the Group to promote its diversified development and
makes better use of the advantages from the unique business model
of the Group, maximising its returns with minimum investment.

At the beginning of 2020, we have been exposed to the
tremendous impacts of coronavirus outbreak on the socio-economic
environment. Such stressful environment has presented a daunting
challenge to the Group, as all of its members, from the leaders at
the headquarter to every frontline staff, have to continue their efforts
to find opportunities in such crisis and unleash the potential under
pressure based on the established strategic layout, thereby realising
their commitment to the Board and shareholders. In this regard, the
Group remains optimistic that with the guidance and support from
the Board, our excellent team can meet the challenges, overcome
difficulties and deliver growth amid headwinds by upholding our
uniqgue model and team'’s spirit of struggle.
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EMPLOYEES

The Group has developed its human resources policies and
procedures based on performance and merit. The Group ensures
that the pay level of its employees is competitive and employees
are rewarded on a performance-related basis within the general
framework of the Group’s salary and bonus systems. The Group
provides on-the-job training to its employees in addition to
retirement benefit schemes and medical insurance. Employees are
offered discretionary year-end bonus based on individual merit.

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible directors and
employees of the Group to recognise their contribution to the
success of the Group. The Company has granted 23,448,186 share
options under its share option scheme during the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: 21,397,030).

The Company also operates a share award scheme to recognise the
contributions by certain employees and persons to the Group and to
provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. The Company has
not granted any share under its share award scheme during the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 December
2019 was 625 (2018: 477).

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2019, the Group recorded total assets of
HK$1,223,423,000 (2018: HK$1,505,983,000) which were financed
by liabilities of HK$379,810,000 (2018: HK$314,462,000), non-
controlling interests of HK$124,875,000 (2018: HK$126,913,000)
and shareholders’ equity of HK$718,738,000 (2018:
HK$1,064,608,000). The Group’s net asset value per share
(excluding non-controlling interests) as at 31 December 2019
amounted to HK$0.31 (2018: HK$0.45) per share.
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As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s available cash and bank
balances were HK$465,529,000 (2018: HK$838,509,000) with a total
borrowings of HK$116,176,000 (2018: HK$62,276,000). The Group’s
total borrowings mainly represented lease liabilities for aircraft
amounting to HK$43,847,000 (2018: finance lease for aircraft of
HK$59,195,000), lease liabilities for properties, equipment and
trailers amounting to HK$67,817,000 (2018: finance lease for trailers
of HK$2,643,000), bank loans amounting to HK$4,172,000 (2018:
Nil) and other loans amounting to HK$340,000 (2018: HK$438,000).
As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s borrowings were mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), Renminibi (“RMB”"),
United States dollars (“US$”), South Africa Rand (“ZAR”) and Euro
(“EUR”). Excluding the lease liabilities in relation to property leases,
the repayment terms of the Group’s borrowings are ranging from 1
to 4 years (2018: 1 to 4 years). The Group, therefore, managed to
maintain a surplus net cash and bank position of HK$349,353,000
(2018: HK$776,233,000) (total available cash and bank balances
minus total borrowings).

In May 2018, net proceeds of HK$830,567,000 were raised through
a subscription. The actual use of net proceeds up to 31 December
2019, the expected timeline for utilising the unutilised net proceeds
and the subsequent change in use of proceeds are set out under
the heading “Change in Use of Proceeds from the Subscription”
below.

Treasury Policies

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies and has tight
controls over its cash management. The Group’s cash and bank
balances are held mainly in HK$, RMB, US$ and EUR. Other than
the bank deposits pledged for the Group’s bank borrowings,
surplus cash is generally placed on term deposits depending on the
Group’s funding requirements.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and Related
Hedges

The Group currently operates mainly in Africa, Europe and Mainland
China including Hong Kong.

For operations in Hong Kong, most of the transactions are
denominated in HK$ and US$. The exchange rate of US$ against
HK$ is relatively stable, and the related currency exchange risk is
considered minimal.

For operations in Mainland China, most of the transactions are
denominated in RMB. The conversion of RMB into foreign currencies
is subject to the rules and regulations of the foreign exchange
controls promulgated by the Chinese government. No financial
instrument was used for hedging purposes during the year. The
Group is closely monitoring the currency exchange risk of RMB and
is looking for any opportunities to mitigate the currency exchange
risk of RMB.
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For operations in Africa, most of the transactions are denominated in
US$, Kenyan Shillings (“KES”) and ZAR. The exchange rates of KES
and ZAR against HK$ have decreased by 1% and increased by 3%
respectively during the year ended 31 December 2019. No financial
instrument was used for hedging purposes for the year due to the
prohibitive cost of available hedging opportunities. The Group is
closely monitoring the currency exchange risk of KES and ZAR and
will consider the use of financial instrument for hedging purposes, if
necessary.

For operations in Europe, most of the transactions are denominated
in EUR and US$. The exchange rate of EUR against HK$ has
decreased by 3% during the year ended 31 December 2019. No
financial instrument was used for hedging purposes for the year.
The Group is closely monitoring the currency exchange risk of
EUR and will consider the use of financial instrument for hedging
purposes, if necessary.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associates

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries and associates during the year ended 31 December
2019.

Charges on Assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had bank deposits amounting
to HK$104,936,000 (2018: HK$153,635,000) and certain trade
receivables of HK$36,592,000 (2018: HK$33,921,000) were pledged
to banks as securities for banking facilities. In addition, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company also issued a fixed and
floating debenture on all its assets as securities for a banking
facility limit of US$1,500,000 (equivalent to HK$11,687,000) (2018:
US$3,000,000 (equivalent to HK$23,502,000)).

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets and
Capital Expenditure Commitments

On 3 December 2019, the Group entered into a shareholders’
agreement with Rainbow Sea Limited (“RSL”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of CITIC Capital Holdings Limited in relation to
the establishment of a joint venture company, Frontier Strategic
Resources Holding Ltd. (the “dV Company”). On the same date,
the Group entered into a limited partnership agreement and the
subscription agreement pursuant to which the Group and RSL
shall commit to a contribution of US$25,000,000 each to the
investment fund (the “Fund”) managed by the JV Company and the
JV Company’s subsidiaries. Further details in relation to the Fund
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 3 December
2019. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had capital expenditure
commitment for investment in the Fund of US$25,000,000
(equivalent to HK$194,775,000).
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As at 31 December 2019, the Group also had capital expenditure
commitments for purchase of land-use-rights amounting to
HK$11,163,000 (2018: HK$11,440,000).

Apart from the aforesaid, the Group did not have any concrete
future plans for material investments or capital assets and material
capital expenditure commitments as at 31 December 2019.

However, the Group always seeks for new investment opportunities
in order to broaden the revenue base, improve the Group’'s
profitability and enhance shareholders’ value in long term.

Contingent Liabilities

Save as disclosed under the heading “Charges on Assets”, the
Group does not have material contingent liability as at 31 December
2019.

Subsequent Events

The outbreak of novel coronavirus since January 2020 is affecting
the global usual business environment of the Mainland China and
other locations where the Group has operations such as Malta and
some Southeast Asian countries. If such situation continues in the
long term, the Group’s business operations and financial results are
likely to be affected. Management is of the view that the ultimate
impact to the Group’s businesses due to the virus is uncertain
and beyond prediction as it is highly dependent on the future
development. Management will closely and continuously monitor the
situation and assess the financial impact to the Group.

Except for as disclosed above and elsewhere in the financial
statements, there are no material subsequent events undertaken by
the Company or by the Group after 31 December 2019 and up to
the date of the annual report.

CHANGE IN USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE
SUBSCRIPTION

Reference is made to (i) the circular of the Company dated 2 May
2018 (the “Circular”) in relation to the subscription of shares under
general mandate (the “Subscription”), (ii) the annual report of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 (the “2018
Annual Report”) and (iii) the announcement of the Company for
supplemental information to the 2018 Annual Report dated 23
September 2019 (the “Announcement”). Unless otherwise stated,
capitalised terms used hereinafter shall have the same meanings
as those defined in the Circular, the 2018 Annual Report and the
Announcement.

The net proceeds of approximately HK$830,567,000 were raised
through the Subscription. The actual use of unutilised net proceeds
up to 31 December 2019 is set out below.
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On 24 March 2020, the Board resolved to change the intended
use of net proceeds from the Subscription (the “Change in Use of
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Proceeds”) in the following manner: FrEshEARE]) :
Intended use Actual use
of net of net Unutilised
proceeds proceeds net proceeds Revised
set out up to as at intended use
in the 31 December 31 December of unutilised
Circular 2019 2019 net proceeds
BZ
—EB-NEF R-E-h#F REAE
ZE® +T=ZA=t—-H +ZA=t-—H RIEFE
& e NE e RIEFHE ZREHA A SCH)
BHEZRERR ZERAR e RIEFHE RERRZ
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FHET
Setting up businesses in AR EBRREE
Myanmar, Laos and B
Cambodia 130,000 45,768 84,232 84,232
Setting up businesses in TEEEHTIE K h B3R
Pakistan and Xinjiang, China R %7 120,800 13,009 107,791 7,791
Expansion of businesses in TEIEM B R 575
Africa and Middle East 70,767 70,767 — 100,000
General working capital for the AEBEBRHLEKY
Group’s existing business —REEES 288,000 288,000 — —
Working capital for H— R AR
establishment of new offices MMER EEAS
along Belt and Road regions 41,000 41,000 — —
Repayment of the Group’s EBEAEBER
indebtedness 180,000 180,000 — —
Total MBET 830,567 638,544 192,023 192,023
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REASON FOR CHANGE IN USE OF PROCEEDS

On 24 March 2020, the Board has approved the Change in Use of
Proceeds by allocating the unutilised net proceeds of approximately
HK$100,000,000 from setting up businesses in Pakistan and
Xinjiang, China to expansion of businesses in Africa and Middle
East in respect of provision of security, insurance and infrastructure
related services in view of the marked improvement in revenue
from this segment as set out in sub-section headed “Revenue
from contracts with customers” under “Review of Results” section.
The Board has reviewed the latest business development in both
Pakistan and Xinjiang, China and has concluded that Xinjiang,
China will no longer form part of the primary business focus of the
Group’s latest business plan. The remaining unutilised net proceeds
of HK$7,791,000 for setting up businesses in Pakistan and Xinjiang,
China will be used for supporting the development of logistics
business in relation to the China Pakistan Economic Corridor.

Having considered the impact of the Change in Use of Proceeds
on the Group's businesses, the Board is of the view that the revised
intended use of unutilised net proceeds will meet the Group’s
business and operational needs more effectively in line with the
Group’s latest business development and future planning. The
Board believes that the Change in Use of Proceeds will not have
any material adverse effect on the existing business and operation
of the Group and is in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERHRE

INTRODUCTION

Frontier Services Group Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries as the “Group”) is firmly committed to the overall
standards of corporate governance and has always recognised
the importance of accountability, transparency and protection of
shareholders’ interest in general. The Company has adopted the
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own corporate
governance policy, subject to amendments from time to time.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CG CODE

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board of
Directors (the “Board”) of the Company has reviewed the Group’s
corporate governance practices and is satisfied that the Company
has complied with the code provisions of the CG Code from time to
time.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

At the date of this annual report, the Board of the Company
comprises 10 directors, including 3 non-executive directors (Mr.
Chang Zhenming (Chairman), Mr. Zhang Yichen and Mr. Fei Yiping),
4 executive directors (Mr. Erik D. Prince (Deputy Chairman), Mr.
Ko Chun Shun, Johnson (Deputy Chairman), Mr. Luo Ning (Deputy
Chairman) and Dr. Hua Dongyi (Chief Executive Officer)) and 3
independent non-executive directors (Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry,
Professor Lee Hau Leung and Dr. Harold O. Demuren).

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
separate and are exercised by different individuals. One of the
independent non-executive directors is a professional accountant,
which is in compliance with the requirement of the Listing Rules.
There are also 4 board committees under the Board, which are the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Risk Committee.

The key responsibilities of the Board include, among other things,
formulating the Group’s overall strategies, setting management
targets, regulating and reviewing internal controls, formulating the
Company’s corporate governance policy, supervising management’s
performance while the day-to-day operations and management
of the Group are delegated by the Board to management, and
ensuring adequacy of resources, qualifications, experience and
training programs and budget of the financial staff.
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In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual
general meeting of the Company, one-third of the directors for the
time being or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the independent non-executive directors and the non-
executive directors are appointed for a specific term and are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s
annual general meeting in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws
and the Listing Rules. To determine the non-executive directors’
independence, assessments are carried out upon appointment,
annually and at any other time where the circumstances warrant
reconsideration by the Nomination Committee. The Company has
received from each of the independent non-executive directors an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Board determined that all the independent non-
executive directors meet the requirements for independence as set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Every newly appointed director will be given an induction so as to
ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the Group’s
business and of his/her duties and responsibilities under the Listing
Rules and the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements.
The directors may request the Company to provide independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his/her
duties to the Company. Directors’ training is an ongoing process.
During the year, the Company had provided to the directors regular
updates and presentations on changes and developments to the
Group’s business and to the legislative regulatory environments
in which the Group operates. All directors are also encouraged
to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expense. All
directors are required to provide the Company with their record of
training they received during the year ended 31 December 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board has
reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management. The Board has
also reviewed and ensured compliance of the relevant legal and
regulatory requirements, the code of conducts, the CG Code and
the disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements and ensuring that the financial statements are
prepared as to give a true and fair view and on a going concern
basis in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable
financial reporting standards.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises 3 independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry (Chairman),
Professor Lee Hau Leung and Dr. Harold O. Demuren.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required,
among other things, to oversee the relationship with the independent
auditor, to review the Group’s interim and annual consolidated
financial statements, to monitor compliance with statutory and listing
requirements, to ensure adequacy of resources, qualifications,
experience and training programs and budget of the financial staff,
and to engage independent legal or other advisers if necessary to
perform investigations.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee,
among other matters, reviewed reports from and met with the
independent auditor regarding the audit on annual consolidated
financial statements and discussed the risk management and
internal control of the Group. The Audit Committee also reviewed
the scope, extent and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems. Further information is disclosed in the
section titled “RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL”
below.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 5 directors, namely
Professor Lee Hau Leung (Chairman), Mr. Erik D. Prince, Mr. Ko
Chun Shun, Johnson, Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry, and Dr. Harold O.
Demuren.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been
determined with reference to the CG Code. Under its terms
of reference, the Nomination Committee is responsible for
identifying potential directors and making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors of
the Company. Potential new directors are selected on the basis
of their qualifications, skills and experience which the Nomination
Committee considers will make a positive contribution to the
performance of the Board.

The Nomination Committee is also responsible for the review of the
Board'’s diversity policy, considering factors including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service
of board members, and review the measurable objectives that the
Board has set for implementing the Board’s diversity policy, and
monitor the progress on achieving the measurable objectives.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 5 directors,
namely Professor Lee Hau Leung (Chairman), Mr. Erik D. Prince, Mr.
Ko Chun Shun, Johnson, Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry and Dr. Harold O.
Demuren.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
determined with reference to the CG Code. Under the terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee, the responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee include, inter alia, assisting the Company
in the administration of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policies, making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management, and ensuring that no director
or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the work performed by
the Remuneration Committee includes, inter alia, the review of the
Group’s remuneration policy for its executive directors and senior
management and their levels of remuneration.

Risk Committee

The Risk Committee currently comprises 5 directors, namely Dr. Hua
Dongyi (Chairman), Mr. Erik D. Prince, Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry,
Professor Lee Hau Leung and Dr. Harold O. Demuren.

Under the terms of reference, the Risk Committee is required,
among other things, to assist and advise the Board in fulfilling its
oversight responsibilities with regard to the Group’s risk appetite,
risk principles and other risk-related issues including corporate
actions and sanction risks management, etc., to consider major
investigation findings on risk management matters as delegated by
the Board or on its own initiative and management response to these
findings, to approve the Group’s risk policies and risk tolerances, to
oversee and advise the Board on the current risk exposures of the
Group and advise on the Group’s future risk strategy, to consider
emerging risks relating to the Group’s business and strategies to
ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place to control and
mitigate the risks effectively, to review risk reports and breaches of
risk tolerances and policies, to review and assess the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk control/mitigation tools including, but not limited
to, the enterprise risk management programme, the sanctions risks
management systems, and the Group’s contingency plans, and to
take charge of the internal control measures and to ensure that they
are in place in order to minimise the Group’s exposure to sanction
risks and ensure that the Group has not been involved in any
incidents of non-compliance of sanction laws and regulations.

Discussions of risks during the year are further described on pages
53 to 56 under section headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties”.
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BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Company sets out below the nomination procedures and the
process and criteria contained in the Nomination Policy adopted by
the Board in March 2019.

Nomination Procedures and Process

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate.

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of
the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidates
from members of the Board if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward candidates who are not nominated
by members of the Board.

o For filling a casual vacancy or appointing an additional
member to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.

o For proposing candidates to stand for election at a general
meeting, the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to
the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

o A circular will be sent to the shareholders of the Company
to provide them with the name, brief biography, proposed
remuneration, (where an independent non-executive director
is to be nominated) independency and other information of the
proposing candidate in accordance with the requirements of
the applicable laws, rules and regulations including those of
the Listing Rules.

o A shareholder can serve a written notice to the Company for
the attention of the Company Secretary of his or her intention
to propose a certain person for election as a director.
This written notice, together with (i) the information of the
candidate as required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules and such other information as may be
considered relevant to his or her proposed election; and (ii)
the written consent by that person to the publication of his or
her personal data provided pursuant to (i) immediately above,
by the Company in its corporation communication documents
in compliance with the Listing Rules or as may be required by
the Stock Exchange at the principal place of business in Hong
Kong of the Company for a period of no earlier than the day
after the despatch of the notice of the meeting and ending no
later than 7 days prior to the date of the general meeting.

o The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at
any general meeting.
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Criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee

Business experience: The candidate should have significant
experience from a senior role in an area of business, public
affairs or academia, relevant to the Company. Awareness of
the Group’s focusing industry would be an advantage but not
a requirement in all cases.

Public board experience: The candidate should have
relevant expertise and experience earned as a Board member
of a reputable listed company or from a senior position in his
or her industry, public affairs or academia.

Diversity: The candidate should contribute to the Board
being a diverse body, with diversity reflecting gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, qualifications, skills and length of service. Given
the current composition of the Board, a female candidate
would be an advantage but not a requirement.

Standing: The candidate should be of the highest ethical
character and have a strong reputation and standing, both
personally and professionally, in his or her fields.

Time commitment: Each Board member must have sufficient
time available for the proper performance of his or her duties.
Directors should be sufficiently free of other commitments to
be able to devote the time needed to prepare for meetings
and participate in induction, training, appraisal and other
Board associated activities.

Independence: For the candidate who is proposed as an
independent non-executive director, he or she must satisfy all
the independence requirements as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. He or she must always be aware of threats to
his or her independency and avoid any conflict of interest with
the Company. He or she must be able to represent and act
in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. To ensure that the existing policy continues to be
implemented smoothly in practice, the Company shall undertake
regular reviews and reassess this policy having regard to the
regulatory requirements, good corporate governance practice and
the expectations of the Shareholders and other stakeholders of the
Company. The Company will propose amendments to the Board for
approval.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
The Company considered diversity of board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
All board appointments are based on merit and contribution, and
candidates are considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Nomination
Committee reviews the Policy on a regular basis and discusses any
revisions that may be required, and recommends any such revisions
to the Board for consideration and approval.

Having reviewed the Diversity Policy, the nomination policy and the
Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the
requirements set out in the Diversity Policy had been met.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT MEETINGS

The attendance records of each director at the various meetings of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out
as below:
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Annual
general Board
meeting meetings
BR gxg
BEAE -
Number of meetings 6P 1 4
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Erik D. Prince Erik D. Prince it & 11 414
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson  BiRIBE A 11 414
Mr. Luo Ning e 11 414
Dr. Hua Dongyi ER—E+ 11 414
Mr. Hu Qinggang THERIEE 11 414
Non-Executive Director FHTEE
Mr. Chang Zhenming BREAEE 111 414
Independent Non-Executive ~ BU#HTEE
Directors
Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry REREs 111 414
Professor Lee Hau Leung EWRAE 11 414
Dr. Harold O. Demuren Harold O. Demuren £ il 414
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules to regulate the directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry by the
Company, all directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code regarding directors’
securities transactions throughout the year ended 31 December
2019.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, all directors have
participated in continuous professional development as shown
below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Erik D. Prince
Reading relevant materials in relation to Listing Rules update and
corporate governance

Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson
Reading relevant materials in relation to Listing Rules update and
corporate governance

Mr. Luo Ning
Reading relevant materials in relation to Listing Rules update and
corporate governance

Dr. Hua Dongyi
Reading relevant materials in relation to Listing Rules update and
corporate governance

Mr. Hu Qinggang
Reading relevant materials in relation to Listing Rules update and
corporate governance

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Chang Zhenming
Reading relevant materials in relation to Listing Rules update and
corporate governance

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry
Reading relevant materials in relation to Listing Rules update and
corporate governance

Professor Lee Hau Leung
Reading relevant materials in relation to Listing Rules update and
corporate governance

Dr. Harold O. Demuren
Reading relevant materials in relation to Listing Rules update and
corporate governance
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers as its statutory
auditor for the year ended 31 December 2019. The statement by the
independent auditor of the Company and the Group regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Company
and the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on
pages 65 to 71 of this annual report.

The remuneration in respect of services provided by
PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong to the Group in 2019 is
summarised as follows:

BB &

BE-T—AE+-A=+—AILEE - KRR
ZEBRRIGE R BRI BT R -
ARARAEE 2 BT GHBHEEHAR AR
AREHBRE 2 A RECEARNAEHE
65 FZ 71 5 2 B RBEPHRE -

R-ZE-NF  EATEEIACGEGTIER
Fra AR BR RS 2 e fldnT :

HK$'000
FET
Audit services EIZRTE 3,080
Non-audit services IEEZIRTE
Fee for corporate governance reporting, EBARE BB el 395
environmental, social and governance reporting BERMEP REEREE A
and review services
3,475

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company does not engage an external service provider as
its Company Secretary. Mr. Chan Kam Kwan, Jason, being the
Company Secretary of the Company, has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2019. The Company Secretary assists the Board by
ensuring good information flow within the Board, and the Board
policy and procedures are followed.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Responsibilities

The Board has the overall responsibility for setting forth proper risk
management culture and risk appetite for the Group, evaluating and
determining the level of risk that the Group should take and monitor
regularly, and demonstrating openness, integrity and accountability
to stakeholders in the decision-making process. The Board, through
the Audit Committee and the Risk Committee, has also devoted to
maintain sound and effective risk management and internal control
systems in order to safeguard the assets, to achieve business
objectives and to ensure compliance with relevant legislation
and regulations. The Group’s management continues to allocate
resources for the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems. The Group established
the risk management and internal control systems with aims to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatements or losses caused by
judgment in decision making process, human error, fraud or other
irregularities.

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 AR5 &= E AR A 7

N,

al

RNAWE

RARWEINERGHEFEERTWE - RE
E-T-AF+-A=Z+—BLEE ARAZ
NEMER\BHBLEEEI T LR 15ENEZ
HEREE - ARWEEBERESSTRNEM
MBARETEESHR M EFMHBESS -

Rk EE R AR
BT

EXRgARRARRAREEREENARER
e KRB s - 5HE R EE A R EAERE R
KT ETERET - AREAEEEERRA
Bl BERBEMNREBIE - ESFTRNEB
ERZESNARZESEFRE2BERZEARE
ERARERERL  WRERE BREKER
RIERETEREDNER - AEBER EHE
DEER - Li&E - AT RERRREE MR
EEARS c AEBDEYAREE R AR E R
o EEBEMIPBERREENEBBERZA
% WEAIBORFIBEREL ZHEH - AR
R HEFSE MR RT RER Z SRR
BARREHAREIFBRERE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERHRE

Control Framework

Risk Management Policy has been established to set forth the
risk management framework and to maintain a consistent basis
for the identification, analysis, evaluation, treatment, monitoring
and reporting of risks at all levels across the Group to support the
achievement of the Group’s overall strategic objectives.

The Group has adopted the Enterprise Risk Management framework,
which is published by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission (the “COS0”) and involves identifying
risks and opportunities that are relevant to the Group’s objectives
and organisational structure, evaluating those using appropriate
qualitative and quantitative techniques, and formulating risk
management plans that are consistent with the Group’s risk
appetite. The Group has chosen both top-down and bottom-up
approaches in relation to risk management and internal control. It
involves collating and appraising bottom-up input from the heads
of all corporate departments, and senior management of business
units of the Group, with refinements and adjustments through top-
down input from the Board in an iterative manner.

With reference to the Internal Audit Manual of the Group, the
Group’s internal audit function has been established to provide
risk-based and objective assurance, advice and insight to the
Board through the Audit Committee and the Risk Committee. It also
helps the Group accomplish its strategic objectives by bringing a
systematic and disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the
effectiveness of risk management, internal control and governance
processes of the Group. To ensure that key risks are addressed,
expectations are managed and results are properly communicated,
the internal audit function maintains on-going communication
with the Board, the Audit Committee, the Risk Committee, senior
management, other assurance providers and employees during
audit assignment planning, execution and wrap-up.
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2019 Review

During the year, the Audit Committee and the Board have conducted
an ongoing review and monitoring of the effectiveness of the risk
management, reviewed and discussed the internal control review
report submitted. The Group performed internal control related
activities according to the Internal Audit Plan of 2019. The internal
audit function assessed the major changes in the organisational
structure that occurred during the previous audit cycle and the
changes that were planned for the coming audit cycle. Revisiting
and updating the internal audit plan was considered for any major
organisational changes. In addition, the Company has put in place
internal control measures to minimise sanction risks. The Group has
established a risk management committee comprising the deputy
chairman of the Board and all three independent non-executive
directors and chaired by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
to take charge of such measures. A policy to manage sanction risks
was also established to enhance the controls over the operations to
minimise such risks.

Based on the reviews, the Board considered that (i) the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate with reference to the COSOQO; (ii) the Group had complied
satisfactorily with the requirements of the CG Code in respect of risk
management and internal control systems; and (iii) the Group has
internal control measures in place to address any sanction risks that
the Group is or is to be facing.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
RIGHTS

The Board recognises the importance of effective communication
with the shareholders and investors. The Company communicates
with the shareholders and investors through various channels
including investors’ conferences, TV interviews, press releases, and
publication of interim and annual reports, announcements, circulars
and other corporate communications and publications available on
the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the
Company.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
direct communication between the Board and the shareholders.
The Company encourages the participation of the shareholders
through annual general meeting and other general meetings where
the shareholders meet and exchange views with the Board, and to
exercise their right to vote at meetings. The Company shall arrange
notices of meetings and circulars containing details on proposed
resolutions to be sent to the shareholders. At general meetings,
separate resolutions are proposed on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual directors.
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The Board ensures that shareholders’ and investors’ views
are heard and understood, and welcomes their questions and
concerns relating to the Group’s management and governance. The
Company’s website provides email address and telephone number
to enable the shareholders to make any enquiries and concerns to
the Board. Shareholders may also at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board by addressing to the Chief Executive
Officer by post or by email. The contact details are set out in the
“Corporate Information” section of this annual report.

Subject to Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(the “Act”) and Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws of the Company,
shareholders holding in aggregate not less than 10% of the paid-
up capital of the Company have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company, to
request a special general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition, and
such meeting shall be held within three months after the deposit
of such requisition. Any number of shareholders representing
not less than 5% of the total voting rights of the Company on the
date of the requisition or not less than 100 shareholders of the
Company are entitled to put forward a proposal for consideration at
a general meeting of the Company. Shareholders should follow the
requirements and procedures as set out in Section 79 of the Act for
putting forward such proposal at a general meeting.

CONSTITUTION DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

This is the fourth Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
report of Frontier Services Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”). The report summarises the
performance for the year ended 31 December 2019.

This report covers the key operations of the Group in two services:
distribution and warehousing, and aviation. The report is compiled
in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide under Appendix
27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

ESG GOVERNANCE

The Board has delegated ESG-related responsibilities to the Audit
Committee, who will report to the board of directors on the findings
and issues that it has identified. The Audit Committee is also
responsible for evaluating and determining our ESG related risks,
and ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk management
and internal control systems are in place. The management strives
to enhance the effectiveness of these systems and the Group’s ESG
performance.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group believes that creating long-term value for stakeholders
is important to sustain its business success. We value honest, open
and regular dialogue with our stakeholders. As a company with
services spanning across several continents, the Group strives to
engage and gain trust and support from its various stakeholders.
These include customers, employees, suppliers, investors and the
wider community as a whole. The Group engages its stakeholders
on a regular basis, through various channels, such as conferences,
interviews and surveys. Stakeholders’ inputs on what ESG issues
matter the most are collected and prioritised. The following sections
of the report cover environmental protection, employment and
labour practices, operating practices and community investment.
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Stakeholder Groups Engagement Method

Employee — Employee Satisfaction Survey
— Employee Performance Appraisal
Customers — Customer Feedback Forms
— Customer Hotline
Suppliers — Supplier Inspection
— Annual Evaluation
Investors — Financial announcements

— HKEXx Filings
— Investor Calls and Briefings
— Annual General Meetings

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to operating in a sustainable manner
through mitigating emissions, improving energy efficiency and
reducing its impacts on the environment.

Our leadership has been committed to sustainability, recognising
it is a strategic imperative for our business and embedding it in
our corporate values. Our primary aim is to manage sustainability
risks through appropriate policies, standards, and systems. It
also enables us to identify and pursue potential sustainability
opportunities.

The Group recognises that pollution prevention and resource
conservation are key to combating climate change, and thus
effectively integrates these concepts into its business decision
making.

The Group strictly abides by local rules and regulations on
environmental protection. For example, the Group’s aviation
business in Kenya follows the policies approved by National
Environment Management Authority, a local government agency
responsible for implementing environmental policy.

Enhancing fuel efficiency is a key focus of the Group’s
environmental protection efforts and technology plays a key part in
driving the Group’s sustainable development. In the Group’s ground
logistics business, drag-reducing devices were installed on trucks
to improve fuel efficiency and reduce greenhouse gas (“GHG”)
emissions. There is a decrease in the Group’'s GHG emissions by
about 17% as compared with last year.
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Responsible waste management practices are adopted in the
Group’s processes. For instance, within the Group’s aviation
business, used oil from aircraft servicing and maintenance is
siphoned into drums for storage and recycling by qualified vendors.
The Group encourages proper waste segregation and storage
in designated receptacles on its premises to facilitate material
recovery and biological treatment. The Group places emphasis
on implementation of environmental protection measure, to ensure
effective and efficient waste segregation, disposal and management
of both hazardous or non-hazardous wastes. Our employees share
responsibilities for waste management in our business operations
with reference to the established environmental protection measure
and waste management approaches. The total amount of hazardous
waste produced decreased by approximately 36% as compared
with last year.

The Group takes proactive measures to minimise the environmental
impact arising from its operations. Previously, the Group’s aviation
business relocated its full power engine runs to a designated area
located on the southern end of Wilson Airport in Kenya, far from the
neighbouring community and sensitive natural habitats. This helps
to reduce the impact of air and noise pollution arising from aircraft
test runs and vehicle movements. When replacing fleet vehicles,
the Group takes fuel efficiency into account in its decision making
process. Fleet vehicles are constantly monitored for excessive fuel
usage. Where necessary, drivers are trained to drive the vehicles
in the most fuel efficient ways by observing practices with regard
to tyre pressures, harsh braking and acceleration, as well as driver
behaviour.

All employees are responsible and accountable for promoting and
implementing environmentally responsible operations.

The Group has worked to raise staff awareness of environmental
management by implementing sustainable practices at workplace.
We promote green office and operation environment to minimise
the adverse environmental impacts of the Group. The employees of
the Group have reduced the consumption of electricity, paper and
water resources. For example, to avoid energy wastage, employees
are reminded to turn off idle electrical appliances. The Group
also used more energy efficient LED lighting and air conditioners
when carrying out renovations of the offices and warehouses. The
Group’s electricity consumption is comparable with the industrial
average. To lower paper consumption, double-sided printing,
recycling of used paper and use of electronic documentation are
strongly encouraged. Dedicated bins have been set up at the
Group’s offices to facilitate waste separation and recycling. Waste
paper from the offices is delivered to an approved paper recycler.
The water consumption is also reduced by approximately 12% as
compared with last year.
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The Group strives to drive the environmental performance of its
logistics solutions to another level through continuous monitoring
and improvement. Regular reviews are carried out on a timely
basis to evaluate and explore alternative eco-friendly measures
and practices. Going forward, it is part of the Group’s strategy to
increase strategic investment in energy-efficient technologies, such
as sourcing for greener fuels and aircraft as appropriate.

Total energy consumption intensity by revenue remains stable when
compared to 2018.

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
Employment

The Group believes that people are the foundation of its business
growth. The Group’s human resources policies and procedures
cover key aspects such as compensation, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, welfare and other benefits.

It is paramount for the Group to attract qualified talent both
internally and externally to support business ambitions.

The Group’s remuneration mechanism is performance-based and
competitive. Eligible employees are entitled to other benefits in
addition to basic salary, such as medical insurance and retirement
funds. The remuneration packages are regularly reviewed to keep
up with the market.

The Group is committed to providing employees with an inclusive
workplace that embraces and promotes diversity and equal
opportunity. The Group has zero tolerance of harassment and
discrimination in any form. Employees are hired and selected
based on their merits regardless of their race, colour, age, religious
belief, gender and national origin. Specifically, the Group’s aviation
business adopted a “Fair and Just Culture Policy” to ensure that
all personnel are treated fairly. The Group also strives to establish
harmonious labour relationships. In the Group’s ground logistics
business where the majority of Group employees are employed,
grievance procedures are enforced to make sure that the concerns
of the employees are heard and addressed in an equitable and
fair manner. The Group’s freight forwarding business achieved
Level Five of the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment
(BBBEE) framework issued by the government of South Africa for
two consecutive years, demonstrating the Group’s commitments to
racial equity.
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In the event of misconducts that warrant dismissal, the Group strictly
observes the disciplinary code to ensure necessary steps and
procedures are followed. The code sets out our principles for acting
responsibly in the course of achieving our commercial success. The
hearings are chaired by independent labour consultants who would
also provide recommendations to the disciplinary actions made, and
employees have the right to appeal the outcome of the disciplinary
hearing.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group.

Health and Safety

Occupational health and safety (“OHS”) is the Group’s top priority
for its business operations. All our operations must be carried out
in a manner that safeguards the health and safety of all employees,
customers, contractors and the wider community. The Group
adopts proper procedures at the workplace to identify, mitigate and
monitor health and safety risks. Hazard assessments and safety
monitoring are also carried out frequently, and results are followed
up in a timely manner to drive continuous improvement. Proper
personal protective equipment and first aid training are provided
to employees. The Group protects the safety of its people and
assets by undertaking rigorous fire prevention measures, organising
safety awareness and accident investigation workshops, as well
as providing firefighting training. Fire and evacuation drills, fire
hydrant flow and pressure tests are conducted periodically. Risk
administration and compliance officers were hired to proactively
identify risks and implement preventive measures for the Group.

The Group’s aviation business is certified by the Department of
Occupational Safety and Health Services under the Ministry of
Health of the Republic of Kenya in recognition of its achievements
in upholding workplace safety. Our continued success is inherently
linked with providing a safe working environment for all Group
employees. To succeed in this, we have developed a corporate
safety culture and adopted a risk-driven approach in identifying
and minimising the impact of hazards on our operations. Within the
Group’s freight forwarding business, toolbox talks covering topics
such as safety, hazards, health and equipment operations are held
with frontline workers on a daily basis. A third-party consultant was
engaged to carry out annual risk grading audits and food safety and
hygiene assessments to ensure compliance with local operational
risk standards.

The Group is committed to protecting the health and safety of
all individuals affected by its activities, including its employees,
contractors and the public. The Group ensures that every individual
employee works in a safe and healthy environment. Pilots and crew
working for the Group’s aviation business are covered by kidnap
and ransom insurance to provide assurance for their safety.
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Employees are encouraged and supported to maintain a healthy
work-life balance. In addition to abiding by all standard aviation
safety regulations, the Group’s flight operations have enhanced
policies around pre-flight rest and duty hours to further minimise
OHS-related risks caused by fatigue.

The Group will review the safety of the workplace on an ongoing
basis.

Development and Training

The Group believes that talent development is integral to sustaining
its competitive advantage and organic growth. Training programmes
are set up at business level to support daily job functions. For
instance, the Group places high priority to enhance skills of
its ground logistics staff, particularly on operating warehouse
equipment. Furthermore, highly customised training courses are
prepared for pilots and engineers within the Group’s aviation
business. In order to facilitate employees’ professional growth and
career progression, the Group also provides support and assistance
for staff to attend external training courses that are relevant to their
areas of expertise.

A skills development committee has been established within
the Group’s freight forwarding business to plan and organise
development and training for employees. In addition, more than fifty
management personnel of the Group’s logistic arm attended a ten-
day training on safety and security in China to prepare them for the
challenges of managing safety and security during their works.

The Group’s remuneration mechanism is performance based and
competitive. In addition, the Group provides other benefits to
employees including various training programmes.

To stay competitive, we invest in different ways to acquire the best
talent in the market by reviewing and streamlining our recruitment
process to make us more efficient in attracting and hiring new
talent, developing different customised selection and assessment
tools to help us acquire the most suitable talent in the market.

The Group will continue to evaluate the training needs of its
employees and to offer the employees with appropriate and suitable
training according to their job position and nature. The Group will
continue to intensify and promote staff training programs by offering
comprehensive training opportunity, it could help to reserve talent
for corporate development.
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Labour Standards

The Group strives to adhere to applicable local and international
labour standards and strictly prohibits the use of child or forced
labour in its operations. We have developed systematic approval
and selection measures to prevent ourselves from illegally hiring
child labour and ensure that the employment is comply with relevant
laws and regulations. The Group's suppliers and contractors are
expected to attain the same standard in their labour practices.

The Group’s freight forwarding business has been a member
of Supplier Ethical Data Exchange (SEDEX) since 2018. SEDEX
Members Ethical Trade Audits (SMETA) were conducted to assess
the business’s performance around labour rights, health and safety,
the environment and business ethics.

OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

The Group is aware of the importance in managing environmental
and social risks of our supplier chain. The Group works closely
with its suppliers and service providers to support and optimise its
complete logistic solutions. The Group has embedded environmental
and social consideration in the procurement process and supplier
communication. The Group aspires to exert a positive influence
over its suppliers to promote the awareness of sustainability and
manage risks within its supply chain, including environmental,
social and governance best practices. In addition, a scrupulous and
rigorous process for supplier monitoring and screening is in place.
The Group will continue to monitor its supply chain regarding the
environmental and social standards.

Product Responsibility

Since its establishment, the Group has focused on helping its
customers to operate more securely and efficiently in frontier
markets. The Group emphasises service quality and reliability
to differentiate itself in the market and help its clients focus on
meeting their project milestones on time and within budget. For
example, the Group’s aviation business implemented an ISO 9001
quality management system approved by UKAS and ANAB (US),
with a wide scope of provision of aviation logistics services, such
as worldwide charter flights and medical air ambulance charter. In
addition, the Group has been certified and approved by European
Union Aviation Safety Agency (EASA) as a Third Country Operator
(TCO) in recognition of the safety performance of the Group’s
aviation business. To maintain the reliability of its aviation services,
the Group conducts forecasts on capacity, demand patterns and
customer requirements to address potential bottlenecks caused by
hangar space, associated logistics and custom procedures.
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Furthermore, a complaint handling mechanism is in place to
address customers’ concerns. Complaints are properly documented
upon receipt and subsequently followed up in a timely and efficient
manner. Once complaints are verified, compensation is provided
to customers in accordance with established procedures and with
reference to prior cases.

The Group values data privacy, Collected personal data is only
accessible by authorised personnel and is handled in a confidential
manner.

Anti-corruption

The Group maintains a high standard of anti-corruption measures
and have zero-tolerance for any form of bribery, corruption or fraud.
Upon employment, all employees are introduced to the specific
requirements related to the corruption policies in the company and
are provided with anti-corruption training in order to mitigate the
relevant risks to the business. For example, the Group’s aviation
business in Kenya strictly complies with the requirements of the
UK Anti-Bribery and Corruption Act and the Kenya Anti-Corruption
and Economic Crimes Act, and makes an effort to keep up to any
changes in regulations.

In addition, a whistle-blowing procedure is established with the
objective to provide a confidential channel for employees to report
on suspected irregularities. This policy also aims to encourage
our people to come forward and report suspected wrongdoing
and to provide necessary guidance and assurance to anyone who
reports suspected wrongdoing. The Group works with Whistle
Blowers, an independent company which provides ethics hotline
services, for employees to safely report any whistle-blowing matters
in South Africa. Whistle Blowers also provides evidence-based
recommendations on how to effectively manage the ethics hotline
as well as how to embed integrity as part of the corporate culture in
the workplace.
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is committed to supporting development in the
communities where it operates by working closely with a number
of charities. In nurturing the corporate culture to practice social
welfare and participation, we aim to embrace our corporate social
responsibilities as part of the Group’s strategic development. In
recent years, we have engaged in various community activities,
including but not limited to:

— supporting and participating in educational fieldtrips to
promote children’s awareness in conserving wildlife under
Carolina for Kibera’s Child Outreach Programme in Nairobi,
Kenya;

—  cooperating with Support Teacher Empowerment Trust by
providing training to teachers and equipping them with
necessary knowledge and skills to support and educate the
disadvantaged youths;

— working with Phakamani Trust, a local non-profit organisation
aiming to empower rural young women, to combat poverty
and unemployment in South Africa;

—  transporting donated food to various charitable organisations
such as churches and children homes free of charge; and

—  maintaining close contacts with local schools and organising
visits to the Group’s premises to provide an introduction on
aviation to the students. This helps to broaden their horizon
and equip them for their future career with more knowledge
on different industries.

The Group also encourages its employees to actively participate in
volunteer works. When selecting charitable organisations to support,
the Group would evaluate their visions and backgrounds. Charities
with unclear financial position and operations are not considered so
as to ensure community investment goes to the needy.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

The Group analyses and monitors the regulatory frameworks
applicable to the Group and prepares and updates internal policies
whenever necessary. The Board oversees the Group’s management
and internal controls on an ongoing basis. The Group keeps abreast
of the latest regulatory developments and provide relevant trainings
for relevant personnel. In addition to preventive measures, the
Group also ensures there are monitoring and measures to enable
regulatory compliance. With these mechanisms, the Group is not
aware of any material non-compliance with relevant local laws and
regulations related to areas such as environmental protection,
employment and labour practices and operating practices during
the year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

BHARENER

With respect to energy saving initiatives such as replacing energy
inefficient lighting with LED lightings, and using instant water
heaters instead of high consumption geysers through Transit Freight
Forwarding Proprietary Limited, GHG and energy consumption have
decreased in FY2019.

% @ Transit Freight Forwarding Proprietary
Limited A LED BREA R B X ke RREA R4 - i
AR E SRR AUKES - biltEige
%TEQ/&ZH%&&HW@E%EEA_T NLF B R
FEBEMRD -

TREFREBR (a) REREF K (b)MZEEM
FRR T 2 B 2 E R RENUE R ([ RIRE
REMER] -

The table below shows the environmental key performance
indicators (“KPIs”) of the key operations of the Group in two
services namely (a) distribution and warehousing and (b) aviation.

Environmental KPIs Unit 2019 2018
BRIEBRERER B —E—-hEF —Z-N\F
Nitrogen Oxides emissions (NO,) tonne 18.77 17.26
—afERERE Mg
Sulphur Oxides emissions (SO,) tonne 0.02 0.02
—abm B E R
Particulate matter emissions (PM) tonne 1.37 1.25
BRI E B = Mg
Total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions tonne CO,e 6,206.61 7,433.65
RERBASINE Z &AL BREE P EX
Scope 1 — Direct emissions and removals tonne CO.e 5,445.89 6,554.66
#HE 1 — B RRR Z b HRBE pE B
Scope 2 — Energy indirect emissions tonne CO,e 760.72 878.99
#E2 — ERMEBEEN Z b Bk BE pmE B
Total hazardous waste produced tonne 2.50 3.90
FEXCEEEEDHES U7
Total non-hazardous waste produced tonne 240.13 239.42
FREEZ BMEEEYES W
Total energy consumption kWh 22,463,386.17 27,388,686.09
BRAEEE TEE
Total direct energy consumption kWh 21,544,766.59 26,380,383.65
EERREREE F R
Diesel oil kWh 16,853,417.21 14,239,956.89
gem TR
Gasoline/Petrol kWh 78,534.05 6,688.64
i T FLF
Kerosene kWh 4,612,815.33 12,133,738.12
Bl F B
Total direct energy consumption intensity kWh/HKD’000 revenue 29.68 30.44
by revenue FEE M FHET
AT 2 B AERERES
Total indirect energy consumption kWh 918,619.58 1,008,302.43
fiZERERES FRE
Purchased electricity kWh 918,619.58 1,008,302.43
EEES TR
Total indirect energy consumption intensity kWh/HKD’000 revenue 1.27 1.16
by revenue FRE MWz TF T
Aasst g REEE R
Water consumption m’ 50,007.15 56,913.72
FKE ST K
Water consumption intensity by revenue m?/HKD’000 revenue 0.07 0.07
LA BT 2 KB E SR W T AT
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EENRE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chang Zhenming, aged 63, was appointed as a non-executive
director and the Chairman of the Company on 6 December
2018. Mr. Chang holds a master of business administration from
The College of Insurance in New York and has a broad range
of experience in banking, finance and securities business. Mr.
Chang was formerly the chairman and an executive director of
CITIC Limited (stock code: 267), the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). CITIC Limited is an indirect substantial
shareholder of the Company holding approximately 25.91% issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this annual report.
Mr. Chang was also the chairman of CITIC Group Corporation and
CITIC Corporation Limited, and was formerly the vice chairman and
president of China Construction Bank Corporation (stock code: 939
(H share); 601939 (A share)), the nonexecutive director and deputy
chairman of Cathay Pacific Airways Limited (stock code: 293), the
non-executive director and the chairman of the board of China
CITIC Bank Corporation Limited (stock code: 998 (H share); 601998
(A share)), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and/or the Shanghai Stock Exchange. He was also
formerly a non-executive director of China CITIC Bank International
Limited and the chairman of CITIC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited.
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Mr. Zhang Yichen, aged 56, was appointed as a non-executive
director on 24 March 2020. Mr. Zhang began his career in 1987
and has previously worked for Greenwich Capital Markets, Bank of
Tokyo New York Branch as head of proprietary trading, and Merrill
Lynch, where he was the managing director of debt capital market
for Greater China. He returned to China in the mid-1990s and
advised the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China
and other Chinese agencies on the development of the domestic
government bond market. Mr. Zhang is the chairman and the
chief executive officer of CITIC Capital Holdings Limited, a global
alternative investment management and advisory company. Prior
to his participation in founding CITIC Capital Holdings Limited,
from March 2000 to May 2002, he was an executive director of
CITIC Limited (stock code: 267), a substantial shareholder of the
Company and the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, and was also the president of CITIC Pacific
Communications Limited. He served as an independent director
of Weibo Corporation (stock ticker: WB), the shares of which are
listed on NASDAQ, from January 2014 to December 2015. Since
May 2002, he has been serving as an independent director of Sina
Corporation (stock ticker: SINA), the shares of which are listed on
NASDAQ. Since June 2012, he has been serving as the chairman
of the board and a non-executive director of Genertec Universal
Medical Group Company Limited (stock code: 2666), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Since
December 2016, he has been serving as a director of S.F. Holding
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 002352.SZ), the shares of which are listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Since June 2018, he has been
serving as a non-executive director of Asialnfo Technologies Limited
(stock code: 1675), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. He also serves as the chairman of the board
of McDonald’s China and the chairman of Harbin Pharmaceutical
Group Holding Co. Ltd.. He is a member of the 11th, 12th and 13th
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. Mr. Zhang obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in
computer science and engineering from Massachusetts Institute of
Technology in the United States of America in June 1986.
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Mr. Fei Yiping, aged 56, was appointed as a non-executive director
on 24 March 2020. Mr. Fei is a director and the chief financial
officer of CITIC Pacific Limited (“CITIC Pacific”, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CITIC Limited). He is also the deputy general manager
of financial control department of CITIC Limited, a director and the
chief financial officer of CITIC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited, a vice
chairman and president of CITIC Pacific China Holdings Limited,
a director and general manager of Rainbow Wisdom Investments
Limited (a subsidiary of CITIC Group Corporation (“CITIC Group”)),
a non-executive director of CITIC Telecom International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1883), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, a non-executive director of Dah
Chong Hong Holdings Limited, the shares of which were withdrawn
from listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 10 January
2020, and a director of Companhia de Telecomunicagcdes de Macau,
S.A.R.L.. He is also a director of certain member companies of CITIC
Pacific involved in special steel, property and energy and a director
of certain member companies of CITIC Limited involved in iron ore
mining, property and its interests in McDonald’s Mainland China
and Hong Kong businesses (including, inter alia, Grand Foods
Holdings Limited), and also the chairman of the audit, compliance
and risk management committees of Grand Foods Holdings
Limited. Mr. Fei is a graduate from Beijing Science and Technology
University and received a Master in Business Administration from
the University of Edinburgh in the United Kingdom. He is a FCPA of
CPA Australia and has over 23 years experience in accounting and
financial management. He has been with CITIC Group since 1991.
Between 2001 and 2008, he first acted as treasurer and director of
CitiSteel USA, Inc. and then acted as a vice president of CITIC USA
Holdings, Inc. and chief representative of CITIC Group in New York.
When he returned to China in 2008, he became a deputy director-
general of the finance department of CITIC Group.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Erik D. Prince, aged 50, was appointed as an executive
director on 10 January 2014 and has served as a Deputy Chairman
of the Board of the Company since 6 December 2018. He is also a
committee member of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Risk Committee of the Company. Mr. Prince is
a US-born entrepreneur, philanthropist, military veteran and private
equity investor with business interests in Africa, Europe, the Middle
East and North America in the fields of logistics, aviation services,
manufacturing, natural resources development and energy. He is
the founder and chairman of Frontier Resource Group, a private
equity firm active across the African continent in areas such as
exploration, mining and energy development. Mr. Prince is the
founder of Blackwater, the leading global private security company,
which he sold in 2010. Mr. Prince was educated at Hillsdale
College. Upon graduation, he enlisted in the US Navy, where he
served as a Navy SEAL officer until 1996.

Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson, aged 68, has been an executive
director of the Company since 1998 and a Deputy Chairman of the
Board of the Company since January 2014. He is also a director of
various subsidiaries of the Company and is a committee member
of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of
the Company. Mr. Ko is an executive director of Branding China
Group Limited (stock code: 863), which is listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ko has extensive experience in direct
investment, merger and acquisition, TMT (Technology, Media and
Telecom) and financial service.
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Mr. Luo Ning, aged 61, has been an executive director of the
Company since October 2006 and a Deputy Chairman of the
Board of the Company since January 2014. Mr. Luo is currently
the chairman of CITIC Guoan Information Industry Company
Limited (stock code: 000839.sz), the shares of which are listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC"). He is a director of Baiyin Nonferrous Group Co., Ltd. (stock
code: 601212.ss), the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange in PRC. Mr. Luo has extensive experience in
telecommunication business and holds a Bachelor Degree in
Communication Speciality from The Wuhan People’s Liberation Army
Institute of Communication Command in the PRC.

Dr. Hua Dongyi, aged 55, has been appointed as an executive
director and the Acting Chief Executive Officer of the Company
since 26 July 2016. Dr. Hua has officially become the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company on 22 March 2017, and is also
the chairman of the Risk Committee of the Company. He is also
an executive director of VDM Group Limited, which is listed on
the Australian Securities Exchange. Dr. Hua graduated from the
Chengdu University of Technology (formerly known as Chengdu
College of Geology) with a Bachelor Degree in Engineering in
1984, and also received his Master Degree and Doctoral Degree
in Engineering from the China University of Geosciences in 1990
and 1996 respectively. Dr. Hua has over 20 years’ experience in
international engineering project bidding, international contract
management of consulting projects, project management, project
evaluation, cost and risk management and planning, organising,
implementing, operating of major infrastructure projects and
constructing and developing of large mining projects.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry, aged 74, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since 2004. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee, and a committee member of the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Risk
Committee of the Company. Mr. Yap holds a Master Degree in
Business Administration from the University of Strathclyde, Glasgow,
in the United Kingdom. He is a fellow member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has
extensive experience in finance and accounting. He retired as the
managing director of Johnson Matthey Hong Kong Limited in June
2007 and prior to that appointment he was the general manager
of Sun Hung Kai Development (China) Limited. He is also an
independent non-executive director of Concord New Energy Group
Limited (stock code: 182), which is listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, and Brockman Mining Limited, which is listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 159) and the
Australian Securities Exchange (stock code: BCK).

Professor Lee Hau Leung, aged 67, has served as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since 2014. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a committee member
of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk
Committee of the Company. Professor Lee is the Thoma Professor
of Operations, Information and Technology at the Graduate School
of Business at Stanford University and the chairman of the board
of the Fung Academy. His areas of specialisation include supply
chain management, information technology, global logistics system
design, inventory planning, and manufacturing strategy. He is
the founding and current co-director of the Stanford Value Chain
Innovation Initiative. He was elected a member of the United States
National Academy of Engineering in 2010. He obtained his Bachelor
of Social Science degree in Economics and Statistics from The
University of Hong Kong in 1974, his Master of Science degree
in Operational Research from the London School of Economics in
1975, and his Master of Science and PhD degrees in Operations
Research from the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania
in 1983. He was awarded an Honorary Doctorate of Engineering
degree by The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
in 2006 and an Honorary Doctorate from the Erasmus University of
Rotterdam in 2008. Professor Lee is an independent non-executive
director of each of Lion Rock Group Limited (formerly known as
1010 Printing Group Limited), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange; Synnex Corporation, a public company
listed on The New York Stock Exchange in the United States; and
Esquel Enterprises Limited, a private company based in Hong Kong.
Also, Professor Lee has been re-designated as a non-executive
director of Global Brands Group Holding Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 14 June 2017.
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Dr. Harold O. Demuren, aged 74, has served as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since 2014. He is also
a committee member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Committee
of the Company. Dr. Demuren is an aeronautical engineer and the
chief executive officer of Harold Demuren Consulting. With over
45 years of experience in both the public and private sectors of
the aviation industry, Dr. Demuren has been a strong proponent of
aviation safety and security, especially advocating and spreading
safety regulatory oversight on the African continent. He was the
chief executive officer of Afrijet Airlines, a successful cargo airline,
which had strategic alliances with foreign partners servicing Africa,
Europe and the Americas from 1998 to 2005. He is the founder
of Evergreen Apple Nigeria, the first fully integrated fixed based
operations and maintenance facility hangar in Nigeria. He was
appointed as the Director General of the Nigerian Civil Aviation
Authority from 2005 to 2013 and was the first to provide vital
information to the public on the failed attempt of the “Christmas
Day Bomber” in 2009. He successfully attained US Federal Aviation
Administration (FAA) Category One Certification for Nigeria and was
the first African to be elected as the President of the International
Civil Aviation Organisation (ICAO) General Assembly in Montreal in
2010. For his contribution to aviation safety globally, Dr. Demuren
has received numerous awards including the 2010 Laura Taber
Barbour Air Safety Award and the 2014 FSF-Boeing Aviation
Safety Lifetime Achievement Award from Flight Safety Foundation.
Dr. Demuren holds a Master of Science degree in Aeronautical
Engineering from the Kiev Institute of Aeronautical Engineers in
the former Soviet Union and a Doctor of Science degree in the
field of gas turbines, specialising in aircraft jet engines, from the
Department of Aeronautics and Astronautics of the Massachusetts
Institute of Technology (MIT).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Leung King Yu, Wilson, aged 47, has been the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company since July 2018. Mr. Leung has more than
24 years of auditing, financial, accounting and advisory related
experience of which he spent 10 years working in Mainland China.
Prior to joining the Group, he worked at the audit and assurance
department of Ernst & Young, an international accounting firm,
for more than 17 years. He retired from the partnership at Ernst
& Young in September 2012. Afterwards, Mr. Leung worked
as the Chief Financial Officer for two other main board listed
companies. His experience covers a wide variety of industries
including automotive, telecommunication, property development,
oil transportation, logistic and manufacturing. He had extensive
experience in merger and acquisitions, initial public offerings, fund
raising exercises and group restructuring. Mr. Leung graduated
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Uldarico Ard Peregrino Jr., aged 50, is the Chief Security
Officer of the Group and a director of various subsidiaries of the
Company. He has advised the corporate and national security level
programs in the industry since 1994, and has managed complex,
global integrated security and logistics programs in various
capacities over the past 20 years. Mr. Peregrino began his career
as a United States Marine. After completing his seven-plus years of
service, Mr. Peregrino entered the International Corporate Security
industry, quickly progressing to managing large VIP security
operations and developing critical training for close protection
teams. He also served as a local law enforcement officer where
Among other certifications,
Mr. Peregrino holds one of the most respected Aviation Security
Certification, the AVSEC PMC certified by ICAO. He has published
papers on many security topics and has participated in the
international arena as a featured speaker for the corporate security
industry and law enforcement.

he was awarded two “Valor Awards”.
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Mr. Liu Zhigang, aged 47, has been the Head of the East Africa
Region and the Country Manager of the Democratic Republic of
Congo (the “DRC”) for the Company since July 2018. Mr. Liu is
responsible for overseeing the Company’s business and operations
in Kenya, South Sudan, Uganda, Tanzania, Mozambique and the
DRC. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Liu served as vice president
and director of Weihai International Economic and Technical
Cooperation Co., Ltd. and the chairman of Zhengwei Company in
the DRC. Mr. Liu has extensive working experience in handling
overseas projects including project bidding, project management
and localised management and he is familiar with the financing and
business model for projects along the Belt and Road Initiative. Mr.
Liu has been working for more than ten years in both Republic of the
Congo and the DRC. He is familiar with the business environment in
Africa and has a good reputation among local political and business
strategists. Mr. Liu graduated from Qingdao University with a
Bachelor of Science degree and had studied at Central University of
Finance and Economics. Mr. Liu has also equipped with extensive
financial background.

Mr. Su Bin, aged 40, is the Head of the Group’s insurance division,
focusing on the risk management and insurance solutions business
of the Group. Mr. Su has more than 16 years working experience
in risk management and insurance industry, offering tailor-made
insurance programs and integrated risk solutions for clients like
overseas projects and multinational enterprises. Before joining the
Group, he worked in line of Construction & Energy of JLT Insurance
Broker Co., which was a Jardine Matheson associate company. His
clients included many types like power generation, infrastructure, oil
and gas, renewable energy etc. in high-risk areas such as Southeast
Asia, Central Asia, Africa and South America. Mr. Su worked as
Assistant General Manager of the Captive Insurance Department of
Generali China, and Assistant General Manager of P&C Technical
Department of Jiangtai Insurance Broker Co. once before. He holds
Master Degree of Insurance (Central University of Finance and
Economics), Bachelor Degree of Economics (Beijing Commercial
College), ANZIIF (Fellow) CIP, and is a registered broker of China
Insurance Regulatory Commission.

Mr. Lv Chaohai, aged 56, is the Head of Northwest Region, who
is responsible to oversee the Company’s business and operations
in Pakistan, Kazakhstan, Uzbekistan and other major countries in
Northwest Asia. Prior to working with the Company, Mr. Lv was vice
president of Xinjiang Production and Construction Corporations
and the chairman of its international company, having extensive
overseas working experience in project operation, equipment
procurement as well as localisation, security, training, education and
employment of Chinese and foreign labor. Mr. Lv is a graduate of
Xi’an Jiaotong University and a certificate holder of senior engineer
and construction engineer.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS/ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENRS

Ms. Cui Jiming, aged 54, is the Global Human Resources Director
of the Group, overseeing and operating human resources matters
across all of the offices and subsidiaries in Asia, Middle East and
Africa, creating and implementing human resource strategy of
the Group to transform the strategic objectives into the common
goals and actions of all employees. Previously, Ms. Cui served as
Deputy General Manager of CITIC Construction Technology Center
(Planning & Design Institution), responsible for administration
management, human resources management, security management,
social responsibility management of Angola KK Housing Project,
RED Social Housing Project, Agricultural Development and
Construction Project, Geological Survey and other projects. Ms. Cui
is a graduate of Lanzhou Jiaotong University, holding a bachelor’s
degree in Industrial and Civil Construction and a master’s degree in
Economic Management, and a certificate holder of Senior Engineer,
Senior Project Manager and Corporate Trainer.

Dr. Hu Ping, aged 57, has been employed as the general manager
of the Middle East and North Africa region of the Group since
1 June 2019. Dr. Hu Ping graduated from the Department of
Geophysical Prospecting, Chengdu University of Geology with a
bachelor’s degree in 1983; in June 2005, he obtained a PhD degree
in Earth Exploration and Information Technology (Engineering) from
China University of Geosciences (Beijing). From 1983 to March
2013, he worked at the Institute of Geophysical and Geochemical
Exploration, Chinese Academy of Geological Sciences, Ministry
of Land and Resources, and served as the director of the Market
Development Division, the General Manager, Assistant Director and
Deputy Director of the Hong Kong Engineering Geophysical Co.,
Ltd. In April 2013, he was designated to Deputy General Manager
of CITIC Construction Co., Ltd., and successively served as
General Manager of the Energy and Minerals Business Department
and General Manager of Africa. In July 2019, he was appointed
as a member of the Overseas Geological Work Expert Advisory
Committee of the China Geological Survey. He has more than 30
years of experience in geological exploration of energy and mineral
resources, development of international engineering markets, and
operation management of large-scale engineering projects
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Mr. Zhou Chuncheng, aged 41, was appointed as the executive
general manager of Frontier Logistics (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. on
2 September 2019. Mr. Zhou graduated from Dalian Maritime
University in 2003 with a bachelor’'s degree in management and has
been a part-time graduate student in finance at Peking University
School of Economics since 2017. Mr. Zhou has 17 years of extensive
experience in the international logistics industry, ship management,
ship leasing, and engineering logistics. He has years of experience
from China’s largest integrated logistics group companies with
broad overseas work experience.

Mr. Tan Jiaying, aged 42, joined the Group on 23 June 2017 as
Deputy General Manager of the Group’s Business Development
Department. He is mainly responsible for the Group’s business
development and major project management in Africa. Mr. Tan
graduated from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics in
2000 with a bachelor’s degree in economics. He then graduated
from the University of International Business and Economics in 2004
with a master's degree in economics. Mr. Tan has fifteen years
of relevant experience in China’s foreign investment cooperation
industry. He has worked in the China Chamber of Foreign
Contracting Engineers for more than 10 years, and worked in the
Economic and Commercial Counsellor's Office of the Chinese
Embassy in Nigeria for 3 years. Mr. Tan has in-depth research and
management experience in international labor service cooperation
and safety risk management.

Mr. Chan Kam Kwan, Jason, aged 46, has been the Company
Secretary of the Company since 2006. He is also a director of
various subsidiaries of the Company. He graduated from the
University of British Columbia in Canada with a Bachelor Degree
in Commerce and holds a certificate of Certified Public Accountant
issued by the Washington State Board of Accountancy in the United
States. He has extensive experience in accounting and corporate
finance.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESEHRE

The directors of the Company submit their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of Frontier Services Group Limited (the
“Company”) are investment holding and management. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the performance of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) for the year by operating segments is set out in Note
5 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 72.

DIVIDENDS

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company does not
recommend the payment of any dividend for the year (2018: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group as required by Schedule 5 to
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are set out in the Chairman’s
Statement and the Management Discussion and Analysis of this
annual report. The review forms part of the Report of the Directors.

Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
are provided in the paragraph below.

Detailed discussions on the Group’s environmental policies,
relationships with its key stakeholders, and compliance with relevant
laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of
this annual report. The discussions form part of the Report of the
Directors.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is exposed to various risks, including factors that
are unique to the Group and the markets in which it operates, in
addition to those risks that are shared by most other businesses.
The Group has implemented a risk management and internal control
framework to identify current and foreseeable risks at different levels
of the Group in order to monitor and mitigate their adverse impacts.
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The following discussion highlights the risks that are believed
to be most germane to the Group at this time. Any or all of the
Group’s business, financial status, operations, personnel, and
outlook may be adversely or, potentially, materially affected by the
identified risks. The scope of the risks influencing the Group may
exceed those presented herein, so the following is not intended
to be comprehensive. Rather, the list of risks may include in the
future unknown matters that ultimately have an impact, material or
otherwise, on the Group.

Geopolitical Environment — The Group’s core business is the
provision of logistics, security, insurance and infrastructure services
to customers operating across the Belt and Road region from Asia
to Africa. The Group’s target geographies include many of the
world’s emerging markets. However, the orderly transition of elected
leadership, especially within less developed countries, has been
challenged at times, creating localised political risk. In addition,
regional pockets of terrorism, often directed toward governments
and related agencies, can compound the geopolitical risk inherent.
Therefore, diversification, across end-markets, service capabilities
and operating locations, is the cornerstone of the Group’s process
to mitigate geopolitical risk.

Economic Environment — The Group employs a strategy of
diversification to hedge against cyclical downturns in geographic
regions and specific end-markets. Nevertheless, the Group’s
regional markets, writ large, have been and will continue to be
affected by commodity prices and balance-of-trade issues.

Compliance — Similar to the intrinsic geopolitical risk arising from
operating in Africa, corruption is found in fast-growing markets. The
Group rigorously adheres to all applicable anti-bribery statues of
various jurisdictions and offers a thorough anti-corruption training
program to all of its staff members to reduce the risk of corruption
to the business.

Aviation — The Group has invested considerable resources into the
development of its aviation capabilities. The global aviation market
carries numerous inherent risks, from the safe operation of aircraft
to the evolution of local regulatory policies. The Group follows all
policies and procedures to ensure that its aviation operations are
fully compliant with the relevant civil aviation authority and that it
operates its fleet in the safest and most reliable manner.

Competition — The Group has endeavoured to be the first business
to bring a complete security, logistics, insurance and infrastructure
service solution to Belt and Road markets. Within its primary aviation
and logistics segment — air and ground - the Group faces strong
competition from existing vendors specialising in one or more of the
Group’s lines of service. The Group continually adapts its tactical
response to the ever-changing competitive landscape across its
target markets. Combining security services with logistics, insurance
and infrastructure offerings is a huge market differentiator.
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Global Operations — The Group, headquartered in Hong Kong, now
conducts operations in three continents, Asia, Africa and Europe. As
a result, considerable ongoing coordination is required to manage
the business in the most effective manner across multiple time
zones and numerous geographies.

Financial — The Group operates across multiple jurisdictions and
conducts business in multiple foreign currencies. As such, the
Group is exposed to foreign exchange risks and even exchange
control. The Group monitors its cash position and overall near-and
medium-term liquidity on a weekly basis, and makes all necessary
adjustments to ensure that the business has a functioning capital
structure.

Strategy — The Group is fully committed to its strategic
development of an integrated logistics, security, insurance and
infrastructure service offering. The execution of this vision requires
great coordination among the Group’s operating businesses, in
addition to the cooperation of other potential partners. Further,
the fulfillment of the Group’s strategy may require the addition of
new geographic or service capabilities, either through greenfield
investment or corporate acquisition. While the Group proactively
plans for these potential requirements, there are no assurances that
the required investment opportunities will exist in the future.

Personnel — The Group’s success is ultimately determined by its
dedicated staff, and the ability to grow the business is predicated
on the Group’s ability to recruit, train, and retain highly qualified
personnel who share a passion for the corporate vision. The loss
of any key staff member or a failure to attract new personnel could
have a negative and potentially material effect on the Group and its
prospects.

Highly Regulated Business — The Group is subject to a number
of national and local regulatory bodies by virtue of its global
operations. Failure to comply with any one of the applicable
regulatory regimes could have an adverse impact on the Group’s
operation. Consequently, the Group expends substantial resources
ensuring its businesses operate in a fully compliant manner, often
with the assistance of third-party service providers who specialise in
such matters.

Sanction Risks — The Group is subject to sanction risks imposed
by various bodies by virtue of its global business in frontier markets.
These sanction risks might impose restrictions to the Group’s
business and might have an adverse impact on the Group’s
operation. The Company has put in place various measures,
including but not limited to seeking external legal counsel’s advice
and establishing the Risk Committee, to ensure these sanction risks
would not have a material impact on the Group’s operation.
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During the year 2019,

1. the Group, along with two other local business partners, has
established an associated company, of which the principal
activity is the provision of general increase business in
the Democratic Republic of the Congo (“DRC”). After the
establishment of the associated company, that associated
company immediately applied for an insurance license in
the DRC and has successfully obtained such license in early
2020.

2. The Group through a subsidiary has launched its security
business in the DRC and entered into an one-year security
service agreement with a PRC enterprise, for the provision of
security services.

The Risk Committee of the Company had assessed, with
consultation with external legal counsel, the sanction risks exposure
of the above-mentioned activities and the parties involved, and
found that no activities conducted and the parties (i.e. Shareholders,
Directors, counterparties, etc.) involved in the said projects were
subject to sanctions imposed by the United Nations, the European
Union, the United States of America and/or Australia.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND SHARE
AWARD

Details of the movements in the share capital, share options and
share award of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2019 are set out in Notes 28, 29 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

RESERVES

The Company’s distributable reserves as at 31 December 2019,
which solely comprised contributed surplus, amounted to HK$
558,899,000 (2018: HK$558,899,000). Details of the movements in
the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in Note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no charitable and other
donation was made by the Group (2018: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the Company by way of cash or shares. Any
distribution of dividends shall be in accordance with the Hong Kong
Laws, the bye-laws of the Company, the Bermuda Companies Act
1981 (as amended from time to time) and any other applicable laws,
rules and regulations.
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The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject
to the absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration of
dividend will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. In
proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into
account, inter alia:

o the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

. shareholders’ interests;

o retained earnings, distributable reserves and contributed
surplus of the Company and each of the other members of the
Group;

. the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity

and financial covenants to which the Group is subject;
o possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends or other convenants
on the Group’s financial ratios that may be imposed by the
Group’s financial creditors;

o the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

o liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend;

. taxation considerations;

o statutory and regulatory restrictions;

o general business conditions and strategies;

o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s

business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company; and

o other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is
no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any
specific periods.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities, non-
controlling interests and shareholders’ equity of the Group for the
last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements, is set out on page 200 of the annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws or there is no restriction against such rights under the laws
of Bermuda.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company has not redeemed any of its listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2019. Neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2019 and up to the date of this report are:

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chang Zhenming (“Mr. Chang”)
Mr. Zhang Yichen (“Mr. Zhang”)

— appointed on 24 March 2020
Mr. Fei Yiping (“Mr. Fei”)

— appointed on 24 March 2020

Executive Directors

Mr. Erik D. Prince (“Mr. Prince”)
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson (“Mr. Ko”)
Mr. Luo Ning (“Mr. Luo”)
Dr. Hua Dongyi (“Dr. Hua”)
Mr. Hu Qinggang (“Mr. Hu")
— resigned on 24 March 2020

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry (“Mr. Yap”)
Professor Lee Hau Leung (“Professor Lee”)
Dr. Harold O. Demuren (“Dr. Demuren”)

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Luo, Mr. Yap, Dr.
Demuren, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Fei will retire by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all independent non-executive directors pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. Under the terms of their appointment, the
independent non-executive directors are appointed for a specific
term and are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Company’s Bye-laws. The Company believes that all the
independent non-executive directors are independent in accordance
with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws and subject to the statues,
every director shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities which
he may sustain or incur in the execution of his office or otherwise
in relation thereto. The Company has taken out and maintained
insurance against the liability and costs associated with defending
any proceedings which may be brought against the directors of the
Company. The level of coverage is reviewed annually.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme and the share award scheme
of the Company as set out in Notes 29 and 30 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively and the preference shares
issued by DVN (Group) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, as set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements, there were no other equity-linked agreements that will
or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares entered into by the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2019 or subsisted as at 31 December
2019.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 42 to 52 of the
annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS BEERAQTREMABE EZER B RE
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE RO ZEZRKRA

COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

At 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of the RIZB—NF+-_A=+—8 BFRAQA=K
Directors in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or EBEAE(FERELANBEKRAN(TESRE
its associated corporations, as defined in Part XV of the Securities BB 1) E XV ED) 2 Btn R AERARR (P HE B B
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) and as recorded in the register ARRRIRBEFESRBEKRPEI2BEFEZE
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO Rz EE AR - SARE E BT AESHET
or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of FEZ GHZESTA([EESR DARITHE AR

Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model RAINEBBMER S BR AR ([BRAT]) 2
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the mERBWT ¢

“Model Code”), were as follows:

Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the RAEAQXTRGDREBEROZFRE
Company
Number of
underlying
shares held
Number of ordinary shares held PR % of the
B ERE BA#E issued share
Name of Personal Family Corporate Personal capital of the
director interests interests interests Total interests Grand total Company
EARRCRT
EEpf BARS SR AEER st BARS st RABSH
Mr. Prince 200,690,657 — — 200,690,657 — 200,690,657 8.56%
Prince %4
Mr. Ko — 2,040,816 268,776,719 270,817,535 — 270,817,535 11.55%
mEE (Note (i) (Note (ii)
(HizE () (het (i)
Dr. Hua — — — — 71,679,276 71,679,276 3.06%
EHL (Note (iii))
(Mgt (i)
Mr. Hu 9,814,000 — — 9,814,000 — 9,814,000 0.42%
b
Mr. Yap — — — — 1,400,000 1,400,000 0.06%
Ba4 (Note (iii))
(B13£ (i)
Professor Lee 1,400,000 — — 1,400,000 — 1,400,000 0.06%
FHR
Dr. Demuren 1,400,000 — — 1,400,000 — 1,400,000 0.06%
Demuren &+
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(i) These shares were held by the spouse of Mr. Ko.
(i) This represents:

(a) the deemed interests of Mr. Ko in the 48,276,719 ordinary
shares of the Company held by First Gain International Limited
under the SFO by virtue of his interests in First Gain International
Limited;

(b) the deemed interests of Mr. Ko in the 175,500,000 ordinary
shares of the Company held by Rich Hill Capital Limited under
the SFO by virtue of his interests in Rich Hill Capital Limited;
and

(c) the deemed interests of Mr. Ko in the 45,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company held by Greater Harmony Limited under
the SFO by virtue of his interests in Greater Harmony Limited.

(iiiy ~ These represent the share options of the Company granted to the
respective directors under the Company’s share option scheme,
details of which are disclosed in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2019, none of the
directors had any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations which had been recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed in the section titled “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above
and in the share options disclosed in Note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the
Company granted to any director or their respective spouse or
minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2019, other than the interests and short positions of
the directors or chief executive of the Company as disclosed in the
section titled “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above, the following interests of 5%
or more of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded
in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

(i) ZERGERLCEZRBIES -
(i)  ZEFIE:
(a) WBEFHFKHASHKEI - BN S %K ERFirst
Gain International Limited 2 #x8 = SR

{E# A First Gain International Limited #4
248,276,719 IRA RN R EIEMAL 2 1S

(b) WBEFHERBEKO BREEER
Rich Hill Capital Limited Z #2 » HUHIE
& # B Rich Hill Capital Limited# & 2
175,500,000 R AN R A1 E @Ak 2 #Eas ¢ &

(c) BEZFHFRBEGRD BREEXER
Greater Harmony Limited 2 #2§ - tRi1R
£ % 5 Greater Harmony Limited# & 2
45,000,000 A& A 722 7] & 3B A 2 5 e
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Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the NAQNTRGOREBROZHFE
Company
Number of
underlying
shares held
Number of ordinary shares held RSB
g BRYA RAEE % of the
Direct Through Through issued share
beneficially controlled controlled capital of the
Name owned  corporations Total  corporations Grand total Company
LY N
BRTRAE
A% EREERET  EBIEAR @y EBRIEAR @t BAl
Easy Flow Investments Limited 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 25.91%
BHREBRRA
CITIC Investment (HK) Limited - 607,592,607 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 25.91%
FEREER(RB)BRAR (Note (i))
(Bt ()
CITIC Corporation Limited — 607,592,607 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 25.91%
REREERAA (Note (ii))
(Fizt ()
CITIC Limited — 607,592,607 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 25.91%
REARERHER AR (Note (iii))
(Fist (i)
CITIC Group Corporation — 607,592,607 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 25.91%
HEREEEERAF (Note (iv))
(B1:£(iv))
Taiping Trustees Limited 160,000,000 — 160,000,000 — 160,000,000 6.82%
AP EEBRAR
Taiping Financial Holdings Company — 160,000,000 160,000,000 — 160,000,000 6.82%
Limited (Note (v))
ATERIERERAF (Hizt(v)
China Taiping Insurance Holdings — 160,000,000 160,000,000 — 160,000,000 6.82%
Company Limited (Note (vi))
RERTRBERERDA (it (vi)
Trinity Gate Limited 175,399,571 — 175,399,571 — 175,399,571 7.48%
Timeness Vision Limited — 175,399,571 175,399,571 — 175,399,571 7.48%
(Note (vii))
(W32 (vii))
Teng Rongsong — 175,399,571 175,399,571 — 175,399,571 7.48%
oSN (Note (viii))
(B (viii))
Rich Hill Capital Limited 175,500,000 - 175,500,000 — 175,500,000 7.48%
(Note (ix))
(Fizt (ix)
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(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Save
(other

CITIC Investment (HK) Limited is deemed to be interested in the
607,592,607 ordinary shares of the Company held by Easy Flow
Investments Limited under the SFO by virtue of its interests in Easy
Flow Investments Limited.

CITIC Corporation Limited is deemed to be interested in the
607,592,607 ordinary shares of the Company held by Easy Flow
Investments Limited under the SFO by virtue of its interests in CITIC
Investment (HK) Limited.

CITIC Limited is deemed to be interested in the 607,592,607 ordinary
shares of the Company held by Easy Flow Investments Limited under
the SFO by virtue of its interests in CITIC Corporation Limited.

CITIC Group Corporation is deemed to be interested in the 607,592,607
ordinary shares of the Company held by Easy Flow Investments Limited
under the SFO by virtue of its interests in CITIC Limited. Mr. Luo Ning,
a deputy chairman and an executive director of the Company, is an
employee of CITIC Group Corporation.

Taiping Financial Holdings Company Limited is deemed to be
interested in the 160,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company held
by Taiping Trustees Limited under the SFO by virtue of its interests in
Taiping Trustees Limited.

China Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited is deemed to be
interested in the 160,000,000 ordinary shares held by Taiping Trustees
Limited by virtue of its interests in Taiping Financial Holdings Company
Limited.

Timeness Vision Limited is deemed to be interested in the 175,399,571
ordinary shares of the Company held by Trinity Gate Limited under the
SFO by virtue of its interests in Trinity Gate Limited.

Mr. Teng Rongsong is deemed to be interested in the 175,399,571
ordinary shares held by Trinity Gate Limited by virtue of its interests in
Timeness Vision Limited.

Mr. Ko is deemed to be interested in the 175,500,000 shares of the
Company held by Rich Hill Capital Limited under the SFO by virtue
of his interests in Rich Hill Capital Limited. Such interest forms a
part of the corporate interests in the ordinary shares of the Company
interested by Mr. Ko as set out in the section titled “DIRECTORS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS”
above. Mr. Ko is a director of Rich Hill Capital Limited.

as disclosed above, at 31 December 2019, no other person
than the directors or chief executive of the Company whose

interests are set out in the section titled “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS”
above) had registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company that was required to be recorded
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

(i) RIEFEHFLBEEN - ARFERETER(BES)E
BRAFIZHERIDVEBR AR ZIER - BRI
EREHVREFRDFRFA 221 607,592,607 %
Lk e o

(i) WEFHFRBAEKRS - ARPEPEERIFFAE
FEREEER(FH)BRARZIER - SRR
EREBREFRRFFA 2K AE607,592,607 %
Lk s o

(i) WEFHERBEEN - ARPEPEROBRAF
BEPEPEERARZER  WERIEEERD
REBRARFE ZARQEF 607,592,607 i L i ik

(iv) BEBEZFHFRBEEN ARFEPEEEEGRAA
BEPEFTPEROARAR 2 Ea - WEARIEES
REEEBRAFRFE 2R AT 607,592,607 &
BRZER ARRZEIFERATERRE L
ATPEPEEEERARZES -

(v) BEEHFRBAEEN  ARAKFEERERAR
BAEATERARARZER  MERIEEEAT
AR A RFA 2772 160,000,000 A% I 38 %
L

(viy BEEHFRBEGL  ARPEATRBIERAR
RAFAATERIERARA R 2 - BORIE
A AT EEARDEFRA 2R 7 160,000,000
AR imAR R 2 s o

(vii) IRIEFEHLEAEEA - B Timeness Vision Limited
# Trinity Gate Limited 2 #2 @» MR IEHA
Trinity Gate Limited #8 2 ZA2 175,399,571 I%
Tl o e

(viiy REIFLHAERY ARBRRELEREH
Timeness Vision Limited 2 ## + SR 1EHA
Trinity Gate Limited #5822/ 175,399,571 %
Ak 2 o

(ix) BIEEHRBEGRL - BN %EEFARch Hill
Capital Limited Z # 2 + 8% 18 {E % A Rich Hill
Capital Limited# A& Z 175,500,000 f% 74X 2 & f&%
M2 ZERTEK EXEERARAR R
Al KRB S B AR (D AR BARR 1D 2 s Ok B | — BTN
I ZRAEEBARNR LB Z R EER 2 — 5
5 o m 54 ARich Hill Capital Limited ZE %

B EXFBEEIN RN F+ _A=+—
B BEEMAL(ARREEREIETHASE
O WEZERCDHIN EXEERARE
S AE I AREEE B A () AR 2 s SR R
—E ) RAR B R AR D h HEBREE
7 RGP 336 IR7A Trodk LR TR °
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, revenue to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 46% (2018: 43%) of the
total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019 and revenue to
the largest customer included therein amounted to approximately
26% (2018: 27%). Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 12% (2018: 12%) of the total purchases
for the year ended 31 December 2019 and purchases from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately 6%
(2018: 5%).

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors,
own 5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors, the directors confirmed
that the Company has maintained throughout the year ended 31
December 2019, the amount of public float as required under the
Listing Rules.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to the date of statement of financial position, the
Group did not have any material events occurred other than those
disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Hua Dongyi

Chief Executive Officer & Director

Hong Kong, 24 March 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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_E
pwc

To the Shareholders of Frontier Services Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Frontier Services Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
set out on pages 72 to 199, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2019;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Bt

RIEBFR SRS RMOAKEESBERT
ADAT BRI/ - HABLN BEXE -
YEEITTRIFHEMEREREST -

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The key audit

REESEE

RRETFEERERMANERALE - RASYHA
MR BHREANETR/ERNSEH - 5LF
ARERMETERGAMBBRILAR AR
EITRER - BT EHELEHREHEBNE
R BMEEFPRAINNBEREAEZR/EE
BIVEE  ME BERREARERREEZ
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matter identified in our audit is related to impairment assessment of WELE o

goodwill, intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-

of-use assets.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key BREETSE BANETNTEERES
Audit Matter e

Impairment assessment of  Our procedures in relation to RERNAXRBIBNE  AMHAERERMRZERDR

goodwill, intangible assets, management's impairment B EBVEE-WE-B ZBOINNELS ERE

property, plant and equipment and  assessment of goodwill, intangible ERRBIREREEE E "% %%ﬁ&%ﬂﬁfx{&

right-of-use assets of the Aviation  assets, property, plant and BB fEREEEEL ZRMET R

and Logistics Business segment
(“AL Business Segment”)

Refer to Note 4 (Critical accounting
estimates and judgements), Note
13 (Property, plant and equipment),
Note 14 (Leases) and Note 15
(Goodwill and other intangibles) to
the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2019, the
carrying value of goodwill amounted
to HK$2,102,000, arose from the
acquisition of Maleth Aero Limited
in the AL Business Segment, which
is subject to an annual impairment
assessment.

As at 31 December 2019, the
Group’s AL Business Segment also
owned intangible assets, property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets before impairment amounted
to HK$12,305,000, HK$133,401,000
and HK$152,642,000, respectively.
These assets require an impairment
assessment if an impairment indicator
is identified.

equipment and right-of-use assets of
the AL Business Segment included
the following:

We evaluated and challenged the
composition of management’s
future cash flow forecasts used
in their value-in-use calculations,
and the process by which they
were prepared. We found that
the cash flow forecasts prepared
by management were subject to
oversight and review by the directors
of the Company and was consistent
with the approved budgets of the
board of directors of the Company.

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 RS &= E AR A 7
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Key Audit Matter

The AL Business Segment has been
loss making since 2013 and recorded
an operating loss of HK$178,139,000
for the year ended 31 December
2019. This represented an
impairment indicator for the relevant
intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets.

Management performed an
impairment assessment in respect of
the goodwill and intangible assets of
each AL Business Segment related
Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”") using
the value-in-use method which
involved significant judgement
in determining the assumptions
used in the calculations. The key
assumptions include:

o annual growth rate;
. long-term growth rate; and
o discount rate.

In relation to the impairment
assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets in
each AL Business Segment related
CGU, management determined the
recoverable amounts as the higher of
value-in-use and fair value less costs
to disposal, which was calculated
by benchmarking against the price
quotation of a comparable model
in the second-hand market or price
quotation provided by independent
buyer.

How our audit addressed the Key
Audit Matter

We compared the current year actual
results with the amounts included in
the prior year cash flow forecast to
consider the quality of management's
forecasting, and we checked that
management had considered the
current year actual results in the
preparation of this year's forecasts.
We also inquired of management
to understand the reasons for the
deviation of the actual results for the
current year from prior year forecast,
comparing the explanations to our
market knowledge and expectations,
and checked that the relevant factors
had been taken into account in this
year's forecasts.

The procedures we performed over
management’s key assumptions used
in the cash flow forecasts included:

o comparing annual growth rate
to historical actual figures;

o benchmarking the long-term
growth rate against industry
forecasts; and

o benchmarking the discount
rate against our research
on the discount rate for
comparable companies.

We evaluated sensitivity analysis
performed by management around
the key assumptions by calculating
the degree to which these
assumptions would need to change
to trigger further material impairment.
We determined that the calculation
was most sensitive to the growth
rates and discount rate assumptions,
and we discussed and challenged
management’s view on the likelihood
of such a change in the growth rates
and discount rate.
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Key Audit Matter

A provision for impairment of
HK$64,509,000 was made for the
property, plant and equipment for
the year ended 31 December 2019,
including HK$38,926,000 which
was provided for three aircraft
reclassified to assets held-for-sale as
at 31 December 2019. No provision
for impairment on the goodwill,
intangible assets and right-of-use
assets was considered necessary as
at 31 December 2019.

We focused on this area due to
the significance of the balances
and the significant judgements
involved in the assessment of the
recoverable amounts of the CGUs
including the assumptions used in
the calculation of value-in-use as well
as the judgement required to identify
suitable market comparable data to
determine the fair value less costs
to disposal of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets.

How our audit addressed the Key
Audit Matter

In relation to the fair value less
costs to disposal of property,
plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets, we checked, on a
sample basis, the market price
quotations for comparable property,
plant and equipment or the price
quotations from potential buyer of
certain dismantled parts identified
by management to the relevant
source. We also compared, on a
sample basis, the key specifications,
including the model, year of
manufacture, equipment and
modifications of the comparable
property, plant and equipment with
those owned by the Group to assess
the suitability of the comparison.
We also performed our own internet
search, on a sample basis, on the fair
value less costs to disposal of similar
property, plant and equipment.
For property, plant and equipment
reclassified to held-for-sale as at 31
December 2019, we validated the
plan to dispose of by checking to
management meeting minutes which
confirmed such intention, and verified
the fair value less costs to disposal
against the price quotation provided
by independent buyer, as well as
the final selling price in the signed
agreement.

Based on the procedures performed,
we found management’s impairment
assessment of goodwill, intangible
assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets
to be supportable based on the
available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B M % BED | E

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Hin Gay Gabriel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 March 2020

s HESRAMBHRRNEBI®HIN  EE
MAR  BREKE  URESFBHRERE
BRERBRZXZMEIR -

e B BEEEANERAXBIPINUBES
ERGED - BEMESRE  UEHERS

FBHRBERER - RMAE BEEEF
FHEVTR  BEEMET - HPIREFER

HFREREEE -

BREMERS  BHAREZZE BB TN
EETEE - BETH  EXEFERE  BER
IR BRI A AR B B0 (E T ARG ©

BAEABEZZESRIER @ FHARMEHTA
FRBLENABERERER YR fIEE
BRESEMNA RS ERMBIIENAERH
BEMEMEIER - UREEBRNERLT - 18BN
I

EEEZZEQBEBNERT - BMIEEPLS
BHARGEVBRENBARAER - AME
PREBSRERT B IR » RIERBED IR S h s L
B RIFERERTATFLARAKBEELSE
HEBBFERNBERT - REBFAPER IR
EREBXFRENNAERRBBEEN AR
& HPPRETRERSTEBZEE

HEARB I ZHBENHRENETREEBARRRE
Ho

BERUKEST BB
HE 2T

B —ZE_THE=H_+WMA

Annual Report 2019 &R

71



CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

e W aE R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z—NF+-_A=1+—RHLFE

2019 2018
—E-NE —T—N\F

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiat FHET FAET
Revenue from contracts with KAREASHZWA
customers 6 725,920 866,748
Cost of direct materials and job BEEMHEERRTERY
expenses (200,120) (2883,938)
Cost of aircraft management services RS 12 AR A 2 (97,689) (128,814)
Data costs HUE KA (5,999) (7,028)
Employee benefit expenses EERAAX 7 (240,896) (211,722)
Sub-contracting charges HEEHA (268,622) (288,488)
Rental expenses e &R 10 (17,606) (33,438)
Repair and maintenance costs HERREER (17,759) (33,580)
Depreciation and amortisation s s 10, 13, 14 & 19 (56,460) (37,310)
Other income and other gains H b U A R H b U 25 10 6,947 8,871
Other operating expenses HmEEER 10 (118,323) (95,412)
Provision for impairment of other Hi & E 2 BE RS
intangibles 15 — (4,087)
Provision for impairment of property, %73 « #22 &5 A N
plant and equipment and assets EREBE Y HERE
held-for-sale 13 (64,509) (8,318)
Impairment losses on financial assets & @& & 2 R {EE 18 21 & 22 (14,286) (2,732)
Operating loss HiEEIE (369,402) (259,248)
Interest income A BUA 12,045 12,426
Finance costs B & RN 8 (10,360) (13,928)
Share of losses of associates FE(E B & N R B8 17 (3,760) (1,517)
Loss before income tax bR FT1S %1 Al E5 18 (371,477) (262,267)
Income tax credit FiSfiiEe 9 14,730 5,644
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEFER 10 (356,747) (256,623)
Attributable to: AT pEMG -
Equity holders of the Company RAFIRERE A 31 (354,793) (258,846)
Non-controlling interests AR (1,954) 2,223
(356,747) (256,623)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 7 A =RERE A
TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE EEERER
COMPANY
Basic and diluted loss per share BRERNRESEE 11 (15.13) cents (13.61) centsll
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BT NFE+_A=1+—HLEE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —T—\F

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEFE (356,747) (256,623)
Other comprehensive loss Hitt 2 HEEE
Items that have been reclassified or may BEEHHBAKAIREEREHH
be subsequently reclassified to profit HEEBm2EE
or loss
Foreign exchange differences [E 5 2= 8 (3,330) (7,005)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FEHMEMEE(BRFR)
net of tax (3,330) (7,005)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR FEXHEBGEAHE
THE YEAR (360,077) (263,628)
Attributable to: LATR R -
Equity holders of the Company RATIREREB A (358,039) (265,746)
Non-controlling interests AR (2,038) 2,118
(360,077) (263,628)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION'

E B AR &

As at 31 December 2019
R-—E—hF+=-_A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hE —T-N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HieE FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - HBRREE 13 85,987 261,128
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 157,205 —
Goodwill and other intangibles mEREMEREE 15 14,407 15,854
Interests in associates i AN 17 53,885 8,074
Deferred income tax assets REMSHEE 18 9,380 7,501
Non-current prepayments FEBNERFE S R 19 54,156 52,543
Prepaid operating lease rentals NG EEERS — 1,328
Financial assets at fair value through ZARBEBBEMEEWZE
other comprehensive income PRz @ A E 4 24
Total non-current assets ERBEEAE 375,024 346,452
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories T8 20 5,183 6,468
Trade receivables E 5 W RIE 21 251,587 188,503
Prepayments, deposits and other BRK - Eek
receivables H At & YR IE 22 118,584 124,908
Tax receivables FE W AR IE 1,307 1,143
Restricted cash PR HIER & 23 7,090 7,063
Pledged bank deposits BB IRITIF K 23 104,936 153,635
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRESEEY 23 353,503 677,811
842,190 1,159,531
Assets held-for-sale RIEHERE 13(iif) 6,209 =
Total current assets B EERE 848,399 1,159,531
Total assets BEMLE 1,223,423 1,505,983
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade payables B S ENHIE 24 81,305 87,641
Other payables and accruals E fth FE < 5RIE K B A B F 25 138,116 102,635
Contract liabilities AR 6(b) 10,888 8,132
Borrowings B 26 4,512 16,306
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 63,397 —
Tax payables FESFR I8 883 276
Total current liabilities MBI B ERARE 299,101 214,990
Net current assets mENEEFE 549,298 944,541
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B IR R &

As at 31 December 2019
RZZE—NF+=ZA=+—H

2019 2018
—2-hE —ET-N\F

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HteE FET FAET
Total assets less current liabilities EERERRBDEE 924,322 1,290,993
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Borrowings BX 26 — 45,970
Lease liabilities Iﬂ‘*%ﬁ 14 48,267 =
Deferred income tax liabilities EEFSHAaE 18 32,442 46,265
Other long-term liabilities HE KB E — 7,237
Total non-current liabilities SEmBEIBERRE 80,709 99,472
Total liabilities BEEE 379,810 314,462
Net assets EEFE 843,613 1,191,521
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to the Company’s A2 GIfRHERE B A &1L
equity holders s
Share capital & A 28 234,482 234,482
Reserves G 31 484,256 830,126
718,738 1,064,608
Non-controlling interests FEfE IR M A 32 124,875 126,913
Total equity R 843,613 1,191,521
The consolidated financial statements on pages 72 to 199 were FET2EEFI1VENGANBHRREHERS
approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2020 and were RZE_FE=ZA A TRRESE
signed on its behalf. BE o
Ko Chun Shun, Johnson Hua Dongyi
& iRIE L=
Director Director
EF EF
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_T—NFt+-_A=+—RHLFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ARAERREAER
Non-
Share controlling
capital Reserves Total interests Total equity
i e hy FiEhER Bigs
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FAT
At 1 January 2018 RZE-NE-f—-H 144,970 118,704 263,674 124,267 387,941
Comprehensive (loss)/income 2E(FE) /Wi
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BR)/ & - (258,846) (258,846) 2223 (256,623)
Other comprehensive loss Ltz ABE
Foreign exchange differences ERES — (6,900) (6,900) (105) (7,005)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FEEMZASHE
net of tax (BRBi%) - (6,900) (6,900) (105) (7,005)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for EEXE(ER)/
the year s — (265,746) (265,746) 2,118 (263,628)
Transactions with equity holders BERREAZRS
Issue of shares ki 64,000 766,567 830,567 — 830,567
Exercise of share and other options TR R AR I H R 25,512 199,222 224,734 = 224,734
Share-based compensation RAZ 2 — 11,379 11,379 — 11,379
Capital injection from non-controlling interest il PG
of a subsidiary EmZTE — — — 528 528
89,512 977,168 1,066,680 528 1,067,208
At 31 December 2018 R=B-NE+=A=1-H 234,482 830,126 1,064,608 126,913 1,191,521
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE_E—hhE+-A=+—HILEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

AAFAEEREARE
Non-
controlling
Share capital Reserves interests  Total equity
B fifE @ FERER B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FE% FA% FET A7 A7
At 1 January 2019 RZE-hE-A-H 234,482 830,126 1,064,608 126,913 1,191,521
Comprehensive loss 2EFR
Loss for the year FEER - (354,793) (354,793) (1,954) (356,747)
Other comprehensive loss EL2EHE
Foreign exchange differences ERES - (3,246) (3,246) (84) (3,330)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net EEHMZEER
of tax (BBiE) - (3,246) (3,246) (84) (3,330)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FERARRER - (358,039) (358,039) (2,038) (360,077)
Transactions with equity holders BERREAZRS
Share-based compensation RAX 2 i - 12,169 12,169 — 12,169
- 12,169 12,169 - 12,169
At 31 December 2019 R=E-h%+=B=t+-H 234,482 484,256 718,738 124,875 843,613
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

7 = EE%/)ILE%

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HEZ_T—

NE+ZA=+—HIEEFE

2019 2018
—E-hF —N\fF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaE FET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RELETFH 2
ACTIVITIES RERE
Cash used in operations EEMACH S 33 (276,894) (280,525)
Income tax refund/(paid) 2R (BR)EEH 163 (983)
Net cash used in operating activities &&&EENFTH 2R EFE (276,731) (281,508)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREZFHZ
ACTIVITIES HERE
Purchase of property, plant and BEME MR REE
equipment 18 (20,329) (14,362)
Purchase of intangibles BEEFEE 15 (171) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, H&E¥E - 7%%%&?&1%
plant and equipment Frig kT 33(i) 6,442 6,162
Deposit paid for purchase of land- Eﬁﬁiiﬂlﬁﬁﬁﬁé
use-rights BffiES — (22,926)
Capital contribution to an associate  [A—KEE A FEE 17 (39,177) —
Loan to an associate M —KEE R RIREER (1,904) (4,113)
Increase in amount due from an JE W — KBk & A RIFRIE
associate 0 (5,406) —
Decrease in short-term bank deposits %2 8$R 1777 7K 6 4> — 379
Interest received 2 U F 8 10,164 15,041
Proceeds from redemption of ﬁ%’f@?ﬁ@ﬁﬁ@iﬁi@
financial assets at fair value Hh2mEKaSR 2
through other comprehensive SRVEEZ B RIE
income 20 19
Net cash used in investing activities & REFFH 2R L FE (50,361) (19,800)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ~ REREEEH >
ACTIVITIES HERE
Interest paid BEARFLE (8,300) (13,383)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits & #K3HE 171 20U 4 45,794 70,020
Increase in restricted cash PR 38 & 3 0 — (1,978)
Proceeds from exercise of share and 77 {i B A% #E Ko = i HA%E
other options Fr5 I8 — 224,734
Proceeds from issuance of shares ITRRR 18 2008 28(ii) — 830,567
Capital contribution from non- —RIB A A IR 2
controlling interest of a subsidiary AE 32 — 528
Repayment of bank loans EERITER — (215,804)
Repayment of other loan BB E M &K (88) —
Drawdown of bank loans REURTTER 4,083 31,086
Drawdown of finance leases %Hﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ% — 2,972
Repayment of principal elements of EEHE&BEZAEL N
lease liabilities (2018: Repayment (ZZ—N\F : E&
of capital elements of finance BREHEHEZ
leases liabilities) B AR ) (37,157) (14,120)
Net cash generated from financing MEEHFAEZ
activities REFE 4,332 914,622
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

F = EE%/)ILE%

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BT NFE+_A=1+—HLEE

2019 2018
—2-nE —E-)\F

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaE FET FAET
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN RERALLEUZ (D)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R E (322,760) 613,314
Cash and cash equivalents at FYzHe Rk
beginning of the year ReEEEY 677,811 65,228
Exchange differences E W =58 (1,548) (731)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS SR ZHER
AT END OF THE YEAR HEeEEY 23 353,503 677,811
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B BHRRMEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Frontier Services Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The address of its
principal place of business is Suite 3902, 39th Floor, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong.
The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of aviation, logistics,
security, insurance and infrastructure related services, and the
provision of online financial market information. The Company
is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (HK$'000), unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved
for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the
Company on 24 March 2020.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), a collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). These consolidated
financial statements comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B BHRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of Preparation (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for (i) certain
financial assets and liabilities, which are carried at
fair value and (ii) the assets held-for-sale which are
measured at fair value less costs to sell. The preparation
of the consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note
4.

Impact of new, amended and revised HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the
following new standard, amendments to standards and
interpretation for the first time for the accounting period
beginning on 1 January 2019:

HKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to Prepayment Features with

HKFRS 9 Negative Compensation
Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
HKAS 19 Settlement
Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates
HKAS 28 and Joint Ventures

Annual improvements
to HKFRSs 2015-
2017 cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS
11, HKAS 12 and HKAS 23

HK(IFRIC) -
Interpretation 23

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

2 FEETEERSER@R)

2.1

mBEE(F)

FAEUBRRERELKAEER
HEOBRAABEIENETE
REERBBR(EIAEBERL
ERAFENFIELEEERIN
RAENEBEVBRELEN Z2HEE
MBEBRRFEERALS TRARE G
H NHRIZEEEERRAKES
SR ZBREPELAE - P RA
FHEZHE A FEMZEE - X
RERGFHEAVBHRERN S B
ERZHBRME4KE -

el ~ BT RABIEETE B BHE
ER

AEEERAFERR T —NF
—HA— Elﬁ'fﬁﬁuanrHﬁFﬁéu\T LA
THAMEIER - EREFT R

BEMBREEN HE

Z165%
EREUBREEN  HEBEZEMTEE
ek )
BEGHEAE9 AL BRILE
2B
EEETERE28 BENARAEARZE
ST iR
BEREMBREER  ABUHREERNEIS -
—E-REE BB RE A
—T—+ERY £115  BBLEE
ZFEHT BIE 12 REAER
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued)

Impact of new, amended and revised HKFRSs
(continued)

The Group had to change its accounting policies as
a result of adopting HKFRS 16. The Group elected to
adopt the new rules retrospectively but recognised the
cumulative effect of initially applying the new standard
on 1 January 2019. This is disclosed in Note 2.2. Most
of the other amendments listed above did not have any
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and
are not expected to significantly affect the current or
future periods.

The following new and amended standards have been
issued, but are not effective for the Group’s accounting
period beginning on 1 January 2019 and have not been
adopted early:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

TEEHBRBE )

2.1

mBEE(F)

el ~ IEEAT RABIEETE B BHE
BRIz HE(E)

HRRAEBH B REEDFE16
o MAREBE ERESEBE -

ANEEEZBPIRANFTARL - M
RR-_T—NF—A—BKER
MBI Rt 8 - BAFENM
H221 5 o EXFTIIMARZEEM
EET ¥R B F B fE 58 1 & RE P &

EAFE  BRHBTEHEANKIK
REHELEEATE -

THE T RSB FT R T 8 - 1
MARAEER-_Z—-NF—H—
Bz et RERRT ERT
R -

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on
or after

RULT B #

R ERARZ
Eapilk

1 January 2020
—Z-TF—H—H

To be determined

FFETE

BEVBHRELRE 352 X EE
f&&1
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sales or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture
BBV ELRE 1058 & HEEHEABENT A E QR ZHA
BB R 28 5% 2 5T BELESEER

Conceptual Framework for

Financial Reporting 2018 Financial Reporting

TR N\FUBREMSIER  SCEFTHBREHRER

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

BBV EIRELERE 7 5% REBEH

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Definition of Material
HKAS 8

BEEEUFE1RRES BRZESE

BEEAE R ZEET
Amendments to HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9
BEAGTEAE I - B
IS MEERNE 75 KB
ISR E 2RI 9 5% 2 (BT

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

R B AR
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of Preparation (continued)

Impact of new, amended and revised HKFRSs
(continued)

These standards are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group in the current or future reporting
periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

Changes in Accounting Policies

This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS
16 Leases on the Group’s financial statements.

As indicated in Note 2.1 above, the Group has adopted
HKFRS 16 Leases retrospectively from 1 January 2019,
but has not restated comparatives for the 2018 reporting
period, as permitted under the specific transition
provisions in the standard. The reclassifications and
the adjustments arising from the new leasing rules
are therefore recognised in the opening consolidated
statement of financial position on 1 January 2019. The
new accounting policies are disclosed in Note 2.26.

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised lease
liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been
classified as “operating leases” under the principles
of HKAS 17 Leases. These liabilities were measured
at the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate as of 1 January 2019. The weighted average
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease
liabilities on 1 January 2019 was 9.72%.

For leases previously classified as finance leases, the
Group recognised the carrying amount of the lease
asset and lease liability immediately before transition
as the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset and
the lease liability at the date of initial application. The
measurement principles of HKFRS 16 are only applied
after that date. The remeasurements to the lease
liabilities were recognised as adjustments to the related
right-of-use assets immediately after the date of initial
application. There were no remeasurements to the lease
liabilities upon the adoption of HKFRS 16.
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B BHRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies (continued)
(i)  Practical expedients applied

In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group
has used the following practical expedients
permitted by the standard:

o relying on previous assessments on whether
leases are onerous as an alternative to
performing an impairment review — there
were no onerous contracts as at 1 January
2019;

o accounting for operating leases with a
remaining lease term of less than 12 months
as at 1 January 2019 as short-term leases;

o excluding initial direct costs for the
measurement of the right-of-use assets at
the date of initial application; and

. using hindsight in determining the lease
term where the contract contains options to
extend or terminate the lease.

The Group has also elected not to reassess
whether a contract is, or contains a lease at the
date of initial application. Instead, for contracts
entered into before the transition date, the Group
relied on its assessment made applying HKAS
17 and Interpretation 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease.
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B BHRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEGHBESEE)
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies (continued) 22 BHBEXZB8HH(E)
(i) Measurement of lease liabilities (i) #HEEMEZ:E
1 January
2019
—EB-hfF
—HB—H
HK$°000
FET
Operating lease commitments disclosed HR-ZT—N\F+_A=+—HFEE>
as at 31 December 2018 TR GRS 84,490
Discounted using the lessee’s incremental & f3 4144 & FA B 87 2 #GFA A SE B (2%
borrowing rate at the date of initial F AR
application (24,771)
Add: o
Finance lease liabilities recognised as RZZE-—N\FF+ZA=+—HER
at 31 December 2018 ZREREARE 61,838
Less: DS
Short-term leases recognised on a NEHEERARE 2RHEE
straight-line basis as expenses (1,297)
Low-value leases recognised on a NEHEERBRZ 2KEBHE
straight-line basis as expenses (1,344)
Adjustment as a result of amendment of HRIEF] TE Z A%
agreements (2,658)
Lease liabilities recognised as at R-ZZE-—NE—F—HBEREZ
1 January 2019 HEEE 116,258
Of which are: HAR
Current lease liabilities mEBEERE 27,776
Non-current lease liabilities FERBHEESE 88,482
116,258
(iii) Measurement of right-of-use assets (iii) EHEZEEZE
Right-of-use assets for properties leases were MEREZEREEERMNE
measured at the amount equal to the lease EEA@EE%Z@%Eﬁ%’
liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid THEER T N\F+_A
lease payments relating to that lease recognised _'f’ HZ?V?(:\HM‘%# W BT
in the consolidated statement of financial position RINE 2 EBENEE R
as at 31 December 2018. Other right-of-use assets CREEHAR HtFEREER
arise from leases previously classified as finance ERENSHEARMEHREZME
leases and were measured at their carrying BE4  WRIIRERB B
amounts immediately before transition at the date HEERERZRAMBEE o

of initial application.
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B BHRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

TEEHBRBE )

22 BIRBEZSB(E)
(iv) HEEHBHREZZE

ﬁEE&E@ﬁH%’ﬁF‘ZEEﬁEU
R MEHRRM T 14 KE -

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies (continued)
(iv) Impact on consolidated financial statements

The types of assets recognised as right-of-
use assets were disclosed in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

I BRZEHHR _FT—N
F-A—BRAEMBRARL

The change in accounting policy affected the
following items in the consolidated statement of

financial position on 1 January 2019:

NHIIEE &

(=R

=
31 December
2018 1 January
As originally 2019
presented HKFRS 16 Restated
—E-N\F
+=A —E-hE
Consolidated statement of  #RE BRI &R (F58%) =+—H BEUBERE —A—H
financial position (extract) BREZ5 ZERIZE 16 57 KE5|
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FET T8
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ¥ % - #2S MR fE 261,128 (97,466) 163,662
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 156,274 156,274
Prepaid operating lease TENEEHERE
rentals 1,328 (1,328) =
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments (included in TE R (T ATER R -
prepayments, deposits and e RE M EKEIR)
other receivables) 3,060 (3,060) =
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Borrowings B 45,970 (45,970) —
Lease liabilities HEAE = 88,482 88,482
Current liabilities nREEE
Borrowings B 16,306 (15,868) 438
Lease liabilities HEAE = 27,776 27,776
The adoption of HKFRS 16 has no significant HMNBEB B REERE 16
impact on loss per share for the year ended 31 CREBEE—_ZT—NF+=A

=t BLEFEHESRERY
BEAYE -

December 2019.
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B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity where the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group
(Note 2.4).

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between Group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the

Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in
the consolidated income statement, statement
of comprehensive income, statement of changes
in equity and statement of financial position
respectively.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the
Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights.
for using the equity method of accounting (see (c)

below), after initially being recognised at cost.

Investments in associates are accounted

]
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B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(c)

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share
of movements in other comprehensive income
of the investee in other comprehensive income.
Dividends received or receivable from associates
are recognised as a reduction in the carrying
amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds
its interest in the entity, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
equity-accounted investees have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in
accordance with the policy described in Note
2.11.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(d) Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group.
A change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect
their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognised in a separate
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the
Company.

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless of
whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary comprises the:

o fair values of the assets transferred;

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business;

o equity interests issued by the Group;

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement; and

. fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.
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B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Business combinations (continued)
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of the:

o consideration transferred,

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less
than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the
business acquired, the difference is recognised directly

in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of

is deferred,

exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either
as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as
a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

2.6

2.7

Separate Financial Statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee's net assets including
goodwill.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker of the Group. The
chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the Board of
the Company that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign Currency Translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the group entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”’). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s
functional currency and the Group’s presentation
currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.
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B BHRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

TEEHBRBE )

2.7 NEER(E)

2.7 Foreign Currency Translation (continued)

92

(b) Transactions and balances (continued) (b)) XBRAEEE)
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate Eﬁigﬁﬁ@ZlﬁE@Eﬁ(\ﬁé
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated Was R R A BERKA]
income statement within “finance costs”. All other EEMEEEEEE’\%?SWEE
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented PIBR Al HneEE A -
in the consolidated income statement within “other
operating expenses”.
Foreign exchange differences on non-monetary FEEHEeMEEWHER
financial assets, such as equities classified EAnhBEEAEMEEKE
as financial assets at fair value through other FIER([BRAXRBEEBEMSE
comprehensive income (“FVOCI"), are included in HmWEIER )2 EE 2K
other comprehensive income. EIZEREZETAREMEE

U2k o
(c) Group companies (c) FERA

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

FiT A T g & & B2 51| BR 5 R R
ZEBER(ERUVERSER
IRACERE « B ) 2 BT
EARRIR AR AR IRE A5 R
B

(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of (i) FER2ZFTBHBARRER
financial position presented are translated AZEEMAGEZTB
at the closing rate at the financial position LN = R Gy
date; g

(i) Income and expenses for each income (i) Bh=ERAZHA KRR
statement are translated at average SR FHE R E (BRI

exchange rate (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii)  All resulting exchange differences are

BEEE R IR 5 A B
TEXZZATEZA
BB EHBRT
WxBERRSBHZ
ERME) : R

(i) FIBERUBEEZERE

recognised in other comprehensive income. BE A H 2 E W A R

R o
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the F"”ﬂﬁ%?ﬁgﬁ%%?iZ?ﬁ
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets MARBEARTIERZE

and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Foreign exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Foreign Currency Translation (continued)

(d)

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a
joint venture that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all
of the foreign exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the equity holders of the Company are recognised
in profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not
result in the Group losing control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated foreign exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.
For all other partial disposals (that is, reductions
in the Group’s ownership interest in associates
or joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated foreign
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Property, Plant and Equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation and impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s

carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,

as appropriate, only when it is probable that future

economic benefits associated with the item will flow to

the Group and the cost of the item can be measured

reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is

derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are

charged to the consolidated income statement during

the financial period in which they are incurred.
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B BHRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, which
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, is provided at the following annual rates:

Leasehold Over the shorter of the term
improvements of the lease (45 years
commencing 2004) and
the estimated useful life
Hangars 2.5%
Aircraft and aviation 5% to 10%
equipment
Plant, machinery and 10% to 38%
tooling

Trucks, trailers and 8% to 20%
containers

18% to 20%
12.5% to 33%

12.5% to 25%

Motor vehicles
Office equipment
Furniture and fixtures

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial
position date. An asset’s carrying amount is written
down immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated

recoverable amount (Note 2.11).

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and
equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds
with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B BHRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9

2.10

Other Intangibles

Other intangibles with finite useful lives are carried
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Other intangibles with
indefinite useful lives are not amortised.

Amortisation of other intangibles, which is calculated
using straight-line method to allocate their costs over
their estimated useful lives, is provided at the following
basis:

Over the estimated useful
lives of 9 — 15 years

Over the non-compete
periods of 4 — 6 years

Operating certificates
and trademark

Non-compete
agreements

Management reviews the expected useful lives at each
financial position date based on the estimated period
over which future economic benefits will be received
by the Group and takes into account the level of future
competition, the risk of technological or functional
obsolescence of the assets, and the expected changes
in the market.

Other intangibles are derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from
derecognition of other intangibles are measured at the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the assets and are recognised in the
consolidated income statement in the period when the
assets are derecognised.

Non-Current Prepayments

Prepayments for engine overhaul and maintenance costs
of aircraft are recorded as non-current prepayments as
management has discretion over when these costs have
to be incurred and it is not expected to be utilised within
twelve months. Upon consumption, these prepayments
are charged to the consolidated income statement.
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B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets, and Interests in
Subsidiaries and Associates

Non-financial assets which have an indefinite useful life
— for example, goodwill or intangible asset not ready to
use — are not subject to amortisation but are tested for
impairment annually or whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. Non-financial assets which are subject
to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (CGUs). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each financial position
date.

Impairment testing of the interests in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

The Group determines at each financial position date
whether there is any objective evidence that the interest
in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the
Group calculates the amount of impairment as the
difference between the recoverable amount of the
associate and its carrying amount and recognises the
amount in the profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12

2.13

Non-Current Assets Held-for-Sale

Non-current assets are classified as held-for-sale when
their carrying amount is to be recovered principally
through a sale transaction and a sale is considered
highly probable. The non-current assets are stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or
subsequent write-down of the asset to fair value less
costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent
increase in fair value less costs to sell of an asset,
but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss
previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously
recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current
asset is recognised at the date of derecognition.

Non-current assets classified as held-for-sale are
presented separately from the other assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position. Non-current
assets are not depreciated or amortised while they are
classified as held-for-sale.

Financial Assets
(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) or through profit or loss);
and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
OCI. For investments in equity instruments that are
not held for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election at the
time of initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at FVOCI.
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B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Financial Assets (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Classification (continued)

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date - the
date on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies
its debt instruments at amortised cost and FVOCI.

(i) Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets
is included in “interest income” using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item
in the consolidated income statement.
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B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Financial Assets (continued)

(c)

Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

(if)

FVOCI

Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest,
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI,
recognition of impairment gains or losses,

are measured at

except for the

interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
“interest income” using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in “other income and
other gains” or
and impairment expenses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated
income statement.

“other operating expenses”
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B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Financial Assets (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Measurement (continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair
value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised
in profit or loss as “other income and other gains”
when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in
fair value.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part
of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial asset have
expired or have been legally transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the financial asset.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI.
The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables, see

Notes 3.1(b) and 21 for further details.
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B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Financial Liabilities

(a)

(b)

(c)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. The Group’s financial liabilities
include trade payables, other payables and
accruals, borrowings, lease liabilities and other

financial liabilities.
Recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions
All financial liabilities are
in the case of

of the instrument.
recognised initially at fair value,
a financial liability not at FVPL,
costs that are directly attributable to the issue of
the financial liability.

less transaction

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged,
cancelled or expired.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced
by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amount is recognised in the profit or loss.
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B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15

2.16

Inventories

Inventories, mainly represent spare parts and
consumables for aircraft maintenance, are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined using the weighted average cost method.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable

selling expenses.
Trade and Other Receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. Trade and other receivables are
non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They
are classified as current assets, except for those with
maturities greater than twelve months after the financial
position date are classified as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless
they contain significant financing components, when
they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the
trade and other receivables with the objective to collect
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. See Notes 21 and 22 for further
information about the Group’s accounting for trade
and other receivables and Notes 2.13 and 3.1(b) for a
description of the Group’s impairment policies.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Share Capital

2.19

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

Where the Company’s shares are acquired from
the market by the Employee Share Trust under the
employee share scheme, the total consideration of
shares acquired from the market (including any directly
attributable incremental costs) is presented as shares
held for employee share scheme and deducted from
total equity. Upon vesting, the related costs of the
vested shares for employee share scheme purchased
from the market are credited to shares held for
employee share scheme, with a corresponding decrease
in employee share-based compensation reserve for
employee share scheme.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer) after the financial position
date. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Borrowings

2.21

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any differences between
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income
statement over the period of the borrowings, using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months after the end of
the financial position date.

Current and Deferred Income Tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. The current income tax charge
is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the financial position date
in the countries where the Group’s subsidiaries and
associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B BHRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

TEETHBRBE )

2.21 EMRIEEMEH (4F)

2.21 Current and Deferred Income Tax (continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred income tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the financial position date and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except for
deferred income tax liability where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally,
the Group is unable to control the reversal of the
temporary difference for associates. Only when there is
an agreement in place that gives the Group the ability
to control the reversal of the temporary difference in
the foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in relation
to taxable temporary differences arising from the
associate’s undistributed profits is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the
deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis.
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B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Employee Benefits

(a)

(b)

Pension obligations

The Group participates in several defined
contribution plans, under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into separate entities.
The Group has no further payment obligations
once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expense when they are due and are reduced
by contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
the contributions. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a
cash refund or a reduction in future payments is
available.

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-
based compensation plan, under which the
entity receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options)
of the Group. The fair value of the employees’
services received in exchange for the grant of
the options is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted, including any
market performance conditions (for example, an
entity’s share price) and excluding the impact of
any non-market vesting conditions (for example,
profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market
vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are expected
to vest. At each financial position date, the
Group revises its estimates of the number of
options that are expected to vest. It recognises
the impact of the revision of original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the option issuer
issues new shares. The proceeds received net
of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital (nominal value) and
share premium.
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B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Employee Benefits (continued)

(b)

Share-based compensation (continued)

The Group recognises the effects of modifications
that increase the total fair value of the share-
based compensation arrangement or are
otherwise beneficial to the employees. The Group
shall include the incremental fair value granted
in the measurement of the amount recognised for
services received as consideration for the equity
instruments granted. If the modification occurs
during the vesting period, the incremental fair
value granted is included in the measurement of
the amount recognised for services received over
the period from the modification date until the
date when the modified equity instruments vest,
in addition to the amount based on the grant date
fair value of the original equity instruments, which
is recognised over the remainder of the original
vesting period.

If the Group cancels or settles a grant of equity
instruments during the vesting period, the Group
should treat this as an acceleration of vesting and
recognise immediately the amount that otherwise
would have been recognised for services received
over the remainder of the vesting period.

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of the
subsidiaries in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
is recognised over the vesting period
as an increase to interests in subsidiaries, with a

fair value,

corresponding credit to the Company’s equity.
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B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Employee Benefits (continued)

(c)

(d)

Share award scheme

The fair value of the share awards granted to
employees or directors is recognised as an
expense with a corresponding increase in credit to
share-based compensation reserve. The fair value
is measured with reference to the Company’s
share price at grant date taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the share
awards are granted. Where the vesting conditions
are met before becoming unconditionally entitled
to the share awards, the total estimated fair value
of the share awards is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the
share awards will be vested.

During the vesting period, the number of share
awards which are expected to be vested is
reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years
is charged/credited to the consolidated income
statement for the year of the review.

Upon vesting, the amount recognised as an
expense is credited to shares held for share
award scheme and debited to share-based
compensation reserve.

When the share award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it were vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award
is recognised immediately.

Employee leave entitlement and long service
payment

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service payment are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service payment as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the reporting date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

108 Frontier Services Group Limited 4t L AR5 4 B AR A 7]

2

TEEHBRBE )

2.22 EERFHGE)

(c)

(d)

Vg

RYREREZTZRNERZ
RABEERSER - AR
B < 2 i E & R Et AR
FEIBI - RAEBERELEEHR
ReERARBZREFE X
Bt R IR H B 8RB 1& 2 16R 3K
R AGRAF o fied 57 JBB A6RA°F 00 J2R R F
FERM RBAEER - T
Ny RS e B 2 ARt
% BOEBEFAAER
RENFBRAED

REBHE  SHBEBETH
B2 B SR B B TR o
HAEFEERZRFAAE
BZEMHE  REEFEZ
A WERIR, G

FER BRAK/ERZBE
AR D BBy At 81 2 B An
W PARAD A 2 ffE B0
o

fi B 1 SR B I 8 - H & iR
RBANERNEHENEFS -

b BB B 58 % 2R D 1) R e R 2
EREM -

BEETEFZBRARRARE
&

1E?ET§7EZ¢@§&EE§HE%
ﬁ)}ﬁ\ygu+%1§§ﬁ#ﬁ§wu °
fﬁﬁﬁéﬁiiﬁ%ﬁ,ﬁﬁt%ﬁﬂﬁ
i fhaT R Z F R R Rk
BEAELEE -

BEAZEZRBREEREE
PR 77 T IAHERR ©



2

B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Employee Benefits (continued)

(e)

()

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses, based on performance and takes
into consideration the profit attributable to the
Company’s shareholders. The Group recognises
a provision where contractually obliged or where
there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before the
normal retirement date, or whenever an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits at the earlier of the following dates:
(a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits; and (b) when the Group
recognises costs for a restructuring that is within
the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment
of termination benefits. In the case of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to their present value.
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B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

(a)

(b)

Provision

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value
of the pre-tax expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific
to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

Contingent Liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can
also be a present obligation arising from past
events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will
be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial
statements. When a change in the probability of
an outflow occurs so that an outflow is probable, it
will then be recognised as a provision.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B BHRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ESHEEBESE)
POLICIES (continued)
2.24 Revenue Recognition 2.24 W ARER
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the WABEAEBNEEEEHREE
consideration received or receivable for the sales ERERBmME WS ERREZA

of goods and services in the ordinary course of the
Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added
tax and discounts, and after eliminating sales within the
Group.

The Group recognises revenue, when it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity
and when specific criteria have been met for each of
the Group’s activities as described below. The Group
bases its estimates of return on historical results, taking
into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Where the contracts include multiple performance
obligations, the transaction price will be allocated to
each performance obligation based on the stand-alone
selling prices. Where these are not directly observable,
they are estimated based on expected cost plus margin.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of
the good or service is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the good or service
may be transferred over time or at a point in time.

Control of the good or service is transferred over time if
the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or service. Specific criteria where
revenue is recognised are described below.
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B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Revenue Recognition (continued)

(a)

Rendering of services

Service fee income in relation to the provision of
aviation and logistics services, freight forwarding,
ground logistics and warehousing services,
security and infrastructure services is recognised
in the accounting period in which the services are
rendered.

Aircraft management services and aircraft
maintenance services is recognised over the
period of the service contract as the customer
receives and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance as the Group performs.
The Group has a right to invoice with reference
to its services provided to the customer at a pre-
determined rate as stated in the contract. The
Group usually issues invoices to its customers
on a monthly basis with a 30-90 days credit term.
The Group’s billings to its customers are invoiced
at amounts that correspond with the value of the
Group’s performance completed to date based on
the pre-determined rates as stated in the service
contracts and the Group applies the practical
expedient to simplify disclosure regarding
remaining performance obligations.

Service fee income in relation to the provision of
financial market information is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the period of the service
contract.

Payment for aviation and logistics services, freight
forwarding, ground logistics and warehousing
services, aircraft maintenance services, security
and infrastructure services are not due from the
customers until the services are completed, with a
30-90 days credit term.

Payment for aircraft management services would
be made by customers before the commencement
of services. For financial market information
services, the customer pays the fixed amount at
the commencement of service contract. A contract
liability is recognised for payments which exceed
the services rendered.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B BHRRMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Revenue Recognition (continued)

2.25

(b) Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised
when control of the products has transferred
to the customer, being when the products
are delivered to the customer, and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the products. Payment
of the transaction price is due immediately when
goods are delivered.

(c) Reimbursement income

Reimbursement income of disbursement recharge
is recognised when the service is performed by
the respective supplier.

The Group does not expect to have significant contracts
where the period between the transfer of the promised
goods or services to the customer and payment by the
customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the
Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for
the time value of money.

Borrowing Costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are
recognised in the consolidated income statement in the
period in which they are incurred.
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B BHRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREHMESE)
POLICIES (continued)
2.26 Leases 2.26 #HE

As explained in Note 2.2 above, the Group has changed
its accounting policy for leases where the Group is
the lessee. The new policy is described below and the
impact of the change in Note 2.2.

Until 31 December 2018, leases of property, plant and
equipment where the Group, as lessee, had substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership were classified as
finance leases. Finance leases were capitalised at the
lease’s inception at the fair value of the leased property
or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease
payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of
finance charges, were included in other short-term and
long-term payables. Each lease payment was allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost
was charged to profit or loss over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period. The
property, plant and equipment acquired under finance
leases was depreciated over the asset's useful life or
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease
term if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group
will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership were not transferred to the Group
as lessee were classified as operating leases. Payments
made under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) were charged to profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date
at which the leased asset is available for use by the
Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group has elected not to separate
lease and non-lease components and instead accounts
for these as a single lease component.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B BHRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

TEETHBRBE )

2.26 Leases (continued) 2.26 HE(#Z)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
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Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability, if any.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.
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B BHRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FTESHEEBREE)
POLICIES (continued)
2.26 Leases (continued) 2.26 HE(E)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received, and makes adjustments specific
to the lease.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs; and

o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
Low-value assets comprise office equipment.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B BHRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.27

2.28

Related Parties

A person or entity is considered to be related to the
Group if:

(a) a person or a close member of that person’s family
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; (ii)
has significant influence over the Group; or (iii) is
a member of the key management personnel of
the Group;

(b) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group, which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others;

(c) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member;

(d) both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(e) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(f) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(g) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); or

(h)  a person identified in (a) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity or of a parent
of the entity.

Interest Income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction
of the loss allowance).
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B BHRRMEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial Risk Factors

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks
which result from its operating, investing and financing
activities. Management periodically analyses and
reviews measures to manage the Group’s exposure
to market risk (including foreign currency risk and
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. Generally, the Group employs a
conservative strategy regarding its risk management
and has not used any derivatives or other instruments
for hedging purposes.

At 31 December 2019, the Group’s financial instruments
mainly consisted of trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables, cash and bank balances, borrowings,
lease liabilities, trade payables, other payables and
accruals, and financial assets at FVOCI.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group currently operates mainly in
Hong Kong, Kenya, South Africa, Malta and
Mainland China.

For operations in Hong Kong, most of the
transactions are denominated in HK$ and
United States dollars (“US$”). The exchange
rate of US$ against HK$ is relatively stable
and the related currency exchange risk is
considered minimal.

For operations in Africa, most of the
transactions are denominated in USS$,
Kenyan Shillings (*“KES”) and South African
Rand (“ZAR”). No financial instrument was
used for hedging purposes for the year
due to the prohibitive cost of available
hedging opportunities. The Group is closely
monitoring the currency exchange risk of
KES and ZAR and will consider the use of
financial instrument for hedging purposes, if
necessary.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

B BHRRMEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(a)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

(i1)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

For operations in Malta, most of the
transactions are denominated in Euro
(“EUR”) and US$. No financial instrument
was used for hedging purposes for the
year. The Group is closely monitoring the
currency exchange risk of EUR and will
consider the use of financial instrument for
hedging purposes, if necessary.

For operations in Mainland China, most
of the transactions are denominated in
Renminbi (“RMB”). The conversion of RMB
into foreign currencies is subject to the rules
and regulations of the foreign exchange
controls promulgated by the Chinese
government. The Group is closely monitoring
the currency exchange risk of RMB and is
looking for any opportunities to mitigate the
currency exchange risk of RMB.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk arises from bank balances
and deposits and borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk which
is partially offset by bank balances and
deposits held at variable rates. Borrowings
obtained at fixed rates expose the Group
to fair value interest rate risk. During the
year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s
borrowings were denominated in US$, EUR
and ZAR (2018: same). The Group has not
used any derivative financial instruments to
hedge its cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk.
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B BHRRMEE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial Risk Factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(continued)

At 31 December 2019, if interest rate
had increased/decreased by 100 basis
points (2018: 100 basis points) with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s
loss after tax and accumulated losses
would have been HK$3,635,000 (2018:
HK$8,243,000) lower/higher.

The sensitivity analysis above had been
determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the financial
position date and had been applied to the
exposure to interest rate risk for financial
instruments in existence at that date,
and that all other variables had remained
constant. The stated increase/decrease
represented management’s assessment of
reasonably possible changes in interest
rates over the period until the next annual
financial position date. The analysis was
performed on the same basis for 2018.

(b) Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts
of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the respective notes to the consolidated
financial statements. The Group’s exposure to
credit risk is mainly related to its contractual cash
flows of trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, and cash and bank balances.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

B BHRRMEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has two types of financial assets that
are subject to the expected credit loss model:

° trade receivables for sales of goods and
from the provisions of services; and

° other financial assets at amortised cost

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject
to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial. Majority
of bank balances of the Group are generally
placed in short to medium term deposits and
investments with reputable banks.

The Group has certain bank balances placed at
a bank in Malta which was under administration
as required by the local financial authority as
at 31 December 2019. The bank released the
fund to account holders subsequent to year end.
Therefore, no impairment loss has been identified.
Further details has been disclosed in Note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements.

(i) Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies
the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over a period of 12
to 36 months before 31 December 2019 and
2018 respectively, and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within
this period. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers
to settle the receivables.
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B BHRRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial Risk Factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Trade receivables (continued)

Trade receivables are written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against
the same line item.

The expected credit loss for trade
receivables not yet due is close to zero and
based on an expected credit loss rate of
approximately 0.15% to 0.92% (2018: 0.03%
to 0.26%) for trade receivables past due, the
impact of the expected loss is assessed to
be immaterial and no further loss allowance
is needed under the expected credit loss
model.

(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group applies a 12-month expected
credit loss on other financial assets at
amortised cost. Management considered
among other factors, analysed historical
pattern and concluded that the expected
credit loss for other financial assets at
amortised cost to be immaterial as the
credit risk is assessed as low. During the
year, impairment loss on other receivables
of HK$4,857,000 was recognised in profit or
loss (2018: Nil).

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group implements a prudent liquidity risk
management to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements for maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and long term.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B BHRRMEE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HKEBREE#E)
3.1 Financial Risk Factors (continued) 3.1 BERREZEE)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) mEBELEEE)
Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying EREBEBREELETED
businesses, the Group aims to maintain flexibility AEERNFERSRITE A
in funding by keeping committed credit facilities ZARAEERE(MNKE)#
available from various banks if necessary. The FEEZ2BEHE - AEB 2R
liquidity risk of the Group is primarily attributable HESRERLEZERE EHEN
to trade payables, other payables and accruals, B - ﬁ{ﬁﬂgﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁgﬁ‘f%
borrowings and lease liabilities. B ExEBAEARE o
The amounts of the contractual undiscounted cash EMEBBEZENARTRAESR
flows of the financial liabilities were summarised SELEMENT :
as follow:

More than
1 year but
On Within  less than More than

demand 1 year 5 years 5 years
BB-—F
RER —FR {ELPREF BBIF
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TET FET FET

At 31 December 2019 RZE-hE+=A=1+-H

Trade payables BHENTE 81,305 - - - 81,305

Other payables and Hit AR ERENER
accruals — 132,606 — — 132,606
Borrowings B - 4,546 - - 4.546
Lease liabilities HERE - 70,632 55,421 4,475 130,528
81,305 207,784 55,421 4,475 348,985

At 31 December 2018 RZE-NF+=-A=1+-H

Trade payables BHENFTE 87,641 — — — 87,641
Other payables and Hit AR ERENER
accruals — 96,247 — — 96,247
Borrowings =t — 20920 48,846 — 69,766
Other long-term HitREAR
liabilities — — 7,237 — 7,237
87,641 117,167 56,083 — 260,891
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B BHRRMEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

Capital Management

The Group regards its total equity as capital. The
primary objective of the Group’s capital management is
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders to support the Group’s
sustainable growth and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group reviews and manages its capital structure
and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares, raise new debt financing or sell
assets to reduce debt. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes during the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
a total liabilities-to-total assets ratio, which shows the
proportion of the Group’s assets being financed through
debt. During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Group’s strategy was to maintain the total liabilities-to-
total assets ratio around 50% (2018: 50%). The total
liabilities-to-total assets ratio at 31 December 2019 and
2018 was as follows:

3

PR E IR ()
3.2 EBEAXREH

AEBBREBRARER - NEHE
EAEBZIZENARREAEE
HELEZRS  RERRHEDR -
REMASHEBEERHENS  UX
RAKBEZHERRRAERRESR
REEBA - BURE AR

AEBREERN 2 BLige RE
BHEREBIKEFELHAE - B
HRRBREERNERE - NEBETH
BEXNFRRZES  REEART
BRR - BITHR REHEBRE
FHEEENRIER - BHE-F
—NER_E-NE+-_A=+—
HIEFE  WESR N BERSB
RIELHEE - REBEX TR EMRI
FEEMERERZE -

AEBIZREEEELRERAESE
NER  ZUERBRAESEEEMN
EREMF L - BE=ZT—NF
+TZA=1+—HLFE AEEZ
RBEAERBABEELERNA
50%(=ZZF—N\F :50%) c R=Z
—NERZZFE-—N\F+_A=+—
Hz@aBEEELRNT

2019 2018
—E2-hF =5 =&

HK$’000 HK$'000

FETT FAET

Total liabilities BfE8E 379,810 314,462

Total assets BEMAE 1,223,423 1,505,983
Total liabilities-to-total assets REEEELE

ratio 31% 21%
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B BHRRMEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

Fair Value Estimation

The different levels of financial instruments carried at
fair value have been defined as follows:

(a) Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

(b) Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (level 2); and

(c) Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

The fair value of debt instruments at FVOCI at 31
December 2019 with respect to the listed investments
amounting to HK$Nil (31 December 2018: HK$20,000)
is based on the quoted market prices of the listed
investments. The instruments are included in level 1 at
31 December 2018.

The fair value of equity instruments at FVOCI at 31
December 2019 with respect to the unlisted investments
amounting to HK$4,000 (31 December 2018: HK$4,000)
which are not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific
estimates. If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable data, the instrument is included in
level 3.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there were
no transfers of financial instruments between levels 1, 2
and 3 (2018: same).
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B BHRRMEE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

4.1 Impairment of Goodwill

The Group conducts reviews annually whether goodwill
has suffered any impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amounts of CGUs have been determined based on
value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs
of disposal. These calculations require the use of
judgements and estimates. Management judgement
is required in the area of asset impairment particularly
in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that
may indicate that the related asset values may not be
recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying amount of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
being the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset in
the business; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in preparing cash flow projections
including whether these cash flow projections are
discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the
assumptions selected by management in assessing
impairment, including the discount rates or the growth
rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s
financial condition and results of operations.

Details of the key assumptions selected by management
in assessing impairment of goodwill are set out in Note
15 of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4

B BHRRMEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.2

4.3

Impairment of Intangible Assets, Property, Plant and
Equipment and Right-of-Use Assets

Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or change in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The
recoverable amounts have been determined based on
the higher of value-in-use calculations or fair value less
costs to sell calculations.

The calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates. Management judgement is required in the
area of asset impairment particularly in assessing:
(i) whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(if) whether the carrying amount of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher
of fair value less costs to sell and net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset in the business; and (iii) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing
cash flow projections including whether these cash flow
projections are discounted using an appropriate rate.
Changing the assumptions selected by management
in assessing impairment, including the discount
rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could affect the net present value used in
the impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s
financial position and results of operations.

Impairment of Trade Receivables

The loss allowances for trade receivables are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period.
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4

B BHRRMEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.4

Income Taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations, including
the aircraft leasing arrangement between the Group
companies that are structured on an arm’s length basis,
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues, if any, based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, including the tax position of those intra-group
transactions, such differences will impact the current
and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all
unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the losses
can be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred income
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised in respect
of the unremitted earnings of subsidiaries in Mainland
China generated subsequent to 31 December 2007
and Africa, except to the extent that the parent is able
to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred income tax liabilities
to be recognised, which is based upon the estimated
timing of dividend distribution.
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B BHRRMEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as
the Board of the Company. Management has determined the
operating segments based on the internal reports reviewed
by the Board of the Company that are used to assess
performance and allocate resources. The Group’s operating
segments are structured and managed separately according
to the services provided by different strategic business units,
and the services offered are subject to risks and returns that
are different from those of the other operating segments.

During the year, management has changed its internal
performance review to align more closely with the Group’s
strategic decision and development of which the previous
operating segment of Aviation and Logistics Business was
separated into two operating segments, namely Aviation and
Logistics Business and Security, Insurance and Infrastructure
Business to reflect the latest business development of the
Group. The comparative amounts of the segment information
in 2018 has been reclassified to reflect such change.

The performance and the financial position under each
operating segment are summarised as follows:

(i) Aviation and Logistics Business (‘AL Business”) —
Provision of aviation and logistics related services;

(i) Security, Insurance and Infrastructure Business (“Sll
Business”) - Provision of security, insurance and
infrastructure related services; and

(iiiy ~ Financial Market Information Business (“FMI Business”)
— Provision of online financial market information.

Others include corporate income and expenses, other direct
investments and others.

The Board of the Company assesses segment performance
based on reportable operating result.
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CRR R E T

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, results and certain assets,
liabilities and expenditure information for the year ended 31
December 2019 by operating segments is as follows:

5 DIERGE)

AEEBE—
FEZHBA -
XERREE

—h&+=-_A=+—H1
%%& STEE - AELFA
DHTWT ¢

AL SlI FMI
Business Business Business Others
RER ZRRR SRS
NHRER REBERK BRER it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FAET
Revenue from contracts with RERFALZHA
customers (from external (REYHNER)
customers) 682,497 27,463 15,960 - 725,920
Depreciation nE 49,950 4,163 556 172 54,841
Amortisation B 1,605 14 - - 1,619
Provision for impairment of nE  BERFENR
property, plant and equipment RIEHERE 2 RERE
and assets held-for-sale 64,509 - - - 64,509
Impairment losses on financial SREEZHE
assets BB 14,286 - - - 14,286
Operating loss LEFR (178,139) (86,094) (778) (104,391) (369,402)
Interest income FEWA 12,045
Finance costs BEMA (10,360)
Share of losses of associates [ NG (3,760)
Loss before income tax BRETEHABE (371,477)
Income tax credit e e 14,730
Loss for the year FEBR (356,747)
Total assets BEBE 650,371 175,880 2,524 394,648 1,223,423
Total assets include: BELEARE
Interests in associates N NP 3 - 52,059 - 1,826 53,885
Total liabilities fEeE 285,710 64,024 6,230 23,846 379,810
Capital expenditure ERE 14,773 8,139 53 1,661 24,626
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B BHRRMEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 ZSWERGE)
An analysis of the Group’s revenue, results and certain assets, AEBEHE-_T—\F+ZA=+—8H1

FEZHBA - %%& STEE  AfERA

liabilities and expenditure information for the year ended 31

December 2018 by operating segments is as follows: SERILEED AT ¢
AL Sl FMI
Business Business Business Others Total
iz ZR - RR SRR
MinEH REREH EHES Hity @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(mE5) (E=51) (mE5))
Revenue from contracts with REZEPEHZHA
customers (from external (REHNEF)
customers) 843,135 6,141 17,472 — 866,748
Depreciation bk 27,896 1,005 77 96 29,074
Amortisation B 8,236 = - — 8,236
Provision for impairment of other & EEZ
intangibles HERE 4,087 = = - 4087
Provision for impairment of mE  BERRENR
property, plant and equipment REHEREL
and assets held-for-sale REkE 8,318 - = — 8,318
Impairment losses on financial SREERERE
assets 2,132 — — — 2,732
Operating loss BERR (120,407) (55,892) (1,071) (81,878) (250,248)
Interest income FEBA 12,426
Finance costs RERA (13,928)
Share of losses of associates BT BE (1,517)
Loss before income tax BRETEHAEE (262,267)
Income tax credit FiEHiEE 5,644
Loss for the year FEER (256,623)
Total assets BEBE 632,742 92,697 2720 777,824 1,505,983
Total assets include: EEBERE:
Interests in associates REE AR 2 R = 6,202 - 1,872 8,074
Total liabilities BELeE 255,116 22,051 6,571 30,724 314,462
Capital expenditure EXRY 16,089 27,479 68 457 44,093
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B BHRRMEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 Z2®BERGE)
The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group's RRARMRES - REBERBEHINEF 2
revenue from external customers by geographical regions is W AR RSB D a0 ¢
as follows:
2019 2018
—E-hF =2 \Es
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Africa FEM 462,903 506,957
Europe B 115,375 151,834
The People’s Republic of China R ARFEAME
(“PRC") ([#E])
Mainland China AR A i 102,494 145,737
Hong Kong B 33,910 56,381
Others Hfh 11,238 5,839
725,920 866,748
Revenue derived from external customers with amounts equal FEBINEEZIMARERS SR AEER
to or above 10% of the Group’s revenue is as follows: WA10% 2 S EEmT :
2018
Operating E—\F
Segment HK$’000 HK$'000
ReEHE FET FAET
Customer A AL Business 186,954 234,494
BEPH iz R
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B BHRRMEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 S2HERGE)
A reconciliation of the total of the reportable segments’ assets AERHBEELERAEEEELEZ
to the Group’s total assets is as follows: IR -
2019 2018
—E-hF ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Restated)
(&=7)
Total assets for reportable segments  A] 2R D HEEEE 828,775 728,159
Other direct investments HEEEE 6,650 7,706
Corporate assets TEEE 387,998 770,118
Total assets of the Group AEBEEBE 1,223,423 1,505,983
The total of non-current assets other than financial instruments Mer TERBRIEMESHMEEINIER
and deferred income tax assets by geographical regions is as BEABEIRMWEEI ST :
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Africa E 270,699 228,712
Europe BN 40,941 73,117
The PRC =a)
Mainland China AR A i 20,523 9,616
Hong Kong B 4,651 1,604
Others H A 28,826 25,878
365,640 338,927
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B BHRRMEE

6 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6 XRBEEFEHAZBA
CUSTOMERS
(a) An analysis of revenue is as follows: (a) WADHWT :
2019 2018
—EB-hF =% =\
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETL
Revenue from provision of aviation R B R R
and logistics services BR 7 2 Wg A 682,497 843,135
Revenue from provision of security, RKEREZR  REX
insurance and infrastructure EERBZBA
services 27,463 6,141
Revenue from provision of online REREZR EERTS
financial market information A ON 15,960 17,472
725,920 866,748
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REREALHZWMADF :
customers:
2019 2018
—E-hF ===
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETL
Timing of revenue recognition TR 2 5 [
At a point in time R — R 669,540 831,184
Over time % B ) 56,380 35,564
Revenue from contracts with KERFPEHZHA
customers (from external (REEINE)
customers) 725,920 866,748
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6 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6 XRBEFEHAZBAE)
CUSTOMERS (continued)
(b) Liabilities related to contracts with customers (b) EFEHEBEARE
The Group has recognised the following liabilities AEEEERTINELPEAEHAE
related to contracts with customers: & :
2019 2018
—E-hE —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Provision of aviation and logistics HEMZE R Y7 AR 7%
services 6,155 2,929
Provision of online financial market R4 F & @™Hi5
information AR 4,733 5,203
Total current contract liabilities BEi & 48 E8% 10,888 8,132
(i)  Revenue recognised in relation to contract (i) BEHEEEZZKA

liabilities

TRERARERAEESLH

The following table shows how much of the

revenue recognised in the current reporting period BERANMALE -
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.
2019 2018
—EB-hF ==\
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEITL
Revenue recognised that was FTAFYIEHNBELRS
included in the contract 2 B RERIRA
liabilities balance at the
beginning of the year
Provision of aviation and Rz KR
logistics services BR7 2,929 4,032
Provision of online financial %Ef/\,?iﬁraﬂm%-
market information AR 5,203 5,523
8,132 9,555
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B BHRRMEE

7 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

An analysis of employee benefit expenses, including directors’

emoluments, is as follows:

EBERAMAX

BRERMNFAX (2

BREEEM) DM

2019 2018
—E-hF =2 \Es

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Salaries and bonuses Fre M4 194,882 172,793
Share-based compensation PAREAD S+ 2 /i {E 12,169 11,379
Pension costs — defined contribution  RIKEKAR — FREHZETE
plans 5,915 5,164
Termination benefits BER AR A 1,906 1,609
Unutilised annual leave REAFR 914 607
Other benefits (Note) H A2 A (K4 52) 25,110 20,170
240,896 211,722
Note: Mjg o
Other benefits include medical insurance, travel insurance and other HAi B B ERERRE « REFREREMEERN

statutory welfare contributions.
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B BHRRMEE

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)

(a)

Directors’ Emoluments

Details of directors’ emoluments are as follows:

Name of director
£1:54

Salaries
it

BEBABX(E)
(a) EEH=
EEMEFREINOT

Bonuses
bzl

Contributions
o pension
schemes
FUEHE

Share-based Other

compensation benefits
DEVEGPL | SfeRA

HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK§ 000
f#r &1 &1 7&i i fi#r i
Note (i)
bt
Year ended 31 December 2019 BEZE-NEroAzt-ALER
Mr. Chang Znenming (Note () FREREE ) - - - - - - -
Mr. Erik D. Prince Erik D. Prince 15 - (X 2,665 - - 1,175 8,267
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson ShERE 120 - - - - - 10
Mr. Luo Ning i - - - - - - -
01 Hua Dongyi 3-8t - 50 2488 0 12,169 it 0§
Mr. Hu Qinggang (Note (i) BRALE ) - 1,609 13 13 - K] 1908
Mr. Yap Fat Sun, Henry 2t 549 - - - - - 549
Professor Lee Hau Leung AR 549 - - - - - 549
Dr. Harold 0. Demuren Harold 0. Demuren 549 - - - - - 549
Total & 1,767 11,940 5,266 175 12,169 1,316 3,633
Year ended 31 December 2018 BE%-NEtoAT-RLER
Mr. Chang Zhenming (Mot (i) FREREN ) - - - - - - -
Mr. Erk D. Prince Erk D. Prince % = 427 2539 - - 1,176 1952
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johinson RRERE ) - = - = - 1
M. Luo Ning Bt - - - - - - -
Dr. Hua Dongyi £R-ft - 5,606 2351 @ 1379 9 194171
Mr. Hu Qinggang (Note (i) BERRERE ) = 1605 14 13 = 2 1693
Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry ik 549 = = = = = 549
Professor Lee Hau Leung RAR 549 = = = = = 549
D). Harold 0. Demuren Harold 0. Demuren &1 549 - - - - - 549
Total ot 1,767 11,448 5024 175 13719 1296 31,089
Notes: Htat
(i) Other benefits include medical insurance, travel (i) Hih B H 25 BB RE « IRERR R
insurance and other statutory welfare contributions. HAEERMERK -
(i)  Mr. Chang Zhenming was appointed as the chairman of (i) BIRBLER-_FT—N\F+=-ARH
the Board and a non-executive director on 6 December BREEREESERFIENTES -
2018.
(i)  Mr. Hu Qinggang was resigned as an executive director (i) WEREER-_T-_TF=A=+@0

on 24 March 2020.

HERERTES -

Annual Report 2019 &R

137



7

B BHRRMEE

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

Directors’ Retirement Benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
director during the year ended 31 December 2019 in
respect of services as a director of the Company and its
subsidiary undertakings or in respect of other services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiary undertakings (2018: Nil).

Directors’ Termination Benefits

There were no other payments made to or receivable by
any director during the year ended 31 December 2019
in respect of the loss of office as a director, whether of
the Company or its subsidiary undertakings, or the loss
of other office in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company or its subsidiary undertakings
(2018: Nil).

Consideration Provided to Third Parties for Making
Available Directors’ Services

No consideration was provided to or receivable by third
parties for making available directors’ services during
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

Information about Loans, Quasi-Loans and Other
Dealings Entered Into by the Company or Its
Subsidiary Undertakings, Where Applicable, in
Favour of Directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in
favour of directors, their controlled bodies corporate and
connected parties during the year ended 31 December
2019 (2018: Nil).

Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts

There were no significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: Nil).
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B BHRRMEE

7 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)

(9)

Five Highest Paid Individuals

BEBABX(E)
(9) ERBEHFAL

FAREBLURSHFALEBE®
M(ZF—N\F: MU)EF - L
TR E7(a) ARER - FAEN T

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year include two (2018: two)
directors, whose emoluments are reflected in Note 7(a).

The emoluments payable to the remaining three (2018: EH=—fU(—ZTE—NF: =fu)A L
three) individuals during the year are as follows: ZE T :
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FAET
Basic salaries, other allowances and EA#F & - HEEE N
benefits in kind EWH = 8,897 7,888
Bonuses TE4L 594 585
Share-based compensation LARR 9 21+ 2 Fi (8 — —
Contributions to pension schemes RIREET B 84 236
9,575 8,679

M FTIEE

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

Emolument bands MEEE

HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 87T —
3,000,000 78 7T

HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 & 7T —
4,000,000 7 7T
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B BHRRMEE

7 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued) 7 EEEFEAX(E)
(h) Remuneration of Senior Management (h)y SREEASEHH
Senior Management is set out in the session headed BREBRABHINEZRERE
under “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior BABZBRFAGI—& -
Management”.

EERIZEREBARB(REEER
ERASZMESRES S 2 AFE

Details of the emoluments payable to the members of
the senior management, including key management

personnel, other than Directors by band for the year are
set out below:

&R E

Emolument bands

B FIBmT

Number of individuals

AB

HK$1 — HK$500,000 174871 — 500,000% 7T 1 —
HK$500,001 - HK$1,000,000 500,001 77T —
1,000,000 %8 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 /87T -
1,500,00078 7T 5 5
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T —
2,000,000 78 7T — —
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 87T —
3,000,000 %8 7T 2 1
8 FINANCE COSTS 8 ®ERK
2019 2018
—E-hE —N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Interests on: THEBEZHE :
Bank loans RITER 944 3,448
Lease liabilities (Note 14(ii)) WBEEEMZ 14(i)) 7,566 6,294
Other loans HEMER — 1,300
Financing arrangement fee REZHER 1,916 3,468
Net exchange gain on borrowings B EH W F 5 (66) (582)
10,360 13,928

140 Frontier Services Group Limited 5t &2 fRISEB AR A



B BHRRMEE

9 INCOME TAX CREDIT 9 MEHESR
2019 2018
—ZE-hF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FAET
Current income tax BNERFT1S B
Outside Hong Kong BB AN =
Provision for the year REF RS (79) (675)
Adjustment in respect of prior BEFE AR
years (201) (213)
(280) (888)
Deferred income tax EEFTISHE
Outside Hong Kong BB AN R 15,010 6,532
14,730 5,644
Taxation on profits has been calculated on the estimated F R A 2 B I8 B 3% (i 51 FE 22 554 355 Fl| LA 24X
assessable profits for the year at the applicable rates of EEEKMERTR A 2RTERAMH
taxation prevailing in the countries/places in which the Group = BEREIBTEN - 2B REAHmEE -
operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.
No provision for Hong Kong profit tax has been provided WEMBBNEHRIEREE  RAEANEER
because the Group did not generate any assessable profit in N E A 8 T 7B B A (A FE =R 7 5

Hong Kong during the year. F o
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B BHRRMEE

9 INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 9 FMBHERE)
The reconciliation between the income tax credit on the FRNAEERFEHAIBEZAEHER
Group’s loss before income tax and the theoretical amount of HAAEAREBRASRARIZALTERZ
income tax credit that would arise using the domestic tax rate MENEEEZMSHERAZERESTEZ
applicable to each of the group companies for the year is as AR ¢
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hF =2 \Es
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F&T
Loss before income tax K RS i Al & 18 (371,477) (262,267)
Tax calculated at the domestic tax NEBBRERA B ERGFE 2
rates applicable in the respective 18
countries 49,066 35,576
Tax effects of; AR EIBRIELE
Income not subject to tax HAMB 2 A 3,397 1,189
Expenses not deductible for tax NAMEIRRIE 2 F X
purposes (29,624) (22,035)
Utilisation of previously ERZAIARERZ HIBEE
unrecognised tax losses 134 83
Tax losses not recognised RERZ RIEEE (11,232) (11,514)
Withholding tax TEHH 3,190 2,558
Adjustment in respect of prior years i@ FE K (201) (213)
Income tax credit FrisBiEse 14,730 5,644
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B BHRRMEE

10 LOSS FOR THE YEAR

10 FEBIEB

The Group’s loss for the year is arrived at after charging/

AEBEFEBREMR GtA) THF

(crediting): 15 :
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZT—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FAET
(a) Rental expenses HeEH
Rentals on land and buildings T RIEFHES 14,029 28,867
Rentals on equipment REHEE 3,177 4,215
Rentals on motor vehicle REHRS 400 356
17,606 33,438
(b) Depreciation and amortisation EREH
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ FHEEERE ()
(Note) 32,868 —
Depreciation of property, plant and  #3 - #23 KR ETE
equipment (Note 13) (K15t 13) 21,973 29,074
Amortisation of other intangibles T B B g
(Note 15) (W13 15) 1,619 8,192
Amortisation of prepaid operating SELE - ish-wichex £
lease rentals (Note) (K1) — 44
56,460 37,310
(c) Other operating expenses Hit&B5& A
Professional and consultancy fee HERFBHRHER 16,410 10,067
Travelling expenses =hkE A 17,563 17,506
Net exchange losses T 5 18 F 5 12,267 7,545
Net loss on disposal of property, HEME - W REE
plant and equipment o=V — 977
Auditor’s remuneration BB £
Audit services EZR 3,080 3,010
Non-audit services HEZIRTE 395 501
Provision for inventories (Note 20)  TF&# & (Kt 20) 1,456 4,030
Write-off of purchase option in an MEER —REEREZ
associate e AR e 3,907 —
Others HAh 63,245 51,776
118,323 95,412
(d) Other income and other gains Hih W A R H bz
Warehouse income BREBA (4,512) (3,959)
Write-back of other payables H b fE S 5RIB [ (798) (4,507)
Net gain on disposal of property, HEME  EENREZ
plant and equipment gy (1,048) —
Others HAh (589) (405)
(6,947) (8,871)
Note: As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases during the Hiat - ARAFERNBT BB RELERFE 165k

year, depreciation of right-of-use assets was recognised, further
details of the impact of the adoption and of such change were
set out in Notes 2.2 and 14(ii) of these consolidated financial

statements, respectively.

HE BWEREEENED THER KA
ZEREMREE 2iE—FFEIRBNZER
BB MERM 2.2 & 14(ii) °
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12

B BHRRMEE

LOSS PER SHARE 11 SREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share for the year is NEFEFREREETIRIEARRD B R ER
based on the Group’s loss attributable to the equity holders of BEAREAEEERBUARFERARETLER
the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary R 2 INMEEHEETE -
shares in issue during the year.
The basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 $F$¢fgﬁﬁﬁ§*’_ﬁﬁ|\jﬁﬂﬁﬁ7§fﬁﬁﬁz
December 2019 were the same because the effect of the VB BRI (R SR e 1 (B I8 Al K ik
assumed conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares Z{Ef‘ﬁﬂx%ﬁ%?ﬁ&r‘jiﬁﬁ@izﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%'_
outstanding, including the conversion of the exchangeable F)EEREBNE BB E T —h%F
preference shares and the exercise of the outstanding share TZA=tT—RALEFEZERERNREE
options, during the year was anti-dilutive. E5EAE R ©
The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue HE_Z-NEF+_A=+T—RHLFEZ
during the year ended 31 December 2019 was the number of E?é‘ﬁ TR NETHIBAD BITEER
ordinary shares in issue, as there was no new ordinary shares 2 - REAITEREEBRETEETH
issued under the share option schemes. LB o
2019 2018
—E-hF —E—)\%E
Weighted average number of ordinary & %77 % @A~ f#E
shares in issue T8 2,344,818,660 1,902,492,380
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Group’s loss attributable to the equity ZANA &I AER A ARG
holders of the Company REEEE (354,793) (258,846)
DIVIDENDS 12 RE
The Board of the Company does not recommend the payment ARRESETERENEE=Z—NF

of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
Nil).
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B BHRRMEE

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE

13 Y% BBERRENBFELERE

Leasehold Aircraft Plant, Trucks,
improvements and aviation machinery Irailers Motor (Office Fumiture
and hangars equipment andfooling  and containers vehicles equipment and fixures Total
EENZRE e 5 HERy i
RifE  RERNERE RI& RExE i #EiE hAREE &t
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK§ 000 HKS 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
1748 it it 1718 i 748 T#r T
Nots (i) Note (i)
i) i)
At1 January 2018 H-%-NE-B-A
Cost i 5839 268,389 13809 18572 8,803 9323 3467 348202
Accumlated depreciaton ZifERAE
and impaiment (1639) (46,826) (T.744) (7:321) (464 (5.918) (1,158) (75,450)
Net carrying amount K5 4,206 201,563 6,065 11,245 3969 3405 2309 2782
Year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=3-N\EtZAz1-
BLEE
(pening net carrying amount EfRESE 4206 241,563 6,065 1,245 3969 3406 2309 22,752
Additons BE 102 2443 181 3483 4878 1916 759 14382
Disposals (Note 35() HEdZ39) - (6,989) - ] - (%) - (11%)
Impaiment (Note (i) REW) - (5.99) - - - - - (5.99)
Depreciation (Note 10) Elin) (482) (19,705) (1,883) (3,793) (1,205) (1.484) (522) (29074)
Other ransfer e (825) 17,3 40 - = 125 = 17,23
Exchange differences EizE U] 13% (678) (1379) (187) (%) 1) (1053)
Closing net carrying amount EAEARE 3600 229918 408 9,500 1475 4074 2476 21,128
At 31 December 2018 H=8-NEtR=1-8
Cost i 5,105 23518 13,168 19,284 13094 11,142 414 30025
Accumulated depreciaton ZifERIE
and impaiment (2109) (63,600 (9,0m3) (9784) (5619) (7,068) (1,648) (98.897)
Net carmying amount BHRE 3600 29918 4,085 9500 1475 4 2478 21,128
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CRR R E T

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 13 X HEBERIKBENSFLEEE
ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE (continued) (#%&)
Leasehold Aircraft Plant, Trucks,
improvements and aviation machinery trailers Motor Office Furniture
and hangars equipment andtooling  and containers vehicles equipment and fixtures
- LER U LR
RBRRZIE RI& REER ;i I fhngE
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HK$'000
747 &1 i i i 7&i f#r i
Note (i) Note (i)
Vear ended §f December 2019 #2-3-15+R
It-BLEE
Opening net carrying amount FEASE 3600 29918 4,085 9,500 1475 40m 2476 21,128
Adjustment for change n SR ERE
accountng policy (Hito2)
(Note 22) - (94,562) - (2,004) - - - (97,466)
Restated apering net book EEEFREE)
amount 3600 135,356 4,085 6,59 475 4 2478 163,662
Addiions RE 461 - 530 1,251 9,500 1624 1,563 20,3
Disposals (Note 33(1) &) (45) (3,637) (554) (249) (34) (119) (%9) (5,394)
Impairment (Note () and i) VR - (59,020) (5,166) - - (14) (309) (64,509)
Depreciation (Note 10) e (312) (11,030) (2,075) (3,457) (3.041) (1,351) (647) (219m3)
Other tansfer (Note (i) AR W) - (6,209) - - - - - (6,209)
Exchange differences EiZE 1 (407) 0% £2 (1) 9 § i
Closing net carrying amount FRERSE 3,288 55,083 2,646 4,203 13574 4,203 3,050 45,087
At 31 December 2019 R-3-RET=AZt-A
Cost ik 55% 104739 18,719 16,04 21907 121 5609 185,826
Accumulated depreciaton ZiffERNE
and impaiment (2,297) (49,686) (16,073) (12,721) (8,353) (8,150) (2,559) (99,839)
Net carmying amount EmSE 3288 55,083 2,646 4203 13574 4,223 3,050 85,087

146 Frontier Services Group Limited 5t ZARTEEBE AR A 7



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL S

B BHRRMEE

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

Leased assets as at 31 December 2018

The Group leases various aircraft and trailers under non-
cancellable finance lease arrangements. The lease terms are
between 4 and 10 years and the ownership of the aircraft and
trailers lies within the Group. The net carrying amount of the
aircraft and trailers under finance leases at 31 December is as
follows:

¥k - BERRBNEELEEE

(#)

Hat :

() RZB-—N\F+-A=+—BZHEEE
AEBRBETAIHEREAELHAESR
RERZWEE - BEANTFA4FEEZ10F M
R RIEENEERGAREAE - N+
A=+—H8 MERETREREEZRE
FEAT ¢

Aircraft and trailers

K HE ==

2018

—F-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Cost — capitalised finance leases A - ENMepEHE — 136,405
Accumulated depreciation and 2T E RRE

impairment — (38,939)

Net carrying amount BREVFE — 97,466

From 1 January 2019, leased assets are presented as a
separate line item in the consolidated statement of financial
position (Notes 2.2 and 14).

For the year ended 31 December 2019, provision for impairment
losses was made against non-performing aircraft amounting
to HK$20,094,000 (2018: HK$5,958,000). Such provision was
charged against the carrying amount of one (2018: four) aircraft
so as to reflect their recoverable amounts as at 31 December
2019. Other than this, an impairment loss of HK$5,489,000
(2018: HK$Nil) was made against certain machinery, office
equipment and furniture and fixtures so as to reflect their
recoverable amounts as at 31 December 2019. The recoverable
amounts of these aircraft, machinery, office equipment and
furniture and fixtures are determined by reference to prevailing
available market values of these assets.

Property, plant and equipment classified as assets held-for-sale

During the year ended 31 December 2018, a provision for
impairment of HK$2,360,000 was charged to the carrying
amount of the helicopter classified as held for sale to reflect
its market value. On 31 December 2018, this helicopter was
reclassified to property, plant and equipment with its fair value
of HK$17,238,000 due to the change in management’s intention
to lease out this helicopter following receipt of offers to lease.

BE-Z-hFE—A— B RELERKRA
MBRRRPIAEBERE 25 E2.2%
14) ©

iy #®HEZZE—NF+=-A=1+—BLEE"
BRTRMREFMEZ REGERESEA
20,094,000 7£(= & — J\ £ : 5,958,000
BIT) o mEEE —R(ZT—N\F: mFE)
Rz BREEF R ARBER-_ZT—A
E+—A=t—HAZAKESE - Ktz
N BB THES - AT REA KRR
EFEZ REE1E£ % /55,489,000 87 (=
T-N\F:TFL) ARBER=_Z—H
F+-A=+—AzAKEEE SR
e~ HERR A R A R R EE B T
DEZRFEEZRITTMERERE °

(i)  DERFEHEEEZME  HERERE

2T \F+_A=+—HLEE &
{E# % 2,360,000 B TIER D B ARBIELHE
ZEFHZ BREEED 2B E - ARBET
B -RZF—N\F+_A=+—8B ' BRE
BEXEEE  HEKIASREZLHERL
BEAH WEARBSETSOBEWE - #eE
NGt - A (EEA 17,238,000 47T ©
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B BHRRMEE

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iiiy ~ Property, plant and equipment classified as assets held-for-sale
(continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has reclassified three
helicopters from property, plant and equipment to assets held-
for-sale.

In January 2020, the Group entered into a disposal agreement
with an independent third party to dispose of three helicopters at
a net consideration of US$797,000 (equivalent to HK$6,209,000)
(the “Disposal”). The carrying amounts of the three helicopters
were impaired by HK$38,926,000 to HK$6,209,000, such that
they were measured at lower of their carrying amounts and fair
value less costs to sell. The recoverable amount of these three
helicopters of HK$6,209,000 was reclassified from non-current
assets to assets held-for-sale as at 31 December 2019. The
Disposal was completed in February 2020.

14 LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a
lessee.

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows
the following amounts relating to leases:

13 YR BERRENFFLEERE

(&)
et -
(iif)

14 #HE

(%)

DERBEHEEEZNE B Rk&AE
(#)

—NEFE+ZA=+—H AEEEH
—RETTHREYE BERIBEMOEE
FEHEARE ©

AN_ZT_TF—f AEEEBIYE=H
FIMHERRE AHE=LEA%K  FNK
{8 /% 797,000 3 7t (18 % 7 6,209,000 % 7T )
([HESBHE]) - Z£EAKZEEERRE
38,926,000 7% 7T & 6,209,0008 7T * M # 5
BREREERA £ BEARKSE BE) R
EXAE - RE=REAEZ ATRESE
6,209,000 8 TH T —NF+=_A=1+—
AZERBDEEETNDBEERIEHELSE -
PEFHER-_T_TF_A%K -

IR EAEBARBAZEE 2 &R -

()

RiGE B BRR KRR ZKRE

REMBRARBRATEBAEE
T HIE -

31 Dcember 1 January
2019 2019
(Note)
—E-hE —Z-hF
+=—A=+—H —H—H
(HtaE)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FEIT

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Aircraft Tt 85,744 94,562
Properties LES 56,149 58,808
Equipment B 1,105 —
Trailers HoEE 14,207 2,904
157,205 156,274

Lease liabilities HEEE

Current lease liabilities mBEEAE 63,397 27,776
Non-current lease liabilities EnBHEARE 48,267 88,482
111,664 116,258
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B BHRRMEE

14 LEASES (continued) 14 HEE)
(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement (i) REEHBRREREIZREE)
of financial position (continued)
Note: Htet
In the previous year, the Group only recognised lease assets EF AEERBEESSTERE17H
and lease liabilities in relation to leases that were classified HESERA I MENE | 2HEEHRATEE
as “finance leases” under HKAS 17 Leases. The assets were ERHERE - BERYAYWE  BBERR
presented in property, plant and equipment and the liabilities as & mMBaBER2IAREEERZ —&H °
part of the Group’s borrowings. For adjustments recognised on FAR—Z—NF— A —BREAEBHE
adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019, please refer to Note MEEBF16IKERZAE  FL2HME
2.2. 2.2-°
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2019 financial RIE—NUBEEAEFREEEZSRE
year were HK$33,899,000. /33,899,000 7T ©
(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income (i) REERaREIZRE
statement
The consolidated income statement shows the following REWaRETATEBAEE 2K
amounts relating to leases: 8 :
31 December
PLORE
—E-AE
+=H=+—H
HK$°000
FET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEEREXH
Aircraft TR 8,630
Properties M 21,337
Equipment B 432
Trailers il 2,469
32,868
Interest expense (included in finance costs)  H B2 (Gt ARIERK )
(Note 8) (H1e£8) 7,566
Expense relating to short-term leases FHAEHHEEZER
(included in rental expenses) (Note 10) (FtAMBEFAX) (H:2 10) 14,429
Expense relating to leases of low-value B E XN ESRARHAEE 2
assets that are not shown above as short- EEEEEREZAX
term leases (included in rental expenses) (GtATHE&ER) 3,177

Note:

As permitted under the specific transition provisions in the
standard, the Group has adopted HKFRS 16 retrospectively
from 1 January 2019, but has not restated comparatives for the
2018 reporting period.

The total cash outflow for leases in 2019 was HK$62,329,000.

pit -

RIBZERS ERE MR - AEED
BE=ZF-hF—-A—HBEBRABT BN
HELRNE 165 EXESEN —F—N\F
HEHRZ LLBRET -

RZFE-—HhhFZHE
62,329,000 BT o

S ReRHERER
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B BHRRMEE

14 LEASES (continued)

(iii) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouses,
equipment, aircraft and trailers. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 year to 6 years,
while the lease terms for the rent of a hangar from
Kenya Airports Authority was 45 years commencing from

1 June 2004.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
and are not used as security for borrowing purposes.

Variable lease payments

Leases of the Group do not contain variable payment
terms that are linked to an index or a rate.

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property and equipment leases across the
Group. These options are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the
Group’s operations. The extension and termination
options held, if any, are exercisable only by the Group
and not by the respective lessor.

Residual value guarantees

The Group did not provide residual value guarantees in
relation to leases during the year ended 31 December
2019 (2018: same).
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14 HEE)
(iii) ZEEZHETHREARESIRX

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

AEBHAEISHRAE - BE - R
B REREE - HEAH—RE
%%%—iﬁﬁi i 8 & fE 3o 1
LEERHERE A AE =T
ZFEN A —Hi#BsH45%F ©

MEGRTIZER EEETEN
YEEEZTNRGERE &GN - HE
R SRR R - S TAME
B PR -

AEBENK

AEEZAESTER /\% %a%(
Skt KA BE 2 AT B BARK

ERRAILRER

EREKRIEEZEMALTEESZ R
MERREBERE - ZFREEMBE
RAEEBEAKEXBAAZEELZ
REBRME - IFEREKILEE
BONB)ETNAAKETE M
B ATNAITE -

FIAEEER
BE—_Z—h&F+-_A=+—81t
FE - AEETERASRERG
BEER(ZZE—NAF : HR) -



B BHRRMEE

15 GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES 15 BERHMEREE
2019 2018
= “FNF
Other Other
Goodwill intangibles Goodwill intangibles Total
wE HtEVEE H mE HbEREE e
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Note (i) Note (ii) Note (i) Note (ii)
M) B (i) i) B (i)
At 1 January ®-A-H
Cost R 107,047 46,473 153,520 107,047 46,457 153,504
Accumulated amortisation and ~ ZifEERE(E
impairment (104,945) (32,721)  (137,666) |  (104,945) (20,438)  (125389)
Net carrying amount EmFE 2,102 13,752 15,854 2,102 26,019 28,121
Year ended 31 December BET-A=1-RLEE
Opening net carrying amount FOREFE 2,102 13,752 15,854 2,102 26,019 28,121
Additions hE - 17 7 - = =
Amortisation (Note 10) By 10) - (1,619) (1,619) - (8,192) (8,192)
Impairment (Note (ii)) WAL () - - - — (4,087) (4,087)
Exchange differences R - 1 1 — 12 12
Closing net carrying amount FREEFE 2,102 12,305 14,407 2,102 13,752 15,854
At 31 December Rt=A=1-AH
Cost PR 107,047 46,601 153,648 107,047 46,473 153,520
Accumulated amortisation and  ZitE#RA(E
impairment (104,945) (34,206)  (139,241) | (104,945) (32,721)  (137,666)
Net carrying amount EaFE 2,102 12,305 14,407 2,102 13,752 15,854
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL S

e B |RMEE

15 GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES 15 BERHMEREEZ
(continued)
Notes: Kiaz -
(i) Goodwill is monitored by management at the CGU level within (i) BEHEEERKGESHEMRRSELSE

an operating segment level with reference to the business
performance based on geography and type of business. A
summary of the allocation of goodwill to the identified CGUs of
the Group is as follows:

K PEITER - WS E B KRR T
BHZEBRE - ARERRESEEEH
PIRGEEBEMZBHENT

2019 2018
“g-1 =
Accumulated Net carrying Accumulated Net carrying
Gross impairment amount Gross impairment amount
Lo ZitHE REFE ) Z:tRE REFE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEn FEn FEn AT AT AT
Frontier Services Limited (“FSL") Frontier Services Limited
(TFSL]) 94,975 (94,975) - 94,975 (94,975) —
Phoenix Aviation Limited (“PAL") Phoenix Aviation Limited
([BEHZE)) 6,730 (6,730) - 6,730 (6,730) —
Cheetah Logistics SARL Cheetah Logistics SARL
(“Cheetah’) ([Cheetah ) 1,772 (1,772) - 1772 (1,772) =
Transit Freight Forwarding Transit Freight Forwarding
Proprietary Limited (“TFF") Proprietary Limited
(ITFF.) 1,468 (1,468) - 1,468 (1,468) —
Maleth Aero Limited (“Maleth”)  Maleth Aero Limited
([Maleth]) 2,102 - 2,102 2,102 = 2,102
107,047 (104,945) 2,102 107,047 (104,945) 2,102
Based on the result of the impairment test of goodwill, no BIBEEERETG AR EEBERAHBA

impairment provision is considered necessary for the goodwill
arising from the acquisition of Maleth.

FRUCHE Maleth 224 2 P B4R BB B -

Hih B EETRIRUBZRIBRARES
RMEEEE B BPRERTHRFRE -

(i) Other intangibles represent operating certificates, trademark, (ii)
customers’ base and non-compete agreements derived from the
acquisition of various subsidiaries.
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The provision for impairment of other intangibles of
HK$4,087,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018
represented impairment of operating certificates and trademark
arising from the acquisitions of PAL in 2014. The decision
to set aside an impairment provision against the other
intangibles was based on a careful internal operation review
in the context of the respective CGUs’ historical performances
and market expectations by management. In recognition of
this, the other intangibles were impaired and recorded in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018. No provision for impairment on other
intangibles was considered necessary for the year ended 31
December 2019.

ces Group Limited 2RSSR AR A A

HE_ZT-—N\E+_A=+—HULEFEZH
fth 48 7t & 7 R (B 7 5 4,087,000 7 TLIE I =
T NFREREMEMELEZEEFER
BIZRE - ERSEEEEEMZBERSE
REBEBzMEEY  AEBEELEED
AL ER % AR EMELEEREL
RERE - AENL - EMEFEEEER
BE Yt ARNEEREE=Z—/\F+=A
=T —HIEFEZEEUWBREA - BHEZ
T-NF+-A=1+—HLFE EEER
R E b A E R R ERHE o



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL S

PAN
=)

Bt 5 R MY EE

15 GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs with operating losses are
determined based on value-in-use calculation. This calculation
is made with the use of discounted cash flow model, based on
financial budget approved by management covering a 5-year
period. Cash flow beyond the 5-year period is extrapolated
using the key assumptions stated below:

2019

—E-hE

Annual

growth rate
ERRE

Maleth 2%

Terminal
growth rate
RAERE

2%

15

BERHEMBREE(E

Hiet : ()

(iif)

Pre-tax
discount rate

RAfRE

22.1%

EELEBRCREELEMZAIREEHE
LA R EERTEAETE © et ETERIMA
BETFHVESEEEHAZNBEERES
EREENMRRERERNEL - AFH
BRORSVBEMTIIZ TBRRIEE

2018
= i
Annual Terminal Pre-tax
growth rate growth rate discount rate
FERE REERE BATRE
2% 3% 22.1%

Other assumptions included estimated gross margin, applicable
corporate income tax rate and capital expenditure for repair
and maintenance. Management determines estimated growth
rates and gross margin based on past performance and its
expectation of market development. The discount rates are
determined with reference to specific risks relating to the
relevant segments and countries in which they operate.

No impairment indicator was identified for PAL as the remaining
intangible assets relate to a favourable lease contract of the
hangar for which the market rent was still higher than the
contractual rent.

HMBRRBFETEMNE  BRNCEMS
BRELARBERRENEARX - EEE
ENBERRREERTSERNBHET
EEHERRREFE - IR KT 25 AR
DEHREEERERRERIEERBRKRE
T o

HRERREEENEEGHNZHRTELE
EzmBAeNERanEe KL ELE
Bz s E R ETR
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B BHRRMEE

16 SUBSIDIARIES 16 KEBAR
The table below lists out the subsidiaries of the Company as EERAE TRIBEHENR-_Z—NF
at 31 December 2019 which, in the opinion of the directors, +=—A=+— EI;TK@E%%T%EXIE%
principally affected the results of the year or formed a LGRS B KNI H B EFE 2 AR A
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give BRA - BEEERNBANRTE  EFRA
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the BEIEE MM B AR ZFE -

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Place of Nominal value of
incorporation  issued ordinary shares/ Percentage of
or preference shares/ attributable equity
registration/ paid-up capital/ interest held by the
Name operation registered capital Company Principal activities

Directly Indirectly
ML BROZER BER/

£ B/ Lend BHRER EMELEE AREEREREEILE EEXH
HE &
FSL Bermuda US$1,000 common shares 100% — Investment holding and

provision of aviation
and logistics services

FSL BRE 1,000 702 EiEAk 100% = REERRREME LY
R
FSG Aviation Limited Bermuda US$1 common shares 100% — Aircraft holding and

provision of aviation
and logistics services

FSG Aviation Limited BRE 1R EBR 100% = R E RREMZE R Y
IR
PAL Kenya KES550,488,000 ordinary — 100% Provision of logistics
shares services
BBz AR 550,488,000 5 [EE LS 2 — 100% R IRT
Lidk
Frontier Logistics Consultancy United Arab Emirati Dirham 50,000 100% — Provision of logistics
DMCC Emirates ordinary shares services
Frontier Logistics Consultancy (DEA (=t 50,000 f ¥ B 1§ 2 100% — REMRRE
DMCC BHRE ¥l
Frontier Services Group East Kenya KES4,571,000 ordinary — 100% Provision of logistics
Africa Limited shares services
Frontier Services Group East sRE 4,571,000 BE %22 = 100% R R
Africa Limited LAk
STE Frontier Services Group Democratic US$100,000 ordinary — 100% Provision of logistics,
Congo SARLU Republic of shares security and
Congo infrastructure services
STE Frontier Services Group BMERELFE  100,000% T2 EEM — 100% RN RRRER
Congo SARLU PR

154 Frontier Services Group Limited 5t 2 fRISEB AR A
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B BHRRMEE

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name

L

Frontier Services Group
SECURITE SARL

Frontier Services Group
SECURITE SARL

FSGC Security Service
(Cambodia) Co., Ltd
FSGC Security Service
(Cambodia) Co., Ltd

FSGL (Cambodia) Logistics &
Consultancy Services Co., Ltd

FSGL (Cambodia) Logistics &
Consultancy Services Co., Ltd

Boten Frontier Services Limited

Boten Frontier Services Limited

FSG (Myanmar) Security Services
Co., Ltd

FSG (Myanmar) Security Services
Co., Ltd

FSG Tanzania Co., Ltd

FSG Tanzania Co., Ltd

Frontier Services Group
Mozambique S.A.

Frontier Services Group
Mozambique S.A.

Place of
incorporation
or
registration/
operation

SRR
B/ BEhY

Democratic
Republic of
Congo

RIRR F H£ME

Cambodia

PR

Cambodia

PRCES

Laos
Zh
Myanmar

i

Tanzania

HE e

Mozambique

RElR

Nominal value of
issued ordinary shares/
preference shares/
paid-up capital/
registered capital

RTEER/BER/
BRRES HMESEE

US$10,000 ordinary shares

10,000 T2 SRR

US$50,000 ordinary shares

50,000 T2 &k

USD50,000 ordinary shares

50,000 %72 & @K

RMB1,000,000 ordinary
shares

AR#1,000,0007t.2 ZiBAR

US$150,000 ordinary
shares
150,000 7T 2 Sk

TZS51,200,000,000 ordinary
shares

1,200,000,000BRKEHxE L
ZEBR

MZN1,000,000 ordinary
shares

1,000,000 XX L 721575 R
ZEBR

16 KMIEAT#E)

Percentage of
attributable equity
interest held by the

Company
Directly  Indirectly

AARMERERERDL
B i

= 70%

= 70%

= 60%

= 60%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%
= 100%
= 55%

= 55%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

Principal activities

TREH

Provision of security and
consultancy services

REZRRE AR

Provision of security and
consultancy services

REZRRE AR

Provision of logistics and
consultancy services

Rt R ARG

Provision of security
training services

RERRE R

Provision of security and
consultancy services

R R A AR

Provision of logistics
related services

Rt AR R

Provision of logistics
related services

AR RS
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B BHRRMEE

16 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name

L

TFF

TFF

Transit Freight Co-ordinators
Limited

Transit Freight Co-ordinators
Limited

Maleth

Maleth

Maleth Aero AOC Limited

Maleth Aero AOC Limited

Frontier Xinda Security
Consulting (Beijing) Company
Limited®

GLEEZZBER(LR)ERRA"

Frontier Logistics (Shanghai)
Company Limited"

FLyR( L) BRAR"

DVN (Group) Limited

DVN (Group) Limited

Place of
incorporation
or
registration/
operation
ML
B/ EE

South Africa

i3

Zambia

B

Malta

SEf

Malta

HEM

Mainland

China*

o A

Mainland
China*
FER

British Virgin
Islands

RRRLHE

156 Frontier Services Group Limited 5t 2R E=EHR A

Nominal value of
issued ordinary shares/
preference shares/
paid-up capital/
registered capital

RTEERBER/
BRRES AMEAEE

ZAR70,521,780 ordinary
shares

70,521,780 I IR E 2
EBR

Zambian Kwacha 10,000
ordinary shares

10,000 B EREEZ
gl

EUR1,030,613 ordinary
shares
1,030,613 Bl E ik

EURb545,200 ordinary
shares
545,200 BT .2 & # AR

RMB100,000,000 paid-up
capital

AR 100,000,000 L2 4
REK

US$10,000,000 registered
capital

10,000,000 Xt Z A A

US$10 ordinary shares
US$15,000,000
preference

10X T2 BB K
15,000,000 % T2 5K

16 KMEAT#E)

Percentage of
attributable equity
interest held by the

Company
Directly  Indirectly

ARRMERERERD L
B i

= 100%

— 100%

= 50%

— 50%

= 51%
— 51%
= 47%
— 47%

= 100%

— 100%

= 100%
— 100%

100% =

100% —

Principal activities

TREH

Provision of freight
forwarding services

R B R

Provision of freight
forwarding services

RUETERERS

Investment holding

RERR

Provision of aircraft
management services

IR E R R

Investment holding and
provision of aviation
and logistics related
consultancy services

REZERERERZERY
AR AR

Provision of logistics
related services

R AR R

Investment holding and
management

REERRER
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B BHRRMEE

16 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 16 KMIBAT(#E)
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation  issued ordinary shares/ Percentage of
or preference shares/ attributable equity
registration/ paid-up capital/ interest held by the
Name operation registered capital Company Principal activities

Directly  Indirectly
ML BRATEER/BER/

g B/ EEns BHRES/EMEAEE AREFSEERERSL  EERE
B &
Data Source Technology Limited  Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 ordinary = 100% Provision of administrative
shares and management
services
MREBEDHMRERAA BB 5,000,000 87T L@k = 100% RUTHRREE R
Dynamic Network Limited British Virgin US$1 ordinary shares 100% = Investment holding and
Islands management
Dynamic Network Limited KERELEE 1ETZEBR 100% = REZERRE
Telequote Data International Hong Kong HK$10,000 ordinary shares — 100% Provision of online
Limited financial market
information services
BERERBRAF B 10,0008 7T 2 & BHR = 100% REKLeRTHER
k%
* Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprise with limited * BEPBEERZAMAIEBECEAREE
liability under the PRC law NG|
# For identification purposes only # R
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17

B BHRRMEE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

17 RBERTzER

2019 2018

—E-hF —N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FRET F&T

At 1 January Rn—HA—H 8,074 9,848
Acquisition of additional interests in U B — R B & A B 2 BB IME =

an associate (Note i) (HtaEi) 10,289 —
Capital contribution to an associate m—KEE R REE (A7)

(Note ii) 39,177 —
Share of losses of associates FE(REE R BIEE (3,760) (1,517)
Exchange differences [E W 258 105 (257)
At 31 December R+—A=+—8 53,885 8,074
Notes: Bt -

(i)

(if)

As at 31 December 2018, part of the loans to an associate,
Xinyang Liliang Security Consulting Company Limited (“ISDC”),
amounting to RMB9,216,746 (equivalent to HK$10,289,000)
(the “ISDC Loan”) were secured by 22% equity interests in
ISDC being held by five existing equity holders (the “Five
Equity Holders”). On 11 November 2019, the Group entered
into an agreement with the Five Equity Holders, pursuant to
which the Group agreed to transfer such loan receivables of
HK$10,289,000 to the Five Equity Holders, in exchange for their
22% equity interests in ISDC. The transfer was completed on 20
December 2019, and since then, the Group’s equity interest in
ISDC was increased to 47%.
any cash outflow to the Group in 2019.

This transaction did not result in

In July 2019, the Group, together with two independent third
parties, agreed to incorporate a company in the Democratic
Republic of Congo (the “DRC”) named Global Pioneer
Assurance S.A. (“GPA”). The Group made a capital contribution
of US$5,000,000 (equivalent to HK$39,177,000) in return for
50% equity interest in GPA, and the Group accounts for GPA
as an associate. The purpose of setting up GPA is to apply for
an insurance license in the DRC. According to the publication
issued by the local authority in the DRC dated 7 March 2020,
such application has been successfully approved and the
Group’s associate has obtained the official insurance license as
at the date of spproval of these Financial Statements.

158 Frontier Services Group Limited 5t 2R E=E B R A

(i)

(i)

R-ZB—NE+-A=+—8 HhZHHMA
—%Hﬁﬁ%@?%ﬁ%—t%(it?)i%EEF‘%‘FE
AR((EBRZ2HES5R DREZERA

¥ 9,216,746 7T (18 % 7 10,289,000 7% 7T >
((EBRZHEERER]) ARG AL RkE
HEAEEREREADRERZ2HE
Bt E 2 22% RIEEAEE - R=ZT—H
F+—A+—0 AEERAZBREZEA
R Bl AEBREHZEER
B310,289,000 8 tHE T HEREREH
A DREE R B R 2 2B 13 2Bt 2 22% iR
o oHBER-_T-NF+-_A=+AZRK "
Bt - AEBERBIR %2057 20 2 gL
ME47% > ZRGR_E—NEFEHAEEL
EAMRESRENZE -

RZZE-NFth  FAEBERMNEZELE
“HRABERRIREREEME(TAR(L) )
B SZ—Z% A & Global Pioneer Assurance
S.A.([GPA]) ° REEFEHN GPAZ 50% )+ &
5,000,000 3 T (48 & 14 39,177,000 7T )
A% EE GPAB— R & A R] ° B3 GPA
ZEMARRIR(2)BERBER o RER
R(E)EWHFMBELEH T _FF=4
tHZXM R BCERNBAE - AL
B 2 Bt & N R B R A 3R R B B BT EYS
B IRBRIER o



B BHRRMEE

17 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 17 REBERTZ2Em(E)
The following list contains only the particulars of principal TREIR—ZE—NF+—_A=+—H=F
associates as at 31 December 2019: TSN 2 FE

Place of incorporation

Name or registration/operation Interest held Principal activities

A% MR LRERL, e s ks TEEHR

Xinyang Liliang Security Consulting Company Mainland China 47%  Provision of private security training
Limited" courses

BENELR)Z2ERERAR R A 47% REFBARREIRE

Global Pioneer Assurance S.A. Democratic Republic of Congo 50% Provision of general insurance

services

Global Pioneer Assurance S.A. BIRRF LM 50% RE—RRRIRS

# For identification purposes only * EHER

There were no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s REZE-—NFT+_A=+—RAUEFHEAR

interests in associates at 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil). SERBE AR ZEE I ABE(ZE

—\F : &) -
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(a)

B BHRRMEE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 17 REBERT2ERmAE)
Summarised financial information for a material (a) —REAHMELATZHBEERBE
associate
The tables below provide summarised financial TERHEOAXEBEMEBEEARAZ
information for GPA that is material to the Group. The GPAFI B ER B E - FTi T’ 2 &R
information disclosed reflects the amounts presented AL AR 2 ERERTZE
in the financial statements of the relevant associate V2 ZESR  mILIEARR T EMNL
and not the Company’s share of those amounts. They LHZECH EEKARURBE
have been amended to reflect adjustments made by EEAREREEMEZAZE B
the entity when using the equity method, including fair ’\’T{ETEDJ?%&EJE FTER =R
value adjustments and modifications for differences in EZ1E5T
accounting policy.
2018
— N\
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Current assets MENA E 80,324 =
Current liabilities B A & (5,406) —
Net assets BEFE 74,918 —
Loss after income tax for the year FEBRFEFH1ZEE (3,009) =
Total comprehensive loss ZHEEELE (3,435) =
Reconciliation to carrying amounts: IREEZHE
2019 2018
—E-hEF — N\
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Net assets as at 1 January 2019 —NhF—A—HZ
BEFE — —
Capital Injection EE 78,353 —
Loss for the year FEEE (3,009) —
Other comprehensive loss HhEs1E (426) —
Net assets as at 31 December RZTE—NF+=A=+—
2019 Bz EERE 74,918 —
Group’s share in % AEEREML(BED L) 50% —
Group’s share in HK$'000 RNEEEML (FHET) 37,459 —
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B BHRRMEE

17 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 17 REBERTzERAE)
(b) Individually immaterial associates (b) MERBIEEKREE QT
In addition to the interest in an associate disclosed Br EX TR BER — Rt E ARl 2
above, the Group also has interests in a number of =N REETRERERERE
individually immaterial associates that are accounted for ABR 2 8 5l JF & K He & A RIE B &
using the equity method. o
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZT—-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Loss after income tax KRS R 1A B8 (6,318) (6,410)
Group’s share of losses for the AEEEEFEBE
year (2,256) (1,517)
Group's share of other AEEREGEMEERES
comprehensive income/(loss) (E58) 318 (257)
Group’s share of total AEEREEEERARE
comprehensive loss (1,938) (1,774)
18 DEFERRED TAXATION 18 EERIE
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when WA B EHITHT S BN HI 7 18 & 2= Ed BN HY
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets NIEAEYHELNEERSEHREERAE
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income THEE—FEE RAR  BESELEMRESH
tax assets and liabilities relate to the same tax authority. The BENBEYE KLYHIHEB ZRLERSH
deferred income tax assets and liabilities after offsetting are BERBENT :
as follows:
2019 2018
—E-hF —T—-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Deferred income tax assets BEFSHEE 9,380 7,501
Deferred income tax liabilities EEMBHAR (32,442) (46,265)
(23,062) (38,764)
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B BHRRMEE

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting
of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets

Non-current

Tax losses
HEER

prepayments
FHBRAK

2018

18 EZEBLIR (4)

FRREMREHREEKBECRE KRR
R RERE R SRR EH ) 2 BT

EEFRBHEE

Unrealised exchange
differences
FEREREE

2018 2018 2018

ZTN\& —Z-)\f —2-\% —Z-)\f
HK$000 | HK$'000 | HK$'000 | HK$000 | HKS$'000 | HK$000 | HK$'000 | HKS$000 | HKS$000 | HK$000
FEx FET FEr FET FEx FET FEx FET FEx FET
At 1 January R-A-A 12,230 7,148 1,558 2,278 - 204 - = 13,788 9,630
Credited/(charged) RgAMERNE/
to consolidated (;tA)
income statement 4,702 6,410 (1,558) (722) - (208) 3,602 — 6,746 5,480
Exchange EXEE
differences 161 (1,328) - 2 - 4 (1) = 150 (1,322)
At 31 December  W+=F=1-AH 17,093 12,230 - 1,558 - — 3,591 — 20,684 13,788

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carried forward to the extent that realisation of the related tax
benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. At 31
December 2019, the Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets of HK$46,251,000 (2018: HK$35,333,000) in
respect of unrecognised tax losses of HK$196,218,000 (2018:
HK$151,602,000) that can be carried forward to offset against
future taxable income. The unrecognised tax losses include
an amount of HK$61,490,000 (2018: HK$31,310,000) arising
from Mainland China and HK$884,000 (2018: HK$1,048,000)
arising from Zambia, which is due to expire within one to five
years and HK$49,850,000 (2018: HK$51,339,000) arising
from Kenya, which is due to expire within one to ten years,
respectively for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arise.

162 Frontier Services Group Limited & 2R =B HR A

aELﬁﬁ MEENBIBAETNIEBEE
R MZREAENIBEE LSRR K
FEMR,MIJ ------ A AR IER R AR - R
T NF+-_A=+—0 AEEAH
ISR R ERTRUA Z RERHIBE
18 % 5 196,218,000 (=& — N\ F :
1516020005%57_5) i E A B 2 R AERR
RIEFTE T E E 546,251,000 (=&
— )\ : 35,333,000/ 7T ) ° AMERHIA
EEEETBERNRELTELEZ SR
7 Bl A61,490,0007% L(= T — J\ F :
31,310,000 JT ) %% 884,000/ (= =
—/\£F : 1,048,000/87T) * EFHEEEK
R—Z2RFNER MEERMELZR
T SR 7 I8 B 18 49,850,000 ;T (=T — N\
£ : 51,339,000 L) BR—2+FAE
o A SH IR BB 18 2 1 AR 2R B R R
S Al o



B BHRRMEE

18 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities

18

LB A ()
EEFRSHAR

Accelerated tax ~ Withholding tax on
depreciation unremitted profits  Other intangibles Deferred income Other
MERERE AP TaR 2 BNH HftEREE BERA
HKS$'000| HK$000| HKS'000| HKS000| HKS$'000| HK$000| HKS'000| HKS000| HKS$'000| HK$000| HKS'000| HKS000
FEr| TEr| TEn| TET| TAn| TEr| FEn| TEn| TEr| TET| TFET| TET
At 1 January R-A-H 18,157 | 18,444 3,212 5,942 7,mM 8,747 22,833 22023 579 —| 52,552 55,156
Charged/(credited) to  REAMEREA/
consolidated income ~ (F1f%)
statement (4,014) 16| (3,190) (2,5%8) (498) (976)  (1,769)[ 1837 1,207 629 (8,264)  (1,052)
Exchange differences EXEE (20 (303) 22| (172) - = (519)]  (1,027) 19 B0)|  (542)[ (1552
At 31 December Rt=B=1-H 14128 18,157 - 3,212 7,213 771| 20,545 | 22,833 1,805 5719 43,746| 52,552

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1
January 2008 and applied to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a
tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the
foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%.
The Group is therefore liable for withholding tax on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.
At 31 December 2019, no deferred income tax liabilities was
recognised in respect of temporary differences relating to
the withholding tax (2018: HK$3,212,000) as there was no
unremitted profits of subsidiaries in Mainland China as at 31
December 2019 (2018: HK$32,113,000).

RBHRBEMEAEHE - NP BEAMAKL
ZHONELERBIMNIEET IR EBR
10%BBBEMH - WREH_-FTTN\F
—A—BEAER YEAR-_FTLF
TA=+—BRZEF - i+ E R E
SNBREE 2 ADERE R A 2R AT ARBE TS

o A ERARE 2B R - i AKE
mMs > @EAKRE10% > ALtk > NEE

BEERRFE AR 2 % EH B A A
R_ZEENE—A—BRELEZRIFS
2R EBHEHNR - R=2F—NF+=
A=+—08 ' aRH BRI E A &I &
Rk A(=ZZF—/\F : 32,113,000/8
T0) M ERAEEIR(CE—N\F
3,212,000 % 7T ) 2 & B 2= RE T s iR IE T 1S
HafsE-
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B BHRRMEE

18 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 18 EEMIE(E)
Deferred income tax liabilities (continued) EEFEHAB#E)
Pursuant to the Kenyan Income Tax Act, a 10% withholding RIESEWMEHRZE  REEmKIY 21
tax is levied on dividends declared to non-residents from the ¥MIFFERETIRKBAZ10%H AN
enterprises established in Kenya. A lower withholding tax rate HemeBEREIEERZAIEZERESR
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Kenya and the SIS B ERRIE Z BN
jurisdiction of the non-residents. For the Group, the applicable Ko mAEBME  BAMEKAE10% °
rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding tax bt AREEERERRBEREKILZZE
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mt/ A BT 9 Ik 2 IR E B TEHE - K=
Kenya. At 31 December 2019, the Group did not recognise Z-NF+-A=+—HB ' AEELEH®
deferred income tax liabilities in respect of temporary RERIH B A A &Ik % A 5,898,000
differences relating to the withholding tax of HK$590,000 Bz — N\ F: 21,876 000 7t )
(2018: HK$2,188,000) on the unremitted profits of subsidiaries Z T8 10 #590,000% (= & — N\ F :
in Kenya amounting to HK$5,898,000 (2018: HK$21,876,000), 2,188, ooo%ﬁmﬁazﬁﬂ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬂaﬁk
that would be payable on the distribution of these retained 5 8 E (R IERR D IKZSRE &
profits, as the Company controls the dividend policy of these B BRERARATIZEFIZENE A A
subsidiaries and it is probable that these profits will not be Z R BE - Bz M AL r] 78 R g R Al
distributed in the foreseeable future. Therefore, the related BT EETHIR ALt - HAZTREEZR
temporary difference will not be reversed and will not be 1T i Al B A% SR O] I T~ & 7R AR o
taxable in the foreseeable future.
19 NON-CURRENT PREPAYMENTS 19 SEENHAFAMTRK
2019 2018
“E-RE —Z-N\F
Engine Other Engine Other
overhaul deposits overhaul deposits Total
SIE®E Hitz e SIERE Hthize st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January W-A—H 27,690 24,853 52,543 25,752 1,923 27,675
Additions NE 4,126 - 4,126 6,805 22,926 29,731
Charged to consolidated income  R&A UG RIS
statement - - - (5,242) — (5,242)
Transfer to current prepayment  E#ZEIEEN 2 — (1,917) (1,917) — — —
Exchange differences EHESE (32) (564) (596) 375 4 379
At 31 December Rt=A=t-R 31,784 22,372 54,156 27,690 24,853 52,543

The non-current prepayments for engine overhaul represent
the engine overhaul cost prepaid to aircraft manufacturers
but the engines are not yet overhauled and are not expected
to be utilised within twelve months from the financial position
date.

As at 31 December 2019, HK$22,372,000 was paid as deposit
for purchase of land-use-rights (2018: HK$22,926,000), which
was located outside Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B BHRRMEE

20 INVENTORIES 20 #FE
2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Aircraft spare parts and consumables FRHEEZ 204 K 74 9,966 9,446
Packaging materials BEEYR 703 1,052
10,669 10,498
Less: Provision for inventories R FERE (5,486) (4,030)
5,183 6,468
During the year ended 31 December 2019, a provision for HE-_Z—NWF+-_A=+—HLHF
inventories amounting to HK$1,456,000 (2018: HK$4,030,000) E BRERKEZSDZHEREMGTER®G
on obsolete aircraft spare parts and consumables was 1,456,000 7L(= & — /A £F : 4,030,000
recognised in other operating expenses in the consolidated f%ﬁ:)ﬁﬁ%?\é\qﬂlmi‘EZE‘rﬁlM EERARE
income statement. R o
21 TRADE RECEIVABLES 21 EBEFEWRE
2019 2018
=E-NF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Trade receivables from contracts with REZFF&EHZE 5 EWFKIAE
customers 265,469 192,956
Less: loss allowance R BERE (13,882) (4,453)
251,587 188,503
The fair value of trade receivables approximates its carrying BoEWRIB AL BEEAEEmERS °
amount.
Credit terms of one to three months from invoice date are REE—MRETIEZFAREHE—F
generally granted to major customers. The Group seeks to “BAREZ=EH - KREBBEERIKITE
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. The HYAWE ZEWZIE - AEBHERE
Group performs ongoing credit evaluation of its customers BEBTEAED  WEEEESER (N
and makes frequent contact with its customers, if necessary. EEE) o
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B BHRRMEE

21 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 21 BZEWRIEE)
An aging analysis, based on the invoice date, of the trade REBARREKA - BEZEWFIEZERER D
receivables as at the date of statement of financial position is WERBEER)WT :
as follows:
2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET F&T
Within 1 month —EAR 73,576 93,295
1 - 2 months —Z=/MEA 28,048 25,947
2 — 3 months MZE=EA 11,934 17,803
Over 3 months BiE=18A 151,911 55,911
265,469 192,956
Less: loss allowance R BERE (13,882) (4,4583)
251,587 188,503
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are REBEZBSREBFEZEEEBENL NIE
denominated in the following currencies: HE=HE
2019 2018
—E-hF =5 =/\&F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRET F&T
US$ EH 84,666 67,859
ZAR EEEES 59,963 59,097
EUR Bt T 85,441 53,321
KES BREES 1,602 1,758
Others Hith 19,915 6,468
251,587 188,503
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the date of statement RUBARAKE - GERBRZ&ZSBER
of financial position is the fair value of trade receivables LB SRR ELZ AR EE

mentioned above.
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21 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 21 EZEWREE)
Movements in the loss allowance of trade receivables are as B RBGRIE BIEREEHIT
follows:
2019 2018
—EB-hE —E—)\%E
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At 1 January Hn—HB—H 4,453 1,721
Additions NE 9,429 2,732
At 31 December R+=H=+—H 13,882 4,453
During the year ended 31 December 2019, a loss allowance HE_Z-hF+_A=+—HILEE"
of HK$9,429,000 (2018: HK$2,732,000) on trade receivables KREREZRWFIAZ AIBKEE - B8
which have been overdue for more than 90 days was made RO MBELRALE  ERBEEA
after considering the collectability, overdue aging analysis 90K 2B 5 FEWFRIE{EH 9,429,000 % 7T
and past collection history of the trade receivables. —=— \fF : 2,732,000 T ) 2 & B #
1% o
22 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22 FENR - ZEeRHMEWIRE
RECEIVABLES
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Deposits and other receivables e R E A EUWGRIE 70,611 54,659
Amounts due from associates g RS NGI E s 10,231 5,204
Loan to an associate m—REE R BREER 2,344 11,029
Purchase option in an associate fEE RN —REE QA 2 B — 4,004
Prepayments TERT R 50,055 62,858
Interest receivables U FI & 9,296 7,415
Value-added tax receivables FEMIEET 4,017 2,852
146,554 148,021
Less: loss allowance R BERE (27,970) (23,113)
118,584 124,908
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B BHRRMEE

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the ISDC Loan was secured by 22%
equity interests in ISDC being held by the Five Equity Holders
and was repayable on demand. As further detailed in Note 17
of these financial statements, the Group had transferred the
ISDC Loan to the Five Equity Holders, in exchange for the 22%
equity interests in ISDC. After the completion of the transfer,
the purchase option of further acquiring the remaining equity
interests in ISDC of HK$3,907,000 was written-off in the
consolidated income statement in 2019.

The loan to an associate of HK$2,344,000 (2018:
HK$11,029,000) and amounts due from associates of
HK$10,231,000 (2018: HK$5,204,000) are non-interest-
bearing and repayable on demand during the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.

The fair values of deposits and other receivables approximate
their carrying amounts.

Movements in the loss allowance of certain deposits and other
receivables, which were financial assets, are as follows:

22

BN BEREMBERRIEE)

R_F—NF+=-_A=1+—8 ' BEZ
%ﬁ RES Mﬂ%h%ﬁﬁAFl%x
%%ﬁ%h%ﬁZ%%h%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ &
AIEERER - M EHEREMN L7
FriE— i#L AEEB BBEEZ20HE
EREREETRAERIEAA + AR
B2 R 2 B R 22% R iE - #EiE
EE E— S RBRELEHEERE
FKER T AR HE 3,907,000 TTHEMRZED N =
T—NFELEEWE P M o

HE-_ZT-—hER-_ZT—N\E+=A
=+—HLEFE m—FREEDAREHE
Z B 32,344,000% m(=Z & — )\ F:

11,029,000 7% 7T ) & F&E Y B & A 7 3R 1A
10,231,000 7c( =2 — /\4F : 5,204,000
VT ) W M AR B R B R ESREE -

BE REMEWRIA 2 A2 EEEERE
EHR% -

ETHREMEMERKBR(BEREE)Z
EEREZEEHMT

2019 2018

—E-hE —N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At 1 January m—B—H 23,113 23,113
Additions = 4,857 —
At 31 December R+=BA=+—H 27,970 23,113
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B BHRRMEE

23 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 23 BERBIEE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Restricted cash (Note (i)) ZR B E (AL () 7,090 7,063

Pledged bank deposits (Note 26) BB RITIFE R (M 27 26) 104,936 153,635

Cash and cash equivalents RERRESEEY

Cash at banks and on hand BITRFERS 107,469 136,270

Bank deposits with original JREEAR A =8 A=A T 2R
maturities of three months or less TER 246,034 541,541
353,503 677,811

Total cash and bank balances e RIBITEETT LT 465,529 838,509

Maximum exposure to credit risk FERBRZEEEE 460,272 835,800

Notes: et -

(i) As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the restricted cash (i) RZE-NFRZZE-N\F+ZA=+—
represented deposits placed at a bank in Malta (“Maltese B ZRHBSERE Ttz 2 B
Bank’) by a subsidiary incorporated in Malta. All deposits kept RAGFHRR—REEMRIT([FEMBT )
by that Maltese Bank were frozen by the local financial authority ZTER - EMERMEERBRIEEERETP
after an investigation was carried out by that local financial BRBEFREERERER 22 BIRITE
authority on customer acceptance procedures. The entire 7o ZFRe2MBLBERBRRLA - TR
amount of the deposits has been released and collected by that BIIEAR R R B 1% B 3% 55 B4t B B A RIURER o
subsidiary in Malta subsequent to the date of the statement of
financial position.

(i)  Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily (ii) ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁElﬁﬁﬁf?ﬁﬂﬁ?ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬂiﬂ
bank deposit rates. Pledged bank deposits and short-term bank o BEEAIRITERLIE BRITFERDIRES
deposits earn interest at the respective deposit rates. EZT? R = BRER B ©

Annual Report 2019 3% 169



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL S

e B |RMEE

23 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (continued) 23 RERBITHEFE)

Notes: (continued) Bist : (48)

(i) ~ The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances are (i) B RBITEEEEMEN T EEEE
denominated in the following currencies:

2019 2018
—EB-hEF —E-)N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
RMB AR 128,032 201,873
Us$ e 291,404 83,311
HK$ B TT 7,216 526,941
EUR BT 21,325 15,209
ZAR kS 4,983 3,463
KES BREELES 573 718
Others Hitb 11,996 6,994
465,529 838,509

(iv)  The cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB (iv) ZAEBUAREFNEZRERETEFESA
are not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under ERE M5 i M o SRTT - AR EANE
PRC'’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration BHRVEENEE  EEMMSEEERBRE 0 K
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange 2 [B) 8 75 b B 5 B T SR T AT O B TR

Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business in the PRC.

ZRITBARERBSEMER -

(v) The fair values of all bank balances approximate their carrying (v) ASTEFEZ AR BEELERBEMEE -
amounts.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

B BHRRMEE

24 TRADE PAYABLES 24 BSENRE
An aging analysis, based on the invoice date, of the trade R EB  BSENKIBZRERD

payables as at the date of statement of financial position is as WERBEER)WT :
follows:
2019 2018
—F-—nE —E-N\f
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Within 1 month —EARA 38,330 45,067
1 — 2 months —Z/mEA 10,967 12,846
2 — 3 months MZE=1EAH 6,059 7,407
Over 3 months BiE=18A 25,949 22,321
81,305 87,641
Notes: Kt -
(i) The carrying amounts of trade payables are denominated in the (i) B RMAZFBEZEEEN T EEEHE :
following currencies:
2019 2018
—E-NF —EN\EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
EUR BT 16,125 14,251
ZAR FER LS 31,472 39,521
US$ e 21,986 24,929
KES BRHES 415 499
HK$ HIT 43 190
Others HAh 11,264 8,251
81,305 87,641
(ii) The fair value of trade payables approximates its carrying (i) BHENFEBEZ AR BEEEETRERS ©

amount.
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B BHRRMEE

25 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25 HtENRERESER
2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZE-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Accrued expenses for aircraft RS FEETE R
operations 79,711 47,822
Other accrued expenses HEpEsrEA 24,682 25,488
Investment payables (Note) & & N FRIE (HTaE) 7,012 7,051
Deposits received Blkize 5,510 6,388
Others HAity 21,201 15,886
138,116 102,635
Note: HizF
At 31 December 2019, the investment payables include the RZT—NF+ZA=1+—8 BEERGZERE
consideration payable to Chinese Online Corporation Limited, an ENEXERERAR(AERZ —RBEAR)Z
associate of the Group, of US$900,000 (equivalent to approximately X {8 900,000 % 7T (48 F R £77,012,000% 7t ) (=
HK$7,012,000) (2018: US$900,000 (equivalent to approximately Z — J\4F : 900,000 7T.(#8 & R #97,051,000 7
HK$7,051,000)). JT)) °
26 BORRBROWINGS 26 B
2019 2018
—E-hE —Z—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Non-current portion FERNERER 1D
Finance lease REEE — 45970
Current portion BIHAZR {9
Bank loans RITER 4,172 —
Finance lease MERE — 15,868
Other loan Hbh B 340 438
4,512 16,306
Total borrowings B4 4.512 62,276
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B BHRRMEE

BORROWINGS (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the facility arrangement fees
of HK$765,000 (2018: HK$2,713,000) were included in
other receivables and will be amortised into consolidated
income statement over the term of the facility. As at 31
December 2019, a deposit of RMB94,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$104,936,000) was pledged for the facility (2018:
RMB134,300,000 (equivalent to HK$153,635,000)). No
drawdown of the facility was made by the Group as at 31
December 2019 and 2018.

Upon adoption of HKFRS16, finance leases were included in
the lease liabilities as disclosed in Note 14 of these financial
statements. Adjustments recognised on adoption of HKFRS16
on 1 January 2019 are further set out in Note 2.2 of these
financial statements.

The fair values of the borrowings approximate their carrying
amounts. The fair value of the non-current borrowings are
based on market quotes or estimates using discounted cash
flow calculations based upon the Group’s current incremental
borrowing rates for similar types of borrowings.

(a) Bank Loans

The bank loans are repayable as follows:

26

BERE)
R-_E—hE+-_A=+—H8 @&
Z BE & 7650008 (=T — N\ F:

2,713,000 7t ) 73 51) A E i f& U 5018
Iﬂﬂmﬂéiﬂﬂ RERERBRAEH - R
—hE+-_A=+—H REARE
94,000,000 7t (48 % 7 104,936,0007%8 7T )
Z— \F : AR% 134,300,000 7T (48
%54\153,635,000/%%))Ef’E?‘%mﬁlﬁZE
HeRZZE—NEFR_FTE—N\F+=A
=+—H AEELERDHBHE -

HINAA T RREME 14T - NS
E?’éﬁﬁ‘%iﬁii‘%ﬁu%m%ﬁé EE%E%HEE
FFAHERE - AR _F-NF—A
— BER#A E/’éﬁﬂ“#&iﬁﬁu%mﬁ e
BZHFBRERAMBRROME2. 2554
BKE -

ERZARBEREERTERS - JEANH
ERZAABEDRETSHREXRER
EWNBRETHE - WITRARBEEER
BERZ AEBRITEEETNRERE -

(a) MITER
RITEREEMT :

2019 2018
—B-hE —TNE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Within 1 year —FA 4,172 —

Bank loans denominated in: BITERATIEBIE

ZAR EEd LS 4,172 —
The bank loans denominated in ZAR bear interests with AFIEM R YIE 2 |RITE R IR M IE
reference to South African Prime Rate ranging from HEBEERENMENF10.25% %
10.25% to 10.5% per annum and are repayable within 10.5% 5T & ' AR BIEEE #i1&

3 months after the respective drawdown dates. At 31
December 2019, these bank loans are secured by
certain trade receivables of ZAR65,991,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$36,592,000) and are guaranteed
by an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
to the maximum extent of ZAR14,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,763,000).

—EAAREE - R=ZFE—NLF+=
A=+—H ZEROTEFRHEHSE
T E 5 fE U318 65,991,000 7 IE 3
£ (FB S 1 49 36,592,000 7T ) EHK
ARBARAZ —REEZENE
A AR5 S 14,000,000 5 FE 58
(HBER#7,763,000 7870 ) 2R -
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B BHRRMEE

26 BORROWINGS (continued) 26 EXRE)
(b) Finance Leases — 2018 (b) MEHEE — =—F-—N\F
Finance lease liabilities were included in borrowings BEHEAGHAER  EEZF
until 31 December 2018, but were reclassified to lease —NE+-_A=+—8AI ' ER
liabilities on 1 January 2019 in the process of adopting —E-NF A HBHERMAFHEE
the new leasing standard (Note 2.2). Alz@iEhET > BEEEaE(H
F£2.2)
2018
E— )\ &
HK$'000
FEr
Future payments RIRHE K 69,304
Future finance charges on finance leases REHEZ RKREEER (7,466)
Present value of finance lease liabilities MEHEARZIAE 61,838
Less: Current portion J& : BNHAZR(H (15,868)
Non-current portion FERNEAEB () 45,970
The present value of finance lease liabilities is repayable MEHEAEZAERENT
as follows:
2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
FAET
Within 1 year —FR 15,868
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERMEAN 40,578
After 2 years but within 5 years MEZRERAFTA 5,392
61,838
The finance leases of aircraft are denominated in US$ MR EREAETEE - Mat
and interest rates underlying the obligations under BEMHEE NEBAREZMNERES
finance leases are fixed at their respective rates ranging EBZHMEEE N FEHFF6.00%
from 6.00% to 9.77% per annum. £9.77% °
The finance leases of trailers are denominated in ZAR HE R A E AR IEH AT E
and interest rates underlying the obligations under met&EHESE FEBEEE 2 ER
finance leases are fixed at their respective rates of 11% HEZBZMNEGFII%ERE °
per annum.
Certain aircraft and trailers are pledged for the finance B TR R EER AR SR -
leases.
The net carrying amount of the aircraft and trailers under RZEBE-—NF+A=+—08 " &
finance leases as at 31 December 2018 amounted to BHEBRTREREE 2 REFE
HK$97,466,000. /597,466,000 7T °
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B BHRRMEE

26 BORROWINGS (continued) 26 EXE)
(c) Other Loan (c) HMER
The other loan is repayable as follows: HihEREEWAT ¢
2018
—N\&F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Within 1 year —F A 340 438
The other loan is denominated in EUR, unsecured and HnE XA TR B - S R IZ
bears interest at the rate of 10% per annum (2018: 10% FREAB(ZZE—NF: FF =X
per annum). 10%)&T 8 °
(d) Effective Interest Rates (d) BERFI=E
The effective annual interest rates incurred on EREANERFAZRNT :
borrowings are as follows:
2018
—F2-N\F
Bank loans SRITER 10.25%-10.50% 2.41%-12.00%
Finance leases BEEE N/A RiE A 6.08%-11.00%
Other loan H i ER 10.00% 10.00%
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B BHRRMEE

26 BORROWINGS (continued) 26 EXRE)
(e) Liabilities arising from financing activities (e) BMEFTBHELZAE
The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing BB EBELECBEHERNOT :

activities is as follows:

Lease
Bank loans liabilities Other loan
BITEK HEBE Hit &%
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2018 R-Z-\E-HA-H 180,028 73,074 457 253,559
Changes from financing cash flows: BEREFR2EE :
Drawdown of bank loans REGRITER 31,086 — — 31,086
Repayment of bank loans BRETER (215,804) — — (215,804)
Drawdown of finance leases RORERE — 2,972 — 2,972
Repayment of capital element of EEREREL
finance leases BEARED — (14,120) — (14,120)
Total changes from financing cash HEREMZEEDY
flows (184,718) (11,148) — (195,866)
Other changes Hith# 5
Facility arrangement fees BERHER 4,788 — - 4,788
Foreign exchange differences IMNEZE (98) (88) (19) (205)
Total other changes HinEEan 4,690 (88) (19) 4,583
At 31 December 2018 R=B-NE+=A=1+-H — 61,838 438 62,276
At 1 January 2019 R=B-hE-A—8 - 61,838 438 62,276
Lease liabilities recognised as at R-E-NE-RA—HER
1 January 2019 (Note 2.2) ZHEBE(N722) — 54,420 - 54,420
Restated opening balances FRNER(RET) - 116,258 438 116,696
Changes from financing cash flows: BERER2EE :
Drawdown of bank loans RIRBITER 4,083 — — 4,083
Repayment of other loans BEHBER - - (88) (88)
Repayment of principal elements of ~ EEMEEE AL BH
lease liabilities - (37,157) - (37,157)
Total changes from financing cash BERE Rz BE
flows 4,083 (37,157) (88) (33,162)
Other changes Hith# 5
Addition — leases g —HE — 33,899 — 33,899
Foreign exchange differences INEER 89 (1,336) (10) (1,257)
Total other changes HihEEam 89 32,563 (10) 32,642
At 31 December 2019 RZB-hFE+=A=+-H 4,172 111,664 340 116,176
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B BHRRMEE

27 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 27 RERESZ2EMIE

2019 2018
—2-nE -z &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F&T

Financial assets at amortised cost REHEKATR 2 SRMEE
Trade receivables (Note 21) B 5 EWGRIA(HaE 21) 251,587 188,503
Deposits and other receivables Re R E b EUFRIE 64,512 59,198
Cash and bank balances (Note 23) Re RRITEF (K7 23) 465,529 838,509
781,628 1,086,210
FVOCI RARBESBEMEE RS K 4 24
781,632 1,086,234

Financial liabilities at amortised cost  IREERKATIBRZ SR EE
Trade payables (Note 24) B 5 N RIE (K7 24) 81,305 87,641
Other payables and accruals H fth S 5K IE R FERT B A 132,606 96,247
Borrowings (Note 26) B (K57 26) 4,512 62,276
Lease liabilities (Note 14) HEBRBNZ14) 111,664 —
330,087 246,164
Other long-term liabilities HEREEE — 7,237
330,087 253,401

Annual Report 2019 3% 177



B BHRRMEE

28 SHARE CAPITAL 28 KA

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
BRO.10BTZER

Number of shares HK$'000
R EE FAET
Authorised EE
At 31 December 2018 and 2019 RZE—N\FRZZT—NF
+=-—A=+—H 3,000,000,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid EBRTREHZ
At 31 December 2018 and 2019 RZZE-—N\FR=ZZ—NF
+=—A=+—8H 2,344,818,660 234,482
Movements in ordinary shares during the years ended 31 BE-_FT-NFER-_F-AF+=A
December 2018 and 2019: =t— EEEE%@HXZQE 3
Number of shares HK$'000
Sk 4] FAET
At 1 January 2018 R=F—N\F—HF—H 1,449,703,003 144,970
Issuance of shares upon exercise of RZ-Z—\F—HF1H
share options on 9 January 2018 F SR T R BT AR (D
(Notes 29(a) and (i) (B3 29(a) & () 50,000,000 5,000
Issuance of shares on 23 May 2018 R=F—\FRA=+=H
(Note (ii)) BATRAD (K73 (if)) 640,000,000 64,000
Issuance of shares upon exercise of R-ZE—N\E+=-A—-H
other options on 2 December 2018 B H fh HR R 1T (R BT AR (D
(Notes 29(b) and (iv)) (K7t 29(b) % (iv)) 205,115,657 20,512
At 31 December 2018, 1 January RZZE—N\F+=ZA=+—8 "
2019 and 31 December 2019 —T-NE—A—Bk
—E-hAF+=-A=+—H 2,344,818,660 234,482
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28 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

On 9 January 2018, Mr. Erik D. Prince, the executive director
of the Company, exercised his right to subscribe 50,000,000
share options at an exercise price of HK$1.50 per share, which
were granted to him on 10 January 2014 under the share option
scheme adopted by the Company on 28 March 2012. The total
net proceeds of HK$75,000,000 were utilised as additional
working capital of the Group.

On 23 May 2018, the Company issued 640,000,000 new shares
to three subscribers, namely Easy Flow Investments Limited
(“Easy Flow”), Taiping Trustees Limited and Trinity Gate Limited
at an issue price of HK$1.30 each. Easy Flow, a company
that is ultimately controlled by a stated-owned enterprise
in the PRC, was a substantial shareholder of the Company
before the subscription of shares. The total net proceeds
of HK$830,567,000 were raised, which was used for the
development and expansion of the Group’s existing businesses,
repayments of existing bank loans, and as general working
capital of the Group.

Upon the completion of the subscription of shares on 23
May 2018, the exchange price of the preference shares (the
“Preference Shares”) issued by DVN (Group) Limited (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) are exchangeable into new
ordinary shares of the Company shall be adjusted in accordance
with their terms from HK$3.72 per share to HK$3.40 per share
(the “Adjusted Exchange Price”). Following the Adjusted
Exchange Price becoming effective, the number of new ordinary
shares of the Company into which such outstanding Preference
Shares are exchangeable shall be adjusted from 31,250,000
shares to 34,191,176 shares.

On 2 December 2018, Mr. Erik D. Prince, the executive director
of the Company, has exercised 205,115,657 other options
at an exercise price of HK$0.73 per share to subscribe for
205,115,657 new shares. The total net proceeds received from
the exercise of options amounted to HK$149,734,000 and were
intended to use as additional working capital of the Group.
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Erik D. Prince st £ 1T H#EF - Z B K
1.50 7% 7T 2 17 1 {8 7R % 50,000, ooof‘ﬁ%Hx
T ZEERETREARRNR =S —=F
AT N\BERZEREFENR =M
F—ATHARERE - FIERIBFELE
75,000,000 & 7T T FREAR S B 2 BN B A
ﬁ °

o

RZZE—N\FERA=-+=H  ARARIUEK
1.30B T ZETERN=2REABIADIE
BEERAR(TRE]) K FEEFRARATR
Trinity Gate Limited) 77640,000,000 f%
Mk - BB(BA—RPEBEECERKE
Bz ARDRRERGBAAARARZEBZRK
R o BEEPTISHIEF A5 830,567,000
B DARZERBERASEZEAEE
% EERABRTERKAELAEEZ —K
Egéﬁ °©

RZZ—N\FRAZ-ZT=BHZKBRHRE
% BAARAEZEANE2ABDYN (Group)
Limited 397 » AIRM AR AR L AR 2
EBER(TEBER]D ZXBAEREEGRES
f&3.72 AL RETAIR340B T([ERE
R]E]) c REAERIREBEENE - ZZD
BITEARIRBNAAR L BREE A
31,250,000 & FHE A 34,191,176 % °

REZFE—N\E+=ZA=H " ARQRHITE
EErik D. Prince £ £1& & 0.73 8L 21T
{E{E1T{ 205,115,657 3 H A B4 - LAREE
205,115,657 IRk 1D - BZ S HAEEITE
M2 4 2 FT 1S 58 F 88 51 149,734,000 %8
T DETEIREAEB 2 EINEBES -

Annual Report 2019 &R

179



B BHRRMEE

29 SHARE OPTIONS

(a)

Share Option Schemes

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) on 28 March 2012. The Scheme continues
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions of
the Eligible Participants (as defined in the Scheme) to
the Group. The Scheme is also designed to provide
incentives and help the Group in retaining its existing
employees and recruiting additional employees.

The Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10
years commencing from 28 March 2012, the date of the
approval of the Scheme. Subscription price in relation
to each option pursuant to the Scheme shall not be less
than the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet
on the date on which the option is offered to an Eligible
Participant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.
The options are exercisable within the option period as
determined by the Board of the Company.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Company can grant options
to Eligible Participants for a consideration of HK$1 for
each grant payable by the Eligible Participants to the
Company. The total number of shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of options granted to each
Eligible Participant (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in any twelve-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the shares then in issue.

Pursuant to a resolution passed at the Annual General
Meeting of the Company held on 10 June 2019, a new
scheme mandate limit was refreshed, which allowed the
Company to grant 234,481,866 options, representing
10% of the Shares in issue as at 10 June 2019. During
the year ended 31 December 2019, 23,448,186
share options were granted under the Scheme (2018:
21,397,030). At the date of the statement of financial
position, the total number of options that can be granted
was 211,033,680 (2018: 46,204,680).
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29 SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 29 [ERRREE)
(a) Share Option Schemes (continued) (a) BRESTE(Z)
Pursuant to the Board resolutions passed on 30 August RBRER=-_ZTE—NLFN\A=THRAB
2019, the following share options were granted under ZEEEREZEE  NHBERETLR
the Scheme with fair value using the Binomial option Bt EAAEBEIKE —ER
pricing model with the following input variables: BT BRI AT A & A BT
=
Closing
Exercise Expected price
Exercise period of Risk-free dividend of shares
Date of Number ~ price per share Date of  Fair value interest yield per  Expected  before the Expected
grant of options option options appraisal  per option rate share volatility date of grant life
SHERE RhE ShERE SHREHS R A A
REAH BREHE  2fRE G2 ] FERE  2AMEE  EERAE REx  RBHEE <BRHUGE A
HK$ HKS$ HK$
AT AT AT
30/08/2019 23,448,186 0.800  30/08/2020 to 30/08/2019 0.3932 1.15% 0.0% 70.15% 0780 30/08/2019 to
29/08/2024 29/08/2024
ZE-0E 23,448,186 0.800 “I-%E K3 0.3932 1.15% 0.0% 70.15% 0.780 K3
NA=+A NR=1+BZ NA=t1A NA=+RZ
—2-mE Z3CRE
NAZThA NAZThA
Movements in the number of outstanding share options MARTEBRESRR 22 REM
and their related weighted average exercise prices were FAINHEFITTEBMT -
as follows:
2019 2018
ZB-nE E2-\F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price Number of exercise price Number of
per share options per share options
mETH MEF
BRTEE BREHA BRITERE BRER
HK$ HK$
b7 BT
The Scheme HE |
At 1 January ®-A—A 1.272 64,886,120 1.427 146,046,918
Granted [REG 0.800 23,448,186 1.310 21,397,030
Exercised B - - 1.500 (50,000,000)
Lapsed BXH 1.254 (12,295,030) 1.500 (52,557,828)
At 31 December RtZA=+—A 1.130 76,039,276 1.272 64,886,120
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29 SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 29 BEREE)
(a) Share Option Schemes (continued) (a) BRESTEI(E)

RZE—NF+=ZRAR=+—8"
76,039,276 13 (= T — N\ &F:
64,886,120 17 ) & K 17 i 2 & A% &
52,591,000 (= & — )\ F
43,489,090 17 ) FE AR #ER] T1T1E o &L

—ZE-AFE+-A=+—HBItE
E - #iE(=Z— )\ : 50,000,000
17 ) B AR #E & 17 F K& 12,295,030 17
(ZZF— £ : 52,557,82817 ) %
TR -

RE TR0 K B R 1T B AR E 2
BEE RITEEDT -

Out of the 76,039,276 outstanding options as at 31
December 2019 (2018: 64,886,120), 52,591,090 options
were exercisable (2018: 43,489,090). During the year
ended 31 December 2019, no share options were
exercised (2018: 50,000,000) and 12,295,030 share
options were lapsed (2018: 52,557,828).

Share options outstanding at the date of the statement
of financial position have the following expiry dates and
exercise prices:

Exercise price

per share Number of options
BRITEE BREHR
Expiry date )i HK$ 2018
B “E-NE Sy I:3
The Scheme HE
28 April 2019 “E-NEMAZTNR 1.254 - 12,295,030
7 April 2020 “Z-REMALA 0.970 2,800,000 2,800,000
17 September 2020 ZZR2ZENATLR 1.530 1,560,000 1,560,000
21 August 2021 ZE--E\AZt-H 1.100 12,337,030 12,337,030
23 August 2022 ZERCCE\AZt=H 1.410 14,497,030 14,497,030
26 August 2023 ZEZ=EN\A=1KA 1.310 21,397,030 21,397,030
29 August 2024 “E-mENAZTAR 0.800 23,448,186 -
76,039,276 64,886,120
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29 SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 29 [ERRREE)
(a) Share Option Schemes (continued) (a) BRESTE(Z)
The details of movements of the outstanding share FLJ RITEZERERFRAZEFHF
options during the year are as follows: ST
Weighted
Qutstanding Options Options Options Outstanding average
options at granted exercised lapsed options at closing price
1 January during during during 31 December before dates
2019 the year the year the year 2019 of exercise
RZB-1E HZB-nfF
-A-A tZA=t-A RiRRA
HAR EnR ERR ERER HAR 2B
ZBhE ZBhE LBhE ZEhR ZBhE Wi
HKS
#r
The Scheme it
Date of grant Rl 8 April 2014
“Z-RERANR
Exercise price per option ShERERE HK$0970
09707
Exercise period I8 8 April 2015 -
7 April 2020

“E-TEMANRE
ZECTERALA

Held by a director H-£EEHE
Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry Eint 1400000 - - - 1,400,000
Held by an employee H-%RERE 1,400,000 - - = 1,400,000
In aggregate 88 2,800,000 - - - 2,800,000 -
Date of grant Riing 18 September 2014
“E-RERATAR
Exercise price per option BhERRARE HK$1.530
153087
Exercise period 18 18 September 2015 -
17 September 2020
“E-REAATARE
ZITREAATER
Held by a service provider R 780,000 - - - 780,000 =
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29 SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 29 BEREE)
(a) Share Option Schemes (continued) (a) BREE(E)
Weighted
Qutstanding Options Options Options Outstanding average
options at granted exercised lapsed options at closing price
1 January during during during 31 December before dates
2019 the year the year the year 2019 of exercise
HZg-1% HZ§-1%
-f-8 +ZA=t+-A LR
BAAR EnRd Enfrf ER&H BAAE PA 35
bl it ] ERR JERR Pl L] bl it Wi
HKS
#r
Date of grant Rl 24 September 2014
Z5-MENAZTRA
Exercise price per option BhEREARE HK$1.530
1530%T
Exercise period iy 18 September 2015 -
17 September 2020

“5-1FNATNRE
“RIEENATLA

Held by a service provider R 780,000 = = = 780,000 =
Date of grant i) 29 Apri 2016
Z2-EBAZTAR
Exercise price per option ShEREFE HK$1.264
12548
Exercise period fifes 29 Aprl 2016 -
28 April 2019

“EERAZTARE
“EEBAZTAA

Held by a service provider H-#EHERRE 12,295,030 = = (12,295,030) = =
Date of grant R 22 ugust 2016
eV
Exercise price per option ShEREARE HK$1.100
11007
Exercise period ik 22 August 2017 -
21 August 2021
i 31V
ZS-ENAZT-H
Held by a director H-£E55E
Dr. Hua Dongyi ER-fiT 12,387,030 - - - 12,337,030 -
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29 SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

29 Wk
(a) MBREB(E)

Weighted
Qutstanding Options Options Options Outstanding average
options at granted exercised lapsed options at closing price
1 January during during during 31 December before dates
2019 the year the year the year 2019 of exercise
RZZ-1E HIB-nE
-A-H t2B=t-H AR RE
HATE ERRY ERfi EmiH WAE ZNETH
bl it ] ERR ERR ZBhE LBhE Yife
HKS
bihi
Date of grant FihAg 24 August 2017
“E-tENRZTRA
Exercise price per option BhEREARE HKS1.410
14107
Exercise period i 24 August 2018 -
23 August 2022
Z3-\#)\A=tRRZ
“ZCENRCTER
Held by a director H-4E35E
Dr. Hua Dongyi 23—t 14497,030 - - - 14497030 -
Date of grant RiAg 27 August 2018
Z2-\ENAZTtR
Exercise price per option ShEREARE HK$1.310
131087
Exercise period fifed 27 August 2019 -
26 August 2023
3 7# \A=t+tHE
ZRZENAZTA
Held by a director H-%E5KE
Or. Hua Dongyi £R-fL 21,397,030 = - - 21,397,030 -
Date of grant FHAS 30 August 2019
ZE-NENAZTA
Exercise price per option ShEREIFE HK$0.800
080047
Exercise period fifes 30 August 2020 -
29 August 2024
“ECTENR=TRE
ZZZRENAZTAA
Held by a director H-%E355
D1, Hua Dongyi E-t = 23,448 166 = - 23,448,186 -

Employee benefit expenses arising from options issued
under employee option plan during the year were
HK$12,169,000 (2018: HK$11,379,000) (Note 7).

FANRERESERET S BTER

BEEZEERFFY A 12,169,000

B m(=Z — J\F : 11,379,000 7%
T0) (KisE7) °
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B BHRRMEE

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
(b) Other Options

205,115,657 other options were issued on 3 December
2013 and were exercisable for a five-year period from
3 December 2013 to 2 December 2018 at an exercise
price of HK$0.73 per share. On 2 December 2018,
Mr. Erik D. Prince exercised his right to subscribe
205,115,657 new shares of the Company at an exercise
price of HK$0.73 per share.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share award scheme on 10
December 2015. The share award scheme does not constitute
a share option scheme for the purpose of Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules. The purposes and objectives of the share award
scheme are to recognise the contributions by Eligible Persons
(as defined in the share award scheme) and to provide
them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group and to attract
personnel for further development of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no share
was granted to any Eligible Persons under the share award
scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no
share of the Company was acquired by the trustee of the
share award scheme. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, no
share was vested to any Eligible Person and no share of the
Company was held in trust for the share award scheme by the
trustee of the share award scheme.

No expenses arising from share award scheme was
recognised during the year as part of employee benefit
expenses (2018: Nil).

186 Frontier Services Group Limited 5t 2R E=E R A

29

30
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B BHRRMEE

31 RESERVES 31 f#fE
Equity  Share-based
Share  Contributed Exchange General instrument  compensation  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total

WRRRATZ
k&R EhRs Bk —RiEE BRIARE HEL ZitEg a5
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK8000
FET 747 7T 7T 7 FiET 7 T
(Note (i) (Note (i) (Note (ii) (Note (iv) (Note (v)) (Note (vi))
) W) WEa) W) BEG) (B0

At 1 January 2018 W=%-)\#-A-R 297,436 628,235 (10,782) 13,088 125,131 74915 (1,009,325) 118,704
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (258,846)  (258,846)
Other comprehensive loss Lfp2EER

Foreign exchange differences EiZE - - (6,900) - - - - (6,900)

Other comprehensive loss for the year, EE £t 2 EEE(BHE)
net of tax - - (6,900) - - - - (6,900)

Total comprehensive loss for the year £E2HE LR - - (6,900) - - - (258846)  (265,746)

Transactions with equity holders ~ EEEERAZXS

Issue of shares Kkt 766,567 = = = = = = 766,567
Share-based compensation WRIARf 286 = - - - - 11,379 - 11,379
Exercise of share and other options ~ {T B MHE 2 b 33 359,765 = = = (132,100) (28,443) = 199,022
Lapse of share options EREXN - - - = = (29,898) 29,898 =
1,126,332 — — — (132,100) (46,962) 29,898 977,168

At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\E+2A
=t-H 1,423,768 628,235 (17,662) 13,088 (6,963) 21,953 (1,238,273) 830,126
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B BHRRMEE

31 RESERVES (continued) 31 #EE
Equity  Share-based
Share  Contributed Exchange General instrument  compensation  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses
Witz
RiEE Eizg EX i -kl EHIARE ki ZifER A
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FAT FAL AT FAr 747 7L 21 FAT
(Note (i) (Note (ii)) (Note (ii)) (Note (iv)) (Note (v)) (Note (vi))
&) (W) (W) (W) (W) (W)
At 1 January 2019 RZE-nE-f-AH 1,423,768 628,235 (17,682) 13,088 (6,963) 27,953 (1,238,213) 830,126
Loss for the year EEEE - - - - - - (354,793) (354,793)
Qther comprehensive logs EhAEEE
Foreign exchange differences EiZE - - (3,246) - - - - (3,246)
Other comprehensive loss for the year,  £EEM2ESA(BRE)
net of fax - - (3,246) - - - - (3,246)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ EE2ESELE - - (3,246) - - - (354,793) (358,039)
Transactions with equity holders HEREAALRS
Share-based compensation WRAXCEE - - - - - 12,169 - 12,169
Lapse of share options BRERK - - - - - (3,258) 3,258 -
- - - - - 8,911 3,258 12,169
At 31 December 2018 Ho2-nEtzA=1-B 48768 6825 (20.28) 13,088 (6.98) WO (1509008 484256
Notes: et -
(i) The application of the share premium account is governed by (i) RN BERZEAZERE-NN\—FAA
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. EZER
(i) The contributed surplus of the Group arose from a scheme of (i) AEBZzEHZBHBTIA—ER—NLANE+

arrangement on 31 October 1989 and capital reorganisations
on 2 November 2001 and 18 December 2007. Pursuant to the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, a company incorporated
in Bermuda is not permitted to pay dividends or make a
distribution out of the contributed surplus if there are reasonable
grounds for believing that the company is, or would after the
payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due;
or the realisable value of the company’s assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital and share premium accounts.
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31

RESERVES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.7.

In accordance with the PRC regulations, each of the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries is required to transfer not less than 10%
of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance with PRC
accounting standards and regulations, to the general reserve
until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital. The
quantum of the annual transfer is subject to the approval of the
board of directors of the PRC subsidiaries in accordance with
their articles of association.

The equity instrument reserve represents:

(a) the fair value of the other option rights granted to Mr. Erik
D.Prince for the acquisition of FSL on 3 December 2013
to subscribe 205,115,657 new shares of the Company at
an exercise price of HK$0.73 per share. On 2 December
2018, Mr. Erik D.Prince exercised his right to subscribe
205,115,657 new shares of the Company at an exercise
price of HK$0.73 per share; and

(b) the fair value of the right derived from the symmetrical
put and call option agreement amounted to
HK$6,963,000 (2018: HK$6,963,000) signed by FSL
on 3 February 2016 to purchase the remaining 49%
equity interest in Maleth at an option price ranging
between EUR1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$8,732,000) and EUR10,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$87,315,000) from 6 July 2020 onward.
The respective liability was recorded in other payables in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The share-based compensation reserve represents the fair
value of the unexercised share options granted under the
Company’s share option schemes and the fair value of the share
award granted under the Company’s share award scheme to
the eligible participants recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 2.22(b).

31

&)

Biet

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(%)

ERFERERBIEGHBRRIATESE
ZHBERER - ZHBTREME27 /M
SRR -

REFBEER - AREZHEMEARER
T 10% 2 BRE &R (R B g5 ER

FEREE)BE—RER BEEAREEZ
REEZAMEARZ50% Rl - GFEERZ
REBARABZTRENBRAR < EFTGRE
HAMERREAHAE -

R TARKERE

(@) RZZE—=FF+-A=HrtWEFSL
M Erik.D.Prince £ &% il » AJ 12 &
fRO.73B T 2 TEEBREALR A A
205,115,657 B 37 A& 10 2 H i Bt 2
AREBEE RZZE-—N\F+=ZA=

H » Erik D.Prince S A= 1T{E HAEA| -
& R%0. 73,%75217@“% AR
7]205,115,657 & FAZID

(b) FSLRZ=ZZE—R"E-A=ZRA:xY

Boo RRERERSENIRE =
—ZTF+ A7 B EN K 1,000,000
B Jt(HH & R %98,732,0007% 7t )
% 10,000,000 7T & BN ©
87,315,000/ Jt ) 2 B # (B W &
Maleth # T 49% A% 75 4 25 B £ 2 1%
FlZ A 5 {B{E6,963,000/8 L( =&
—J\4 : 6,963,000/ 7C) - BRI A
ERER A M ARR KR ) B H At FE 5K
I8 o

CABR A0 32 A 2 4 (B M 45 1R R Bl 5 2.22(b)
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B BHRRMEE

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

32 FFERES

2019 2018
—g2-n%E —ENE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

At 1 January m—A— 126,913 124,267
Capital injection from non-controlling  — KB A FFEEREEZE 2T E

interest of a subsidiary — 528

Share of results i (1,954) 2,223

Exchange differences IE W Z 58 (84) (105)

At 31 December R+t=-—A=+—8H 124,875 126,913

Non-controlling interests include, inter alia, an amount of
US$15,000,000 (equivalent to HK$116,250,000) preference
shares issued by DVN (Group) Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, on 31 March 1999. The preference
shareholder has the right at any time starting from 1 July 2000
to exchange all (but not part) of the preference shares into
34,191,176 ordinary shares of the Company at an exchange
price which has been subsequently adjusted to HK$3.40 per
share, pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 22
June 2018. The Company has the right, at its discretion, to
request the preference shareholder to exercise his exchange
right to exchange all (but not part) of the preference shares
into the Company’s ordinary shares at the exchange price
at any time from 1 July 2000, provided that the average
of the closing prices of the Company’s ordinary shares for
the 20 consecutive trading days ending on the trading day
immediately preceding the date of giving notice of such
compulsory exchange is not less than HK$10 per share.

190 Frontier Services Group Limited 5t 2R E=EHR A

FEVE AR #E == B 15 (E R &1 45 ) 15,000,000
Z (R 116,250,000 7T ) Z A AR A
RIZ2EWE AT DVN (Group) Limited
—WANF=ZRA=+—HBM%ETZEL
e RZZEZETFL A —BHBREMKRE -
BRI R A2 P (M IESDD )BT
BB RIAA N F) 34,191,176 I @M%
(BEARAR_ZE—N\FA=-+=H
HErz Al JBREEREEAZREER
340%BL) c R_ZEZTZTFLA—HREMAE
AR - AR ARz E@mR 2 FHRTE
REBEZEELRHIRBRBEZBAIRS
HitZ20E:BER 5 B RMERERA10E
T AREAEREERELERKREITE
RIHE - BRI (MIEMD)ERIZIR
BRI|ARRRZ LB -



»

-.—

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33

B BHRRMEE

CASH USED IN OPERATIONS

33

The reconciliation of loss for the year to cash used in

operations is as follows:

EEMAZEAE

FEBRRRLEMAZRAS ZHRET

2019 2018
—E-hF = — )\
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Loss for the year FEEIE (356,747) (256,623)
Adjustments for FEIBE
Income tax credit S iR (14,730) (5,644)
Finance costs BB 10,360 13,928
Depreciation e 54,841 29,074
Engine overhaul cost S| ZRIEK A — 5,242
Amortisation of other intangibles Efh & E i 1,619 8,192
Amortisation of prepaid operating ARS8
lease rentals — 44
Share-based compensation LARRAD A5 2 F 18 12,169 11,379
Impairment losses on financial SREEZRERE
assets 14,286 2,732
Provision for inventories GFE#E 1,456 4,030
Provision for impairment of other HAh & E 2 mE R
intangibles — 4,087
Provision for impairment of M - HEE KRB RIFED
property, plant and equipment EEERERE
and assets held-for-sale 64,509 8,318
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of HEWME - EENREZTF
property, plant and equipment (Mezs) /ESB(HTE ()
(Note (i) (1,048) 977
Write-off of purchase option in an MM — KBS N a2 AR
associate 3,907 —
Interest income F B A (12,045) (12,426)
Share of losses of associates i AN ) St 3,760 1,517
Exchange differences ME 5 = HE 2,854 1,647
Changes in working capital EEEGE
Inventories FE 171) 789
Trade receivables, prepayments, B S RIGKIE - BN Be
deposits and other receivables Ko B Ath B W5k TE (76,227) (115,403)
Trade payables, other payables, B SR RIE - HAERR
accruals and contract liabilities B EEAREHNEBE 14,313 17,715
Cash used in operations LEEMAZAEE (276,894) (280,525)
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B BHRRMEE

33 CASH USED IN OPERATIONS (continued) 33
Note:
(i) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from

disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise:

CEMAZRE#®)

Bt -

(i)

RiFARLRERT  HEWE  HERR
WS RIAR

2019 2018
=—2-nE —E- %

HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Net carrying amount (Note 13) BREDFE(M77# 13) 5,394 7,139
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property,  HEYE - B R RE 2 F k%
plant and equipment (Note 10) /(&18) (f17£ 10) 1,048 (977)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BERBBEZAHE
plant and equipment RIA 6,442 6,162

(ii) On 11 November 2019, the Group entered into an agreement
with the Five Equity Holders, pursuant to which the Group
agreed to transfer the loan receivables amounted to
HK$10,289,000 to the Five Equity Holders, in exchange for
an additional 22% equity interests in ISDC. The transfer was
completed on 20 December 2019. Consequently, the Group’s
interests in ISDC increased from the original of 25% to the
existing of 47% equity interests as at 31 December 2019. This
transaction did not have any cash flow impact to the Group in
2019.

Except for the non-cash transaction as mentioned above, there
were no other major non-cash transaction for the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018.

34 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT 34
LIABILITIES

(a) Capital Expenditure Commitments

The Group’s capital expenditure contracted for as at 31
December 2019 but not yet incurred were as follows:

(if)

—NF+—A+—8 AEERAHZ
IRIERE AR e - Rt - ARBREH
ZEEUE 10,289,000/ TEHEF AR
RAERHE A - RIREERBER R 2 F25R
2 22%RRKE - BER_T—NFF+ A=+
B Bt RZE—AFE+=B=+—
A AEBERBEERZ 202052 RES
REB%EMEIRFA4T% - ZR IR =F
—NEUAEEVEFARESRTE -

BRERFRERZHN  BE_Z-NFR=
F-N\E+A=1+—RALEFEIEEME
EEIFRERS -

AERIAREE

(a)

ENGERES

REBR-_ZE-—NE+TA=+—
EEaT,\@TEE]*EEZﬁZKEﬁiﬂD
¢

2019 2018
—2-nE —T-N\%

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET F&T

Investment in a fund (Note) NES ZIRE(FE) 194,775 —
Purchase of land-use-rights BB Tt A4 11,163 11,440
205,938 11,440
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL S

B BHRRMEE

|

34 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Capital Expenditure Commitments (continued)
Note:

On 3 December 2019, the Group entered into a shareholders’
agreement with Rainbow Sea Limited (“RSL”"), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of CITIC Capital Holdings Limited in relation to
the establishment of a joint venture company, Frontier Strategic
Resources Holding Ltd. (the “dV Company”). On the same date,
the Group entered into a limited partnership agreement and
the subscription agreement pursuant to which the Group and
RSL shall commit to a contribution of US$25,000,000 each to
the investment fund (the “Fund”) managed by the JV Company
and the JV Company’s subsidiaries. Further details in relation
to the Fund are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
3 December 2019. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had
capital expenditure commitments for investment in the fund of
US$25,000,000 (equivalent to HK$194,775,000).

Operating Lease Commitments as a Lessor

The Group leases its leasehold properties under non-
cancellable operating lease agreements. The lease
terms is 35 years, and the lease agreement is renewable
at the end of the lease term at market rate.

At 31 December 2019, the Group had total minimum
lease payments receivable on leases under the non-
cancellable operating leases as follows:

34

EERIAREER)
(a) BEXRXEEE)
Wit :

(b)

R-ZBE-—hE+-_A=8 " AEEEYEE
RARKE] PEEREZERERARZ
R A B AR BLEL A & A7 Frontier
Strategic Resources Holding Ltd. ([ &#&
AT DT IRRGE - RB - XREBEF L
EREEHERABBERZ Bt XKEH
REEBRUBHEHBEERRREERAAZ
MEBARMEREZREES(E€DEE
25,000,000k 7T - FHES 2 #E—FHIFH
RAARIBBHA-ZE-—NAF+_A=ZHZA
H - RZE-NAFTZA=+—8 ' x58
ARESIRE 2 BRI AR 25,000,000
T (%R 194,775,00087T) °

REHENEEMERBAAN)

AEBERBE AT REHLLHEO0E
HEEMEME - HHMR35F A
R N B E R R EERT

R-F-NAFE+-_A=+—8H &
SERBIABEECLEHOESTZ
FEYOERFERERINT ¢

2019 2018

—E-hE —T-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Not later than 1 year PR—F 10 9
Later than 1 year but not later than —FABERFEUR

5 years 42 42

Later than 5 years AFEAE 308 312

360 363
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(c)

(d)

B BHRRMEE

34 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT 34 AERIAREE L)
LIABILITIES (continued)
Operating Lease Commitments as a Lessee (c) REMHREUEREEAN)
The Group leases certain of its offices, staff quarters and AEERBEEBAOTHERES
office equipment under operating lease arrangements. THAE ETEERPFARME -
From 1 January 2019, the Group has recognised right- EZE—NnF—HA—HB& KEH
of-use assets for these leases, except for short-term and LEBEHEEN  ANEBEHRZSE
low-value leases, see Note 14 for further information. THEMRAEHEEE - E—FHE
SMIEE14 ©
2018
—N\&F
HK$'000
FAET
Land and buildings T3 RIEF
Not later than 1 year PR —&F 19,325
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years —FABERFUAA 42,423
Later than 5 years AF AR 21,398
83,146
Office equipment NS L
Not later than 1 year PR—F 663
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years —FURBRERFUAA 681
1,344
Total wBEt
Not later than 1 year PR —&F 19,988
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years —FUABRERFUAA 43,104
Later than 5 years AFEAE 21,398
84,490
Financial Commitments (d) BrigEiE
The Group did not have any significant financial REBR = —ﬂi‘f‘*ﬁ]:‘f’—
commitments as at 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil). B S E KBS ERE(CZE—
Fom)o
Contingent Liabilities (e) HARERE

(e)

At 31 December 2019, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company issued a fixed and floating
debenture on all its assets to a bank as securities
for a banking facility of US$1,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$11,687,000) (2018: US$3,000,000

(equivalent to approximately HK$23,502,000)).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B BHRRMEE

35 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35 EXREBALRS

BEBALRS

NN A ELE P A R (RN A = A B
AD)ZHZRHERGAEETIA
HiE - B ERAMERE - B
ZEEAEMBBRRAMTRE
RPREHIN FR AEEBE
TATERBEBALRS :

(a) Transactions with Related Parties (a)

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries,
which are related parties to the Company, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in
this note. In addition to the transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following material

transactions with related parties during the year:

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRET F&T
Receipt of consultancy services BEARAA—BREYE 28
fee from a shareholder of the I AR 2 (B (7)
Company (Note (i)) 259 —
Payment of consultancy services METHBAR —RESH
fee to a company owned by a B2 RRI Z B RE
director of certain subsidiaries B ([t (i)
(Note (ii)) (78) (470)
Provision of logistics services to RETHBRARZ —RES
companies owned by a director A 2 R RIREDRRES
of certain subsidiaries (Note (iii)) (K73 (iii)) — 222

All the transactions were negotiated with related parties
on normal commercial terms or in accordance with the
agreements governing those transactions.

Notes:

(i)

(i)

This represents the consultancy fee of HK$259,000
(2018: nil) received by the Group from a substantial
shareholder of the Company for a security consultancy
service provided by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2019.

This represents consultancy fee of US$10,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$78,000) (2018: US$60,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$470,000)) paid by
the Group to a company wholly owned by a director of
certain subsidiaries for consultancy services provided
to the Group in accordance with the terms of the related
consultancy agreement.

HEBMALZAERS  HR R
BEGREN XRBREZER
5 Z h AT

Hiet

(i) HRERAGERASEREE_F
—NET-A=tT-HIEFERHZ
ZRERFE RS AR EEZRRK
HR 2 A & 259,000 T(ZZE—N\
FoE)

(i)  HARREAEERBEAEBRGEZ
IRFIR A T A S B 2 B8R AR5 M [m) —
FHETHEBRARZ —ZEEEE
A2 RRX 2 ER % 10,0003
TT(HER# 78,0008 T)(=ZF—N\
£F : 60,000 7t (40 5 R 49 470,000
BIT)) °
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B BHRRMEE

35 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35 EABBALXZ (@)

(continued)
(a) Transactions with Related Parties (continued) (a) BEALXRB(E)
Notes: (continued) it : (&)
(iii) It represents the provision of logistics services by TFF to (i) WRRTFFREBEZE=-ZT—N\F+=A

certain companies owned by a director of TFF during the
year ended 31 December 2018. The director resigned

=t+—HILFERATFF—ZEEHHR
ZEFRRREMARSE - ZEEE

during the year ended 31 December 2018. REBE-_ZE2—N\F+-A=+—81t
FERE -
(b) Details of Key Management Compensation of the (b) ZEEFEETEAESMEFHE
Group
2019 2018
—2-nE -z &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAEIT F&T
Short-term employee benefits EHEERT 23,057 22,467
Post-employment benefits BEER 12 12 F 217 246
Share-based compensation PARR 0 24+ 2 #i (8 12,169 11,379
35,443 34,092
The directors, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief ARRIES  THRAH KV KA

(c)

Financial Officer of the Company are regarded as the
key management personnel of the Group.

Other Year-End Balances

Prepayments, deposits and other

receivables IR
Associates i NE]|
A shareholder of the Company RAR =R
Other payables and accruals HEhEMRIERERE A
Associates i NE]|

BN BEREMER

(c)

WRR/REEZTREIRAR °

HthF R A8k

2019
—E-nE

HK$°000
FET

13,859
259

7,012

2018
—2—N\f

HK$'000
FET

18,566

7,051
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35

36

B BHRRMEE

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(d) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions

The related party transactions in respect of notes (a)(i)
and (a)(iii) above constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. However, those transactions
are exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules as they are below the de
minimis threshold under Rule 14A.76(1).

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The outbreak of novel coronavirus since January 2020
is affecting the global usual business environment of the
Mainland China and other locations where the Group
has operations such as Malta and some Southeast Asian
countries. If such situation continues in the long term, the
Group’s business operations and financial results are likely
to be affected. Management is of the view that the ultimate
impact to the Group’s businesses due to the virus is uncertain
and beyond prediction as it is highly dependent on the future
development. Management will closely and continuously
monitor the situation and assess the financial impact to the
Group.

Except for as disclosed above, there are no material
subsequent events undertaken by the Company or by the
Group after 31 December 2019 and up to the date of the

annual report.

35

36

EREBMALRS @)

(d) BEXZzLHRAERME

ST RE(a)(i) X (a)(iii) 2 B B

TRGEREERFRFERER
Z(EHR EMHAAE14AE) - A
M ZEXHEAENRE 14A.76(1) &
18R 2 S K Eh G /K 1 7 3 2 & <7
ETRBF14AEFRE 2 WERT ©

HBREE

MABAREREE T _FF— AER
B EEE PR E AR E AN E EE T
R (MSRCRETREZEFR) 22
R—REBRBENTE - WZBARD
FE AREZEBEERMBRARR
FE -BEHERR MERBRRELE
BIEBERZZETMAN 2 BA AT
A RRREBYERRAEE LBURAR
AREEZER EEERKETVERS
RIEN - WHAEARBER M BHE -

BREXFIEEIN  RZF-NFE+_A
=t RRMEEAFRAY AR
AREBW|MEAHKLEIR -
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B BHRRMEE

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 37 ARQAMBARREK
COMPANY
PLRE] 2018
—E-hF —N\&E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Wi - R K& 815 —
Intangibles A 1,350 1,350
Interests in subsidiaries A B EENGIP: 552,880 591,131
Total non-current assets SEMBEERE 555,045 592,481
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other AR - e REMEKFRIE
receivables 3,265 2,615
Cash and cash equivalents RERRESEEY 236,494 555,770
Total current assets MEBERE 239,759 558,385
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Other payables and accruals E e R IE R EET & A 13,126 13,048
Total current liabilities mENA SRR 13,126 13,048
Net current assets MENEEFE 226,633 545,337
Net assets BEFE 781,678 1,137,818
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to the Company’s A RAFIIRHER A A B #E
equity holders
Share capital %N 234,482 234,482
Reserves (Note) (R aE) 547,196 903,336
Total equity B 781,678 1,137,818

Signed on behalf of the Board on 24 March 2020 by

Ko Chun Shun, Johnson

& &IE
Director

EF
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B BHRRMEE

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 37 ADQTHBEMRRTE)
COMPANY (continued)

Note: Bt
Reserve Movements of the Company RAFRERE

Equity Share-based

Share Contributed instrument  compensation Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
IR %A 2

RipaE EaRs%  BaIARE G 268 @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET FET FET

At 1 January 2018 R=E-NE-A-H 297,436 558,899 132,100 74,915 (887,476) 175,874

Loss for the year FEBE — — — — (249,706) (249,706)

Total comprehensive loss for the year E2EEEAE — — — = (249,706) (249,706)
Transactions with equity holders HERFAAZRS

Issue of shares BI7MR17 766,567 - - - — 766,567

Share-based compensation IR 2 BB fE — - - 11,379 = 11,379

Lapse of share options BREAN — — - (29,898) 29,898 —

Exercise of share and other IRERERE R

options 359,765 — (132,100) (28,443) — 199,222

1,126,332 — (132,100) (46,962) 29,898 977,168

At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\§+-A=1+-8 1,423,768 558,899 — 27,953 (1,107,284) 903,336

At 1 January 2019 R-E-h§-A-8 1,423,768 558,899 - 27,953 (1,107,284) 903,336

Loss for the year FEES - - - - (368,309) (368,309)

Total comprehensive loss for the year £E2EHREE — — - - (368,309) (368,309)
Transactions with equity holders HEGHEAZRS

Share-based compensation DU EGPA - - - 12,169 - 12,169

Lapse of share options BREXK - - - (3,258) 3,258 -

— — — 8,911 3,258 12,169

At 31 December 2019 R-Z-h&E+-A=1+-R 1,423,768 558,899 - 36,864 (1,472,335) 547,196
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

T FHMBEHME

The consolidated results, and assets and liabilities of the Group for AREBBEERAEMRFEEZGEAES  SERE
the last five financial years are summarised below. BRI o

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-NF —T-N\F —E—tF ZE—RF —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET FET
Results ES
Loss attributable to: LA AT FE(REE :
Equity holders of the RARE=TFAAN
Company 354,793 258,846 223,760 209,816 142,920
Non-controlling interests e = 1,954 (2,223) (658) (330) —
356,747 256,623 223,102 209,486 142,920
Assets and liabilities EERER
Total assets BEME 1,223,423 1,505,983 884,177 912,467 1,349,713
Total liabilities afEen (379,810) (814,462) (496,236) (513,536) (706,718)
Non-controlling interests JEPE RS R (124,875) (126,913) (124,267) (123,528) (116,250)
Equity attributable to the AAAE=FEA
Company’s equity holders GRS 718,738 1,064,608 263,674 275,403 526,745
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